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About Zibuyu Group Limited
ER TN EEABRAF

Zibuyu Group (2420.hk) was established in 2011 and listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange on 11 November 2022. Since our inception,
we have been primarily focusing on the sale of a wide range of self-designed
apparel, footwear and other products worldwide. We primarily design
apparel, footwear and other products, procure products manufactured in
accordance with our design and process from selected OEM suppliers, and
subsequently sell such products to customers globally through a
combination of third-party e-commerce platforms and our self-operated
online stores. Currently, our sales channels include (i) Amazon; (ii) Tiktok; (iii)
Temu; (iv) other third-party e-commerce platforms; and (v) our self-operated
online stores.
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Vision: To become a respectable global fashion brand company
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Mission: To provide global consumers satisfactory fashion products and
services in a timely and convenient manner
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yu Kefei

Mr. Shen Tianfeng

Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles

Ms. Luo Yan (appointed on 27 March 2025)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Yu Kefei (Chairman)

Mr. Shen Tianfeng

Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles

Ms. Luo Yan (appointed on 27 March 2025)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Shen Tianfeng (Chairman)

Mr. Yu Kefei

Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles

Ms. Luo Yan (appointed on 27 March 2025)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Ms. Luo Yan (Chairlady)
(appointed on 27 March 2025)

Mr. Hua Bingru

Mr. Yu Kefei

Mr. Shen Tianfeng

Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles
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ICS Corporate Services (Cayman) Limited
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P.O. Box 52A Edgewater Way, #1653,
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PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre
No. 248 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
22/F, Prince’s Building

Central

Hong Kong

HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISER

Jingtian & Gongcheng LLP

Suite 3203-3207, Edinburgh Tower
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Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE
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P.O. Box 52A Edgewater Way, #1653,
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Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBERE

Revenue

Gross profit

Profit/(loss) before
income tax

Profit/(loss) for the year
Profit/(loss) attributable to

shareholders of the

Company for the year

Earnings per share

Net operating cash flow

LON

EH

KA GRS/
(B5#8)

EEFE/(BR)

RARRREGFE
M/ (B8
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Assets
Non-current assets
Current assets

Total assets

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

Total liabilities

Equity

Total equity

Equity attributable to
shareholders of the
Company

Total equity and
liabilities

BE
FRDEE
REEE
nEE

&&
FRBARE
REEE

naf

B
BRAH
RARBRRE B

BERARAE

Unit: RMB’000

2024
—g-mg

3,325,118
2,471,328

154,671
150,776

150,776
0.31
261,868

B

Year ended 31 December

P ARET T

Unit: RMB’000

2024
—g-mg

42,935
1,036,652

1,079,587
10,177
469,139

479,316

600,271

600,271

1,079,587

BZ12A1BLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-=F - —E--% Z—ZT-ZH
3,000,292 3,066,331 2,346,543 1,898,109
1,955,273 2,347,755 1,765,535 1,377,808
(247,211) 127,190 237,631 134,423
(265,786) 110,694 200,509 113,961
(265,786) 110,694 200,509 113,961
(0.53) 0.24 0.44 0.28
76,730 92,084 (207,049 114,118
BN ARBETIT
As at 31 December
M12H31H
2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-=F —-ZE--& -ZT-—% -T-FF
54,336 107,205 64,865 43,176
839,070 1,253,503 954,810 599,336
893,406 1,360,708 1,019,675 642,512
10,376 43,662 25,635 8,381
399,292 529,725 621,064 461,664
409,668 573,387 646,699 470,045
483,738 787,321 372,976 172,467
483,738 787,321 372,976 172,467
893,406 1,360,708 1,019,675 642,512
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to express
our most respect and gratitude to all Shareholders. The
long-term trust and strategic resilience of our Shareholders
have endowed Zibuyu with the courage and wisdom to
navigate through the year, enabling us to achieve
continuous growth in 2024 amidst intensified fluctuations in
the global consumer market. This hard-earned success
reflected not only the collective efforts of all our employees
but also the perseverance of all Shareholders.

Looking back on 2024, the global economic environment
was undergoing deep adjustments and transformation, with
both challenges and opportunities. On one hand, shipping
costs experienced ongoing fluctuations due to geopolitical
conflicts and natural disasters, increasing operational
uncertainties for cross-border e-commerce corporations; the
end of the U.S. election further fueled the continuous rise of
international trade protectionism, exposing overseas sellers
to tariff risks again; persistent high inflation overseas,
sluggish consumption recovery, and intensifying industry
competition compounded the pressures on cross-border
enterprises. On the other hand, the leapfrog advancements
in Al technology accelerated the digital transformation of
corporations, bringing new growth opportunities to
industries such as retail and e-commerce; exchange rate
fluctuations enhanced the price competitiveness of export
goods and provided foreign exchange gains for export-
oriented companies.

ZIBUYU GROUP LIMITED  Annual Report 2024
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Confronted with such a complex economic environment,
Zibuyu Group has consistently adhered to the vision of “To
become a respectable global fashion brand company”, and
the mission of “To provide global consumers satisfactory
fashion products and services in a timely and convenient
manner”. Through unity and perseverance, we forged ahead
through adversities and achieved remarkable results in
2024: our net profit turned from loss to profit, reaching
RMB150.8 million, while our net operating cash flow hit a
historic high of RMB261.9 million. Additionally, the Board
has announced a dividend of HK$0.12 per share to reward
our Shareholders and investors.

In 2024, under the leadership of the Board of Directors, the
scientific decision-making of our management team and the
unified dedication of our entire staff, we successfully
implemented a series of reforms, laying a solid foundation
for future growth. 2024 is the year when brand building was
intensified for Zibuyu. We have set up a branding business
department, sorted out our ten core brands, and
transformed from “Product Going Global” to “Brand Going
Global”. We further strengthened our investment in digital to
empower supply chain management. We followed the wave
of Al and used Al to assist product design, intelligent
advertising and merchandise management, optimise
inventory structure and enhance the efficiency of cross-
border full-process operations. In addition, we have also
deepened organisational reforms to create an innovative
vertical and horizontal organisation, and completed the
smooth transition of new and former CEOs during the year
to further build an exceptional, experienced and diverse
professional management team. We firmly believe that long-
termism can create more value for every stakeholder!
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On the basis of a series of fruitful reform measures over the
past 2024, we believe that we will face the increasingly
fierce competition and volatile macro-environment in 2025
with more solid fundamentals, more efficient resource
allocation, and more open ecological collaboration. We will
follow the wave of Al, deepen our branding, expand
diversified sales channels, lay out global supply chain, and
strengthen our organisational strength in order to
consolidate and expand our competitive advantages, and
continuously promote innovation and progress of the cross-
border e-commerce industry.

Finally, on behalf of the Board of Zibuyu Group, | would like
to express sincere gratitude to our Shareholders, customers
and business partners for their continued trust and support! |
would also like to express my sincere thanks to our
management team and all of our staff for their continuous
and outstanding contribution to Zibuyu Group.

Hua Bingru
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The Group endeavors to become a respectable global
fashion brand company that provides global consumers
satisfactory fashion products and services in a timely and
convenient manner.

The Company provides high-quality fashion apparel and
footwear products to global customers through third-party
e-commerce platforms such as Amazon, Tiktok and Temu,
as well as self-operated online stores. Based on Zibuyu’s
self-developed digital platform, the Company has formed a
flexible supply chain system integrating product research
and development, design, production and sales, which helps
to launch new products efficiently while significantly
shortening the delivery cycle. The Company’s main sales
categories cover women’s apparel, men’s apparel,
children’s apparel, women’s footwear and other sub-
categories.

In 2024, the Company recorded total revenue of
approximately RMB3,325.1 million, representing an increase
of 10.8% as compared to that of 2023, and net profit
attributable to the shareholders of approximately RMB150.8
million, turning a loss into profit as compared to the loss of
approximately RMB265.8 million of 2023.

In the past 2024, the Group implemented a series of reform
measures and achieved remarkable results, laying a solid
foundation for the Company’s development in the future:

During the year, the Company strengthened its branding,
streamlined existing brands, created a number of core
brands and entered the high-end market. For the first time, a
brand division was set up to plan and manage the full range
of core brands. In the future, the Company will develop new
styles according to the brand identity by focusing on the
core brands and consumer demands, which would reduce
channel pressure, and realise the transformation from
“Product Going Global” to “Brand Going Global”.
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Zibuyu Brand Matrix
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High-end women’s apparel Occupational women’s apparel Women’s sportswear
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Rich Radi Q’s

High-end women’s apparel

i K %

The brand selects natural materials, adopts top-
notch production techniques, advocates an
independent and free fashion attitude, and pursues
the coexistence of strength and beauty
BERAME  RATAREUEIE  B8BY - 8/
BB mREE - BRI EEMHE

Runcati

Quality Men’s apparel

mEF#

With fashion and comfort as core, the brand is
fearless of seasonal changes and creates essential
items for exclusive men’s wardrobes

AR ST AL MEFEHEE  ITEZBES -
B L E

Saodimallsu

Sweater

EX

The brand creates essential items in wardrobes for
casual/formal occasions focusing on high-quality

sweaters
HiELEREEXRAETNXEH HERE/ERSE
WA B

Cicy Bell

Occupational women'’s apparel

BELE

A fashion-forward brand that celebrates individuality,
self-expression and inclusivity, and is committed to
creating a space for fashion lovers to explore new
styles
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Wenrine

Dress
ELXE
Providing dresses suitable for all occasions for
women

REERBERSBSANEXREBE®

Fisoew

Women’s sportswear

Bk

A sports brand that promotes health, vitality and
happiness, helping customers to find enjoyment and
fulfilment in sports

BEREE EHERENETRE  EHEFPEE
B) P K B £ R A Bt =%

Women’s footwear

z#

Focusing on the design, production and sale of
COUTGO footwear products and committed to creating a
fashionable and comfortable footwear brand
EINEREMNRG  £EEEE  BUIRITE
i)~ ST @R E g

Haloumoning

Children’s apparel

E-£:3

A brand exclusive to the development of children,
creating comfortable, cozy and interesting
children’s clothing
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During the year, the Company strengthened the
construction of product strength, created an excellent and
stable quality control system by optimising the product
structure, supply chain management and quality control
process, and maintained a commitment to quality excellence
in key processes such as stitching to ensure high-quality
product strength and rapid market response capability. In
terms of product design, we changed to lean design model,
reducing the number of new product styles every year while
growing in sales scale. We also paid attention to product
innovation and market adaptability, which further enhanced
our international competitiveness.

During the year, the Company further optimised supply
chain and warehousing system. Based on the foundation of
in-depth cooperation with core suppliers and excellent and
stable quality control system, the Company promoted the
direct delivery mode of suppliers, realising the rapid
conversion from production to delivery, reducing
intermediate links and dependence on domestic
warehouses while ensuring the on-time delivery rate, greatly
improving logistics efficiency, and reducing costs.

During the year, Mr. Chen Caixiong took over the role of
CEO from the Group’s founder, Mr Hua Bingru, completing a
smooth handover between the former and current CEOs. Mr.
Chen has been deeply involved in the apparel industry for
many years and possesses extensive supply chain and
industry management experience, a forward-looking strategic
vision and excellent leadership in company management.
Over the past 2024, a number of experienced professional
managers joined the Company’s management team during
the year, helping the Group to further build up an excellent,
experienced and diversified professional management team.

During the year, the Company built a vertical and horizontal
organization with multi-tier talent ladder, and global talents
took shape. Guided by building an international,
occupational, professional and youthful talent team, we
established a business-oriented employee training system
and built a multi-tier talent ladder to support the efficient,
healthy and sustainable development of our business.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s revenue
was approximately RMB3,325.1 million. Gross profit was
approximately RMB2,471.3 million, representing a year-on-
year increase of approximately 26.4%. Profit and total
comprehensive profit for the year attributable to the
shareholders of the Company was approximately RMB150.8
million, compared with approximately RMB265.8 million of
loss and total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to
the shareholders of the Company in 2023. Basic and diluted
earnings per share of the profit attributable to the
shareholders of the Company was approximately RMB0.31
(2023: RMBO0.53 of loss).

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue of the
Group amounted to approximately RMB3,325.1 million,
representing an increase of approximately 10.8% when
compared with the revenue of approximately RMB3,000.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, mainly
attributable to the growth in revenue from Amazon and
TikTok platforms as a result of the Group’s enhanced
branding and increased marketing and promotion efforts.

Revenue by Sales Channel

The following table sets forth our revenue breakdown by
sales channel for the years indicated:

Bt %5 o R

HZE2024F12A31BILEE - KAEEH
WAL BAREESI251HETT - EFL
BANRE24T13EE T BILLIE A
26.4% ° NAFIRREGFEEFBEEAE
AMERELHASARKI508B 8T M
20283F AN AIRREMFEEHEEREA
EIERREL A ARE265.8B 8T ° AR
A AR R A B AR B AN K 8 E A R 4
B ARB0.317T (20234 : R AR
0.537T) °

WA

HE2024F12A31B L EE - AEEW
WA BARE33251AET  BEE
2023F 12 A31 B EFEHMRALH AR
3,000.3F & T K#410.8% = E 2 H
RASENR T mEEEE - MAT &
SHEENE - HEDHHET 6 MTikTokF
BRALEE -

BREERBETWEA

TREIINFIRFERIFERBEE DA
WA BRAR

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE

— Through third-party e-commerce —BBE="E
platforms Fa

— Through self-operated online stores — BAELEHE

— Others — Efb
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2024 2023
—E-_NE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBFIT
3,258,018 2,921,398
28,005 37,435
39,095 41,459

3,325,118

3,000,292



For the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue of the
Group from third-party e-commerce platforms was
approximately RMB3,258.0 million, compared to the revenue
of approximately RMB2,921.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, mainly attributable to the growth in revenue
from Amazon and TikTok platforms as a result of the
Group's enhanced branding and increased marketing and
promotion efforts.

Revenue by Geographical Location

The following table sets forth our revenue breakdown by
geographical location for the years indicated:

AEEREE2024F12A31BLFER
BE=ZLTEBFENKRADNEARE
3,258.0B & 7T ' M&E2023F 12 H31H
HFFENRANDARK292145E T
FERHRAEE MR T ME(EER -
IMARTEEHEENE BHLHFEFSE
K TikTok¥ &M A & -

BRFEME S S HBA

TREIINFREERIEME S D H
YA BRAR

Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLEE

— North America — JEEM
— Asia — M
— Europe — BOM
— Others — Hh

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue of the
Group from North America was approximately RMB3,235.2
million, representing an increase of approximately
RMB435.4 million, or a year-on-year increase of
approximately 15.5%, when compared with approximately
RMB2,799.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.
The growth was mainly attributable to the growth in revenue
from Amazon and TikTok platforms as a result of the
Group's enhanced branding and increased marketing and
promotion efforts, with Amazon’s target market primarily
being North America, and the Group’s expansion into the
TikTok market in North America.

2024 2023
—E_MEF —_E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARBTTT
3,235,170 2,799,813
67,578 106,503
11,105 64,046
11,265 29,930

3,325,118

3,000,292

AEBNREZE2024F12A318 LFEE
EEMNBHRALBARKES235258
T BEE2023F 12 A31 8 IEEEELL
EMBU AL AR E2,799.8F B T N
THARKABAGE T RALEMNGY
15.5% @ ZIEMEEESAHRAER IR T
mig(LEERR - MK T EEHENE - FF
TEHFE MTKTok FAWAEE - fas
SHETemMEEMBIERZUAEEMN K
N BARRE TikTok T 58 dL =M -

2024F [E3HE FAEKRARRAF
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Cost of Sales

Cost of sales of the Group primarily consists of (i) cost of
inventories sold; (ii) provision for inventories; and (iii) freight
and insurance cost (first mile costs). The cost of sales of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to
approximately RMB853.8 million, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB191.2 million, or a year-on-year
decrease of approximately 18.3%, from approximately
RMB1,045.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.
The decrease in cost of sales was mainly due to the Group’s
further enhancement of the merchandise operational
efficiency and optimisation of inventory structure, resulting in
a significant decrease in the inventory impairment.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB2,471.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2024,
representing an increase of approximately RMB516.0
million, or a year-on-year increase of 26.4, when compared
with approximately RMB1,955.3 million for the year ended
31 December 2023. Gross profit margin of the Group was
approximately 74.3% for the year ended 31 December
2024, with an increase of 9.1 percentage points when
compared with approximately 65.2% for the year ended 31
December 2023, which was because the Group streamlined
its strategic and competitive products and disposed certain
inventories with slow turnover in 2023, resulting in an
increase in the cost of sales and a decrease in gross profit.
In 2024, the Group paid more attention to the fine control of
inventory management, and more resources was focused on
the hot-selling products inventory, thus the commodity
operating efficiency greatly improved. The inventory
impairment was significantly decreased year on year,
resulting in a significant increase in gross profit margin and
return to normal levels. Excluding the impact of large-scale
inventory clearance in 2023, the gross profit margin
remained at a similar level and was essentially stable.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DT

Other Income Haug A

Other income of the Group mainly includes interest income, AREBREMUAETEBFEF B A -
government grants and others. BT 4 B M B A o

The following table sets forth a breakdown of other income T~ 2 & 71| X B /R &F & E U A BB 41 -
for the years indicated:

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HILLEE
2024 2023
—E_E ==
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE®T T ARBTIT

Interest income B A 5,276
Government grants (a) I8 T 6 B () 2,555
Others Hith 321

8,152

(@ Government grants provided to the Group mainly related to  (a) 7%= EELR (BT Bh = B35 M ¢ b

financial subsidies received from the local governments in the B 4 75 BT U B O B B AR B o sZ S BD
PRC. There are no unfulfilled conditions or other A R R RS B b sk B F I8 o

contingencies relating to these grants.

Other income of the Group increased by approximately 7<% B &) E 4h Ug A B & £2023 412 A 31
RMB5.4 million to approximately RMB13.6 million for the HIFFEMNHARKE82EETEMAA
year ended 31 December 2024 from approximately RMB8.2 R #5487 & L £ & £2024F12 A31H
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The increase IFFEHNHARE13.6EEIT ° :ZIBHNT
was primarily due to higher interest income from bank ZRHENRAFEEELF WK BE
deposits as a result of better availability of currency funds 7717 7 Fll B U AL A1 -

during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE DN

Other Gains, Net HiW = F5E

Other gains, net of the Group mainly includes foreign ARNEBMNEMWZFEEIEEIEE LK
exchange gains, net. RS o

The following table sets forth a breakdown of other gains, TFREFIRFTRFE E M U5 FEEEA -
net for the years indicated:

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HLEE
2024 2023
—BEF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥®TR AREF T

Net foreign exchange gains BE 5, U 1 F 58 11,175
Net gains on disposal of HEFREZERN
right-of-use assets W s F 58 130
Net losses on disposal of property, HEME  BEREEN
plant and equipment B85 (565)
Others Hth (994)
9,746

We recorded other gains, net of approximately RMB15.7  &;£2024412 A31 H |- FE 85 H ML
million for the year ended 31 December 2024, compared = /FHLIBAREISTEE L MER
with the other gains, net of approximately RMB9.7 million for 2023412 A31H |- FE ISR S E b Uk z5
the year ended 31 December 2023, primarily due to increase FREAIAAREITEE L ZEZHTE
in net foreign exchange gains as a result of exchange rate <& F 7 & K &) B B & s 7 F A 18
fluctuations. e
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Selling Expenses and Distribution Costs

Selling expenses and distribution costs of the Group
primarily consist of (i) freight and insurance cost; (ii)
commission to e-commerce platforms; (iii) marketing and
advertising expenses; (iv) other platform charges; and (v)
employee benefits and others.

Selling expenses and distribution costs of the Group
increased by approximately 8.5% to approximately
RMB2,226.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2024
from approximately RMB2,052.3 million for the year ended
31 December 2023. Such increase was mainly due to (i) an
increase in freight and insurance costs due to the increase in
sales volume; and (ii) an increase in marketing and
advertising expenses.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses of the Group primarily
consist of (i) employee benefits; (ii) asset depreciation and
amortisation; (iii) legal and professional fees; (iv) office
expenses; and (v) IT server expenses and others. General
and administrative expenses of the Group decreased by
approximately RMB47.5 million to approximately RMB110.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2024 from
approximately RMB157.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2023. Such decrease was mainly due to the
decrease in employee benefit expenses for administrative
management in the middle and back offices as a result of
the increased focus on front-line sales operations of the
Group.

EEENWR DT

SHERX R #HAA

AEBENHEERIEDHEKAETERRE
(VEENMRBEA  (VEFFEMEE (i)
BHEEESRAY  (WEMTFEE AR
WEERNERAEMSE -

AEEMHEERAI R HEKEABEE
2023F12A31HIEFEHMHARK
2,052.3 5 & JT I il #98.5% & &, £2024
F12A31BIEFENHNAR®K2,226.08
BT ZEMEBEHN()EHE2 AL
i 2 A4 B8 R ARBR A AN Y I 10 5 J% (ii) &' 58
RESFRZIEM -

—RRAITHAX

AEBHN—REITBEAZEEZEBEG)EES
BAE: (EEFTEMEN ()EEK
BEER (WHARYT 0 RV ITR®E R
BRAREME -ANEEH—RRITHFA
S HR#EZE2023F12 A31 B IEFEHLH A
REAS7T.7TEBILRAL THARKATSH
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DT

Finance Costs

Finance costs of the Group mainly consist of (i) interest
expenses on bank borrowings; (ii) interest expenses for
lease liabilities; (iii) net foreign exchange losses on bank
borrowings; and (iv) others.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of finance costs
for the years indicated:

Bt 35 AR A
AEBNPBERA T EBRE@)RITIERE

MERZ  (EEEEFEFAXE : (i)
RITERERERFE Riv)HEE -

TR AR FE R FBR AR -

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE

2024 2023

ZRNE —F_=%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AR®ET T

Interest expenses on bank borrowings 817 & ZX &9 FI B 5 % 6,567

Interest expenses for lease liabilities HEEBENFERX 2,816
Net foreign exchange losses on bank  R7TE R 2 [E 5 B 18 %5

borrowings 28

Others HAth 74

Finance costs YR IO 9,485

HZE2024%F12 A31 B L FEMP KA
HBARETSEET BB E2023412
A31BILEFENTBRANARKISH
BETROHARE208EL  TERH

For the year ended 31 December 2024, our finance costs
amounted to approximately RMB7.5 million, representing a
decrease of approximately RMB2.0 million when compared
with approximately RMB9.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2023, which was mainly due to the decreasein R AEBEELWHRAFEIRE - WM H
the interest expenses for lease liabilities as a result of the WEMKIE @ HHEE B ENF S MM
Group’s optimisation of logistics and warehousing 4> °

management and reduced reliance on domestic

warehouses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Profit/(Loss) Before Income Tax

Profit before income tax of the Group amounted to
approximately RMB154.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2024 as compared with the loss before income
tax of approximately RMB247.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, primarily due to (i) further enhancement of
the merchandise operational efficiency and optimisation of
inventory structure, resulting in a significant decrease in the
inventory provision and a corresponding decrease in
warehousing costs; and (ii) the continuous increase in
revenue, resulting in a corresponding increase in gross
profit.

Income Tax Expenses

Income tax expenses of the Group consist of (i) current
income tax; and (ii) deferred income tax.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our income tax
expenses for the years indicated:

EEENWR DT

BRATE B A FIE, (BR)

NEBEE E2024F12 A31 H IEFE AR
TSR A BOBARKIS4TEE T
Mm&E2023F12 A31 B ILFEMNKR TG
MATEIBRN A ARK24725ETT ' £
EZHRNE—TREATMELNE - &
CEFEE BFERERBRSRE
EEREERD  Ri)RAZFEEZN &
E )t AR FE L A1 o

FriE BB x

AEBRFASHAX - TEBRE0)AHM
B8 R(i)EEFSH -

TREIRAATREERMNAEHAX
R AR

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE

Current income tax BIEAFT 15 7
Deferred income tax BTSN
Income tax expense FrE A

Our income tax expense decreased to approximately
RMB3.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 from
approximately RMB18.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, primarily due to the utilisation of previously
unrecognised deferred income tax assets, resulting in a
significant decrease in deferred income tax in the Reporting
Period compared with the same period of last year.

2024 2023
—E-WEF —F-=

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARETTT

4,079

14,496

18,575

Fr8 R HE £2023F12 318 |- 4F
EHMHARKIs6EETHLEE#HE
2024F12 A31H IEFEMH AR K39
BEL TEZERBNERANUARNTFERE
REVELEFMSMEE - BEHREHEN
BEIEFTSHE EFRERER D -

2024F e FAERARRAA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DT

Profit for the Year

As a result of the aforesaid, the Group recorded profit and
total comprehensive income for the year attributable to
shareholders of the Company of approximately RMB150.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2024, compared
with loss and total comprehensive loss for the year
attributable to the shareholders of the Company of
approximately RMB265.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2023.

Inventory

The inventory balance decreased by RMB24.9 million to
approximately RMB374.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2024 from approximately RMB399.4 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023, mainly due to the
Group’s further enhancement of the merchandise
operational management, optimising the inventory structure
and focusing resources on explosive products in order to
improve the efficiency of inventory turnover.

Capital Expenditures

The capital expenditures of the Group primarily consist of
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. For the
year ended 31 December 2024, capital expenditures
amounted to approximately RMB4.1 million (2023:
approximately RMB6.4 million), representing a decrease of
approximately RMB2.3 million as compared with the same
period of last year, which was primarily due to the
continuous reduction in purchase of office equipment,
supply chain and warehouse equipment. The Group funded
its capital expenditures through the cash generated from
operations and the net proceeds from the Global Offering.

Save as disclosed above, we did not have any significant
capital commitment as of 31 December 2024.

Contingent Liabilities, Guarantees and
Litigations

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any
significant unrecorded contingent liabilities, guarantees or
material litigations against it.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Liquidity and Financial Resources

Our business operations and expansion plans require a
significant amount of capital, including cash and cash
equivalents as well as other working capital requirements.
Historically, we financed our capital expenditure and
working capital requirements mainly through cash generated
from operations, bank borrowings and net proceeds from
the Global Offering.

As of 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the Group
had cash and cash equivalents of approximately RMB446.8
million and RMB277.5 million, respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, our Group’s indebtedness mainly
comprised borrowings and lease liabilities of approximately
RMB130.0 million and RMB24.0 million, respectively. Our
borrowings and lease liabilities were mainly denominated in
RMB. The Group’s borrowings bore interests both at
variable rates and fixed rates, and therefore exposing our
Group to both cash flow interest rate risk and fair value
interest rate risk. During the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group did not use interest rate swap arrangement to
mitigate its exposure associated with fluctuations relating to
interest cash flows. However, our Group will closely monitor
the trend of interest rates and its impact on the Group’s
interest rate risk exposure to ensure it is within an
acceptable level. The Group will consider hedging interest
rate risk should the need arise.

To manage the liquidity risk, we will monitor and maintain a
level of cash and cash equivalents deemed appropriate by
the management to finance our operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

EEENWR DT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DT

Gearing Ratio

The Group’s gearing ratio (calculated as total liabilities
divided by total assets) decreased to approximately 44.4%
as of 31 December 2024 from approximately 45.9% as of
31 December 2023, which remained basically stable.

Significant Investments Held, Acquisitions and
Disposals

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no
significant investments held (including any investment in an
investee company with a value of 5% or more of the
Company’s total assets) nor other material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

Future Plans for Material Acquisition and Major
Investment

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Future Plans and
Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus and in this annual
report, the Group did not have any other plans related to
major investment or acquisition of material capital assets
during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual
report.

Pledge of Assets

The Group does not have any pledged assets as at 31
December 2024.

Foreign Exchange Risk Management

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures. The
Group incurs most of the inventory purchase in respect of
their functional currencies. Foreign exchange risk arises
from various currency exposures primarily through proceeds
received from customers and Shareholders, and payments
to the suppliers that are denominated in a currency other
than the Group’s functional currency. The currencies giving
rise to this risk are primarily USD and HKD.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not
experience any significant difficulties in or impacts on its
operations or liquidity due to fluctuations in currency
exchange rates. The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the management of the
Group monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

Transactions in Sanctioned Countries or with
Sanctioned Persons

During the Reporting Period, proper internal control and risk
management measures relating to sanction laws, as
disclosed in the Prospectus, had been implemented and the
Group did not have any transactions or activities in
comprehensively sanctioned countries or with sanctioned
persons.

Employees, Staff Cost and Remuneration Policy

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had 1,025 full-time
employees in total (31 December 2023: 1,063 full-time
employees in total), mainly based in the mainland China. For
the year ended 31 December 2024, total staff cost incurred
by the Group was approximately RMB223.5 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of RMB8.0 million, or
approximately 3.7%, when compared with approximately
RMB215.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.
Such increase was mainly because the Group further
expanded its talent reserves and introduced more mid-to-
high level management personnel and IT technicians during
the Reporting Period in response to its strategic
development needs.

Our success depends on our ability to attract, retain and
motivate qualified personnel. We use various methods for
our recruitment, including campus recruitment, internal and
external recommendation and recruiting through
headhunting firms or agents, to satisfy our demands for
different types of talents, and we adopt high standards and
stringent procedures in our recruitment to ensure the quality
of new hiring. Our employees typically enter into standard
labor contracts with us.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DT

We provide competitive compensation packages.
Remuneration packages for our employees mainly comprise
basic salary and performance-based bonus. We set
performance targets for our employees primarily based on
their position and department and periodically review their
performance. The results of such reviews are used for their
salary determinations, bonus awards and promotion
appraisals. To maintain and enhance the knowledge and skill
levels of our workforce, we provide our employees with
internal training, including orientation programs for new
employees, technical training for existing employees and
management training for middle to senior management. We
also offer external training opportunities to our management
team and other staff.

We will implement a 4.5-day work week starting from
February 2025, which aims to improve employees well-
being, enhance work efficiency, stimulate team creativity
and promote the sustainable development of the Group.

In order to incentivize employees, the Group has also
adopted the Share Award Scheme (Existing Shares) and the
Share Award Scheme (New Shares) on 15 September 2023
and 1 December 2023, respectively. Please refer to the
“Directors’ Report” section of this report for details.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

With the strategic positioning of “Engage the world with
roots in China”, the Company will respond to the
increasingly fierce competition and complex, ever-changing
macro environment with more solid fundamentals, more
efficient resource allocation, and more open ecosystem
collaboration in 2025. We intend to continue to advance our
work in the following areas to consolidate and enhance our
competitive advantages:

— Deepen core brand building, create differentiated and
recognisable global brands to drive sales growth
combining pop-up thinking with original design;
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Further diversify the sales channel system, intensify
efforts to expand non-Amazon platforms, overseas
offline channels and sales regions in Europe and Asia;

Strengthen the global supply chain layout, especially
the deployment of Southeast Asian supply chains, and
enhance the contribution of international production
capacity;

Strengthen our organisational strength, further broaden
the talent structure, and build an international talent
team; and

Grasp the new wave of innovation in the Al era,
continue to promote digital strategic transformation,
and empower all business segments with Al.
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EESREREERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hua Bingru (3£ § #0), aged 37, is the founder of the
Group, an executive Director and the chairman of the Board
of the Company. Mr. Hua was appointed as a Director of the
Company on 6 August 2018 and was re-designated as our
executive Director on 18 June 2021. He is primarily
responsible for formulating the overall corporate and
business strategies and overseeing the management and
operation of the Group.

With over ten years of industry experience, Mr. Hua gained
in-depth understanding of the industry where the Group
operates and acquired rich management experience by
managing the Group and developing our business. Mr. Hua
registered an online store on Taobao in September 2008 and
started e-commerce business when he studied in university.
He founded the Group in April 2011 and has been the
chairman of the board and the general manager of Zhejiang
Zibuyu since then, dedicating substantially all his time in the
daily operation and management of the Group. He re-
designated from CEO to co-CEO in March 2024 and ceased
to be co-CEOQ in August 2024. He has also held positions in
several subsidiaries of the Company, including a director of
Zibuyu HK since September 2016, a director and the general
manager of Hangzhou Chengyusi and Hangzhou Junbugqi
from May 2018 to February 2019 and from August 2018 to
February 2019, respectively, and a director and the general
manager of Hangzhou Shangzhi since November 2018. In
addition, he was elected as a committee member of the First
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of
Linping District, Hangzhou (F BI A RBUA @& 5% — @i
INTHERFRZE 2% E8) in June 2021. He has also been a
director of Zhejiang Waboshi Home Technology Company
Limited since October 2024, the principal business of which
is the sale of furniture to end users through a third-party
e-commerce platform, and the Directors are of the view that
the business of Waboshi is not competitive with the
business of the Group.

He was awarded the Top 10 Pioneer Youth in Hangzhou in
2019 R019F MM + KB FEHE A ¥) by the Hangzhou
Enterprise Brand Development Promotion Association (1711
ERMEEERE ) in 2019 and received the nomination of
the Ten Outstanding Entrepreneur in Hangzhou (1 A4 i 771
75 3% A $24) granted by the Hangzhou Municipal People’s
Government (f1/)1 T A RIEFT), Department of Commerce of
Zhejiang Province (#1/1 & 1% EE) and Zhejiang Daily Press
Group (#1)T B ¥} 3k % £ ). Mr. Hua graduated with a
bachelor’s degree in electronic science and technology from
Chaohu University (58 2Ft) in July 2011.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chen Caixiong (ff 7 ), aged 43, is an executive
Director and the chief executive officer of the Company.
Mr. Chen is primarily responsible for overseeing the overall
operation management of the Group.

Mr. Chen joined the Group in March 2023 and was
appointed as a vice president of the Group in May 2023 and
a co-CEO on 27 March 2024. Mr. Chen was appointed as an
executive Director of the Company and re-designated from
co-chief executive officer to chief executive officer on 29
August 2024. In January 2025, Mr. Chen worked as a
director and manager of Zhejiang Zibuyu. Mr. Chen has
extensive experience in supply chain management. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Chen worked as a senior production
director at Urban Revivo Fashion (GZ) Co., Ltd. (1% i& B 2
(&) A R A 7)) (main brand “Urban Revivo”) from April
2022 to November 2022. Before that, he held positions in
Decathlon Group, Guangzhou EPO Clothing Co., Ltd. (&M
= & REAER A F]) (major brands “MO&Co.” and “EDITION”)
and Anzheng Fashion Group Co., Ltd. (% IE# M £ E D B
PR~ A]) (stock code: 603839.SH, major brands “JZ Juzui”).

Mr. Chen graduated from Xiangtan University in June 2004
majoring in business English and from Sichuan University in
June 2018 majoring in law (online education) and is currently
pursuing a Master of Advanced Business Administration
degree at the China Europe International Business School.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEE

Mr. Wang Weiping (/T %7 ), aged 37, is an executive
Director of the Company and a vice president of the Group.
Mr. Wang was appointed as a Director of the Company on 3
January 2019 and was re-designated as our executive
Director on 18 June 2021. He is primarily responsible for
overseeing the administrative management of the Group.

Mr. Wang has been with the Group for more than ten years,
during which time he has gained the industry knowledge and
experience to effectively manage the business of the Group.
He joined the Group in April 2013 and has been a vice
president and a director of Zhejiang Zibuyu since April 2013
and February 2018, respectively, and has been appointed as
the director and manager of Hangzhou Zibuyu since July
2023, the director and manager of Guangzhou Zibuyu since
July 2023 and the director and manager of Dongguan
Zibuyu and Huzhou Zibuyu from July 2023 to September
2024. He has successively supervised the supply chain
management and administrative management of the Group.

Mr. Wang graduated with a college degree in marketing and
planning from Anhui Wenda University of Information
Engineering (% & 3 & {5 & L2 2 F3) (formerly known as
Anhui Wenda Vocational College of Information Technology
(L RCEE BRI 26) in July 2009.

Mr. Dong Zhenguo (E #x El), aged 36, is an executive
Director and a vice president of the Company. Mr. Dong was
appointed as a Director of the Company on 7 June 2021 and
was re-designated as our executive Director on 18 June
2021. He is primarily responsible for the operation
management of brand Rich Radi Q’s and self-operated
online stores of the Group.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Dong has more than ten years of experience in sales and
marketing and business management. Mr. Dong joined
Zhejiang Zibuyu in June 2013 and served as its sales
director until December 2018. He subsequently held
positions in certain subsidiaries of the Company, including
the general manager and a director of Hangzhou Xingzezhi
since November 2018 and May 2022, a director of Zhejiang
Zibuyu since May 2021, a director and the general manager
of Guangzhou Xingzezhi since July 2021, a director and the
general manager of Hangzhou Junbugi and Hangzhou
Chengyusi since June 2022, and a director and the general
manager of Shenzhen Zibuyu since August 2022,
respectively, primarily in charge of the self-operated online
stores business.

Mr. Dong graduated with a bachelor’s degree in bioscience
from Anhui University (2K %) in July 2010 and graduated
with a master’s degree in phytology from the Institute of
Botany, Jiangsu Province and Chinese Academy of
Sciences (JL#& & 1 B 2P 8 ¥ 8 ZT Fr) in July 2013.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Yu Kefei (817 /%), aged 46, who was formerly known as
Yu Kefei (81 £ /%) was effectively appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on the Listing Date. He
is primarily responsible for supervising and providing
independent opinion and judgement to the Group.

Mr. Yu has more than 20 years of working experience in
accounting and business management and accumulated
rich knowledge in financial management and risk control. He
served as the financial manager or financial director of
several private or listed companies, including the financial
director of Zhejiang Ming Jewelry Co., Ltd. (47T AR Tk & I%
DB BR A7) (stock code: 002574.S2) since March 2017, the
financial director of Zhuji Shangfeng Mining Co., Ltd. (&%
FIETE 2 AR A 7)) from February 2016 to March 2017, the
financial director of Hangzhou Haide Garment Co., Ltd. (7
N /&1 R #1 5 FR A 7)) from February 2007 to January 2016
and the financial manager of Zhejiang Shangfeng Packaging
Co., Ltd. (4 /I k& & % A R 2 &) from March 2004 to
February 2007.
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EENEREEE

Mr. Yu graduated from Shaoxing Secondary Technical
School (A HE M+ FHE 2 ) in July 1997 majoring in
financial accounting, and graduated from Wenzhou
University in 2024 majoring in administrative management.
Mr. Yu was admitted as the intermediate accountant by the
Ministry of Finance of the PRC in May 2004. Mr. Yu passed
the Certified Public Accountants Examination of the PRC in
December 2015 and was admitted as a non-practicing
member by the Zhejiang Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in January 2018. Mr. Yu obtained the certificate
of secretary to the board issued by the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange in December 2019.

Mr. Shen Tianfeng (L H &), aged 59, was effectively
appointed as our independent non-executive Director on the
Listing Date. He is primarily responsible for supervising and
providing independent opinion and judgement to the Group.

Mr. Shen has over 30 years of experience in legal practice.
He has been the managing partner of Grandall Law Firm
(Hangzhou) (4% 28 (A1) =75 F) from January 2001 to
April 2019. In addition, Mr. Shen has accumulated rich
experience in corporate management and governance by
acting as the independent director of several listed
companies, including Hangzhou Weiguang Electronic Co.,
Ltd. (FU N B TR 19 B BR A 7)) (stock code: 002801.S2)
from November 2012 to November 2018, Hangzhou Boiler
Group Co., Ltd. (/N #8 /& & B I {5 B FR A 7)) (stock code:
002534.SZ, now known as Xizi Clean Energy Equipment
Manufacturing Co., Ltd.) from October 2013 to January
2019, Shanghai Fullhan Microelectronics Co., Ltd. (/8 & %
M E T i1 B PR 7)) (stock code: 300613.SZ) from January
2015 to January 2021, Zheshang Securities Co., Ltd. (i &
75 # M’ 1H B R A 7)) (stock code: 601878.SH) from January
2019 to September 2022, and served as an independent
director of ZJAMP Group Co., Ltd. (i1 25 B M5 A R A 7))
(stock code: 002758.SZ) since September 2024. Mr. Shen
has served as a part-time external director of Zhejiang
University Holding Group Co., Ltd. (/T A 242 EE AR A
A]) since August 2022 and the president of the Lawyers
Association of Zhejiang since June 2023.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Shen graduated with a bachelor’s degree of law from
Southwest University of Political Science & Law (78 & BE K
E) in July 1985 and completed the graduate course of
Accounting & Audit in Agriculture from Zhejiang Agriculture
University (/T & 3 X £) (subsequently merged into
Zhejiang University (47T X £2)) in July 1998. He received his
PRC lawyer’s practicing license issued by the Zhejiang
Province Department of Justice (47L& 71)AE2) in July 1989.
In addition, Mr. Shen was the president of Hangzhou
Lawyers Association (f1)1 T12EM 1% &) from November 2014
to November 2022. He was honored as the National
Outstanding Lawyer of the Year 2008—2010 (2008-2010F /&
% B {8 75 7280) by the All China Lawyers Association (FF ZE %
Bl 2B 1% 2) in December 2011 and as Merit Citation Class Il
in Judicial Administration (F1)A7TI{ —%511]) and the Excellent
Lawyer by the Zhejiang Province Department of Justice (47
JT & B4 EE) in January 2010 and December 2011,
respectively.
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EENEREEE

Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles (2| i), aged 69, was
effectively appointed as our independent non-executive
Director on the Listing Date. He is primarily responsible for
supervising and providing independent opinion and
judgement to the Group.

Dr. Lau has more than 20 years of experience in financial
and business management. He has been an independent
non-executive director of China Financial Leasing Group
Limited (stock code: 2312.HK) and an independent director
of Nature Wood Group Limited (stock code: NWGL.US)
since September 2023, an independent non-executive
director of LINGY! iTECH (GUANGDONG) COMPANY (&
B &R B R A 7)) (stock code: 002600.SZ) since June
2021 and an independent non-executive director of KOS
International Holdings Limited (= 22 =+ B B8 #£ i% & R A 7))
(stock code: 8042.HK) since February 2021. Dr. Lau
successively served as the chief financial officer, an
executive director and the company secretary of Sitoy
Group Holdings Limited (B 1 & B % % B IR A 7)) (stock
code: 1023.HK) from August 2015 to July 2021, and a
non-executive director from August 2021 to November
2024. From December 2013 to August 2015, he served as
the chief operating officer of Imaginex Group (& & £ H)),
primarily responsible for financial management and logistics
services. Dr. Lau also worked at China Public Procurement
Limited (2 BI A 2L 5208 B BR 2 7)) (stock code: 1094.HK, now
known as Cherish Sunshine International Limited) from
December 2012 to March 2014 as its executive director,
chief investment officer and company secretary. Prior to
that, he successively served as the chief financial officer and
a joint company secretary of Miramar Hotel and Investment
Company, Limited (2B %) /& (b % B R A 7)) (stock code:
0071.HK) from March 2010 to August 2012. Before that, he
served as a vice president and the internal control director of
China Resources Enterprise Limited (ZEE Al ¥ B E A 7))
(stock code: 0291.HK) (currently known as China Resources
Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (£ 8 18 (3£ %) B R A
Al)) from February 2000 to April 2010.
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Dr. Lau obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from
Curtin University of Technology (currently known as Curtin
University) in August 1993, a master of business
administration degree from the University of South Australia
in May 1998 and a doctor of business administration degree
from the University of Newcastle, Australia in July 2008. Dr.
Lau was admitted as a Certified Practising Accountant by
CPA Australia in March 2001 and a Certified Public
Accountant by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in July 2001. He also became a fellow of CPA
Australia in June 2001, a fellow of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom in
March 2003, and a fellow of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of British Columbia in Canada in June 2015. In
addition, Dr. Lau was honored as the Model Worker of China
Central Government Enterprises (7 & 1> % & &) 1R &) by the
Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security (A 71 & &
At & RFE2F) and the State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the State Council (B8t El A
BELEEIEZEE)in April 2009.
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Ms. Luo Yan, aged 42, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 27 March 2025.
She is primarily responsible for overseeing and providing
independent advice and judgement to the Group.

Ms. Luo possesses profound knowledge of finance and
financial theory and deep insight into financial practices. She
has served as a lecturer, associate professor and doctoral
supervisor at the Department of Finance and Financial,
School of Management of Fudan University. She is currently
a professor and doctoral supervisor at the Department of
Financial and Finance, School of Management of Fudan
University. Ms. Luo has served as an independent director of
a number of listed companies, including an independent
director of 3PEAK INCORPORATED (stock code: 688536.
SH) from December 2019 to January 2025, an independent
director of Shanghai Fujie Environmental Protection
Technology Company Limited (/&8 2R ERHT B R A 7))
(stock code: 688335.SH) since July 2021, an independent
non-executive director of Shanghai Chicmax Cosmetic Co.,
Ltd. (stock code: 02145.HK) since December 2021, and an
independent director of Soochow Securities Co., Ltd. (stock
code: 601555.SH) since December 2023.

Ms. Luo graduated from Shanghai University of Finance and
Economics with a Bachelor’s degree in management in June
2005, and from the University of Hong Kong with a Doctor’s
degree in philosophy in November 2010.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Xu Shijian (72 %%), aged 47, is a vice president and the
chief financial officer of the Company. He is primarily
responsible for overseeing the financial strategic planning,
capital control, investment and financing, investors
relationship, legal affairs and audit of the Group.

Mr. Xu has more than twenty years of extensive experience
in finance and corporate management and capital
operations. He has joined the Group since November 2016
as the chief financial officer and vice president and had
concurrently held various positions in the Company and
subsidiaries, including (i) a Director and an executive
Director of the Company in succession from January 2019
to November 2023; (ii) an authorised representative of the
Company from June 2021 to November 2023; and (iii) a
director of Zhejiang Zibuyu from April 2017 to July 2024.
Prior to joining the Group, he served as the financial director
of Lvcheng E-commerce Co., Ltd. (43 & F R 5 AR A 7)),
a company within the group of Greentown China Holdings
Limited (%3 BI#5 i B R 2 7)) (stock code: 3900.HK), from
February 2011 to May 2016. Mr. Xu was a practicing
certified public accountant of the PRC and served as the
project manager and the head of department of Shaoxing
Tianyuan Accountant Office (48 # X J& & &1 &l = 75 FT) from
March 2006 to January 2011. He successively served as an
auditor, project manager and practicing certified tax agent of
Shaoxing Dongfang Tax Accountant Firm (43 & 5= 75 F 75 Bl
£ F) and Shaoxing Yidi Tax Accountant Firm (43 B 25 3 55
75 B = 7% FT) from November 2003 to February 2006.

Mr. Xu holds the title of senior accountant, the qualifications
of certified public accountant, certified tax agent and
certified public valuer in the PRC, and the qualification of
secretary to the board of directors issued by the Shanghai
Stock Exchange and Shenzhen Stock Exchange. He
graduated from Zhejiang University of Finance & Economics
(7T BF 48 K £2) (previously known as Zhejiang Institute of
Finance and Economics (47T 81 £ 2 Ft)) and obtained a
bachelor diploma in accounting in December 2006. He is
currently a student of the Executive Master of Business
Administration program for the class of 2023 at Fudan
University.
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Ms. Xie Xi (#17), aged 36, is the global vice president of the
Company. She is primarily responsible for global strategic
planning and execution, coordinating and integrating
regional resources to drive the business layout on a global
scale, as well as overseeing the merchandising division.

Ms. Xie joined the Group in December 2023. She has over
ten years of experience in supply chain and merchandise
management. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Xie worked as
a buyer manager at Decathlon Group, and subsequently
held positions in Shanghai Shading Technology Co., Ltd. (=
BE T 5 B R AR A7) and Who Gives A Crap Group,
successively, where she was responsible for business and
supply chain management, from October 2013 to October
2018.

Ms. Xie graduated from Shanghai Jiao Tong University with
a bachelor’s degree in environmental science and
engineering in July 2010. She completed an engineer
training program at Ecole Nationale Supérieure de
Techniques Industrielles et des Mines de Douai (1% B3 =
2 T EBUITE IR % 2 1) with a qualification equivalent to a
master’s degree in engineering in September 2011. She
graduated from Shanghai Jiao Tong University with a
master’s degree in environmental science and engineering in
March 2013.

Mr. Cheng Bing (i£ £x), aged 36 and a cousin of Mr. Wang
Weiping, an executive Director of the Company, is a general
manager of innovation business of the Company. He is
primarily responsible for the management of new business
of the Group, including expansion into new channels and
development of new product offerings.

Mr. Cheng joined the Group in April 2015 and has been the
general manager of business department, sales director,
vice president and general manager of innovation business
of the Group successively, primarily responsible for the
management of sales and marketing through third-party
e-commerce platforms such as Amazon, Temu and TikTok.
Prior to joining the Group, he served as a product engineer
of Atotech (China) Chemical Co., Ltd. (ZE4 (FH)(LE2H
fR 2~ &]) from May 2013 to March 2015.
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Mr. Cheng graduated with a bachelor’s degree in chemistry
from Anging Normal Institute (% Bl 5 2 F) (subsequently
renamed as Anging Normal University (% B B 3 X £2)) in
July 2010. He graduated with a master’s degree in industrial
catalysis from East China University of Science and
Technology (£ ® 32 T X £) in March 2013.

Ms. Lu Guannan (£ 7= 5), aged 34, is the senior director of
supply chain of the Company. She is mainly responsible for
the layout and management of the global efficient supply
chain to satisfy the procurement needs of high quality,
competitive price and timely delivery, and to continuously
provide the optimal solution of sourcing strategy.

Ms. Lu joined the Group in February 2024. She has over ten
years of experience in supply chain management and
product development. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Lu
worked at Decathlon from July 2013 to July 2023, where she
served successively as a methodology technical engineer at
the headquarter in France and an industrial process
manager at Decathlon’s global procurement and smart
manufacturing centre, responsible for establishment and
iteration of global process standards for apparel,
empowerment of core suppliers in all major manufacturing
countries, product development and whole-process
optimisation.

Ms. Lu graduated from Jiangnan University with a bachelor’s
degree in textile engineering in June 2013.

Mr. Xiao Chunlin (B &), aged 43, is the chief technology
officer of the Company and he is primarily responsible for
formulating the design, development and operation of the
Group’s information products.
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Mr. Xiao joined the Group in May 2024. Mr. Xiao has
extensive information technology skills and management
capabilities. Prior to joining the Group, he had worked in
VIP.com as a senior development engineer, Netease Kaola
as a senior product manager, Cainiao Network Technology
Co., Ltd. as a product specialist, and Baozun Group (stock
code: 09991.HK) as a technical director, where he was
mainly responsible for the design and development of supply
chain related information technology products.

Mr. Xiao graduated from Wuhan University in June 2005 with
a bachelor’s degree in engineering majoring in electronic
engineering.

Mr. Bai Maolin (H /% #f), aged 40, is the chief financial
officer of the Company and is primarily responsible for
overseeing the routine financial management of the Group.

Mr. Bai joined the Group in September 2024. Mr. Bai has
many years of experience in financial management and
industry finance integration and holds the CMA (Certified
Management Accountant) certificate and the Intermediate
Accountant certificate. Prior to joining the Group, he was
responsible for financial management in Shanghai
Metersbonwe Fashion & Accessories Co., Ltd. (stock code:
002269.S7) as a financial manager, Seazen Group Limited
(stock code: 01030.HK) and its associated companies as a
financial manager and chief financial officer, and Ningbo
Magqgidun Intelligent Information Technology Company
Limited as a chief financial officer.

Mr. Bai graduated from Anhui University of Technology with
a Bachelor’s degree in Computer Science in 2005 and
graduated from Donghua University with a Master’s degree
in Management in 2008.

Mr. Dai Desheng ({12 4), aged 37, is the senior director of
visual creativity of the Company and is mainly responsible
for the overall visual and page operations of the Group’s
brands.
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Mr. Dai joined the Group in December 2024. With 15 years
of experience in the fashion industry, he has deep expertise
in brand marketing and brand visual marketing. Mr. Dai
previously worked as the Head of Content Creation at
VERSACE for the Asia-Pacific region, and as the Creative
Director for the International Chinese Edition of the
renowned fashion magazine WWD, which has a 114-year
history in the United States. He has also held brand
marketing positions at international brands such as DIESEL
and STELLALUNA.

Mr. Dai graduated from the North China University of
Technology in 2010, majoring in Art and Design, and
graduated from Central Saint Martins of the United Kingdom
with a master degree in 2016.

Mr. Chen Feng (FR1£), aged 40, is the head of audit of the
Company and is primarily responsible for the Group’s audit
oversight, internal control and risk management.

Mr. Chen joined the Group in November 2024. Mr. Chen has
many years of experience in audit and internal control
management and is qualified as CPA (Certified Public
Accountant of the PRC) and CIA (Certified Internal
Auditor). Prior to joining the Group, he served at
PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian LLP, Beijing office
from September 2007 to September 2014, and served as
internal audit manager at NETEASE Pay (Hangzhou) Co.,
Ltd. from December 2014 to March 2020 and an internal
control management expert at Hangzhou Tuya Information
Technology Co., Ltd., a company listed on the US (stock
code: TUYA.US) and Hong Kong stock exchanges (stock
code: 2391.HK) from January 2022 to March 2023 and an
internal control expert at Mingkanghui Ecological Agriculture
Group Co., Ltd.* (FAREAREEEEE AR A 7l) from March
2023 to April 2024.

Mr. Chen graduated from Nankai University in June 2007
with a bachelor’s degree in Economics.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Zheng Huanxin (£ & fX), aged 36, was appointed as
one of the joint company secretaries of the Company on 18
June 2021.

Ms. Zheng joined the Group in September 2017 and is
acting as the manager of the legal department of the Group,
primarily responsible for legal compliance matters. Prior to
joining the Group, she was a lawyer of Zhejiang Haihao Law
Firm (47 )T /% & 12 B =8 75 FT) from October 2011 to March
2017. Ms. Zheng graduated with a bachelor’s degree in law
from Zhejiang Institute of Finance and Economics (47T 81 #¢
E[57%) (currently known as Zhejiang University of Finance &
Economics (1L 81 &£ KX £)) in June 2011.

Ms. Yu Anne (5 % Jg) was appointed as one of the joint
company secretaries of the Company on 5 September 2022.

Ms. Yu is an assistant manager of SWCS Corporate
Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited and has over 20 years
of experience in the corporate secretarial and corporate
governance field. Ms. Yu is currently acting as the company
secretary of several companies listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange. Ms. Yu holds a bachelor’s degree from
University of Huddersfield in the United Kingdom and a
Master of Law degree from The University of Law in the
United Kingdom. Ms. Yu is a Chartered Secretary, a
Chartered Governance Professional and an associate of
both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries) and The Chartered Governance Institute in the
United Kingdom (formerly known as the Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators). Ms. Yu also
holds a Practitioners Endorsement from The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

The Board is pleased to present this report of the Directors
together with the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is one of the largest cross-border
e-commerce companies in China focusing on the sale of
apparel and footwear products through third-party
e-commerce platforms and self-operated online stores. The
Company has been primarily focusing on the sale of a wide
range of self-designed apparel and footwear worldwide. We
design apparel and footwear, and procure products
manufactured in accordance with our design and process
from selected OEM suppliers, and subsequently sell such
products to customers globally through a combination of
third-party e-commerce platforms and our self-operated
online stores. Products of the Company are delivered to
customers either by third-party logistics service providers or
through fulfillment services provided by third-party
e-commerce platforms.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Overview and Results for the Year

The business review, discussion and analysis of future
business development of the Group, and the key financial
and operational performance indicators used to assess the
business performance of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report
on pages 9 to 27.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is not exposed to any material health, safety and
environmental risks. It is committed to fulfilling its social
responsibilities, improving benefits of its employees,
promoting development, protecting the environment,
contributing to society and achieving sustainable growth.
For details, please refer to the section headed
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this
annual report.

Compliance with Applicable Laws and
Regulations

The Group is required to comply with certain laws and
regulations of China in its domestic business operations,
including but not limited to laws and regulations related to
import and export of goods, foreign investment, foreign
exchange, cybersecurity, intellectual property rights,
personal information and data protection.

To the best of the knowledge of the Board, the Group has
complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on its business and operations, and has
obtained all necessary licenses, approvals and permits from
the relevant regulatory authorities for its operations in China.
For the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no
material breach of, or non-compliance with, applicable laws
and regulations on the part of the Group.

Key Relationships with Employees, Customers
and Suppliers

The Group has always placed great emphasis on
maintaining good business relationships with its product and
service suppliers, and providing high-quality, customer-
oriented services to its local markets and customers. These
suppliers and customers are all good business partners who
create value for the Group. The Group also values its
employees’ knowledge and skills and continues to provide
favorable career development opportunities for them.
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Major Risks and Uncertainties and Risk
Management

The Group’s business operations and performance may be
affected by various factors, some of which are external
factors, while others are inherent in its business. To the
knowledge of the Board, the Group is facing various risks
and uncertainties. Major risks and uncertainties are as
follows:

° Disruption of our relationships and unfavorable
changes in terms of our arrangements with third-party
e-commerce platforms, in particular, Amazon, Tiktok
and Temu, could have a material adverse effect on our
business and results of operations;

° The success of our business is largely dependent on
our ability to predict future fashion trends, consumer
preferences and market demand so as to design and
launch new products that match the appetites of our
target customers and to address the evolving needs
and consumer preferences. Consumer preferences
differ within and across different countries and regions
and among different customer groups, thus are
influenced by factors such as changing esthetics and
evolving styles;

o Any material shortage or delay in supply by our OEM
suppliers or instability of their product quality, and any
difficulty in maintaining our current relationships with
our OEM suppliers or finding replacements for our
OEM suppliers in a timely manner, could materially and
adversely affect our business;

° We primarily engage in cross-border e-commerce
export B2C business and do not manufacture any
products. Although the environmental impact directly
caused by us is minimal, we still recognise our social
responsibilities in monitoring and reducing the
environmental risks associated with our operations;
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° Failure to maintain optimal inventory level could
increase our operating costs or lead to unfulfilled
customer demands, either of which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects;

o Our business operations may be affected by risks
related to logistics services provided by third parties;

o We operate in the competitive cross-border
e-commerce export B2C apparel and footwear industry
in China. If we fail to compete effectively and
successfully, our customer base, market share and
profitability may be materially and adversely affected;

° Changes in international trade policies and the ongoing
conflict and emergence of a trade war between the
U.S. and China may have an adverse effect on our
business;

° Our business generates and possesses a large amount
of overseas customers’ shipment information, and the
improper collection, storage, use or disclosure of such
information could materially and adversely affect our
business and reputation; and

° We are subject to risks associated with foreign
exchange rate fluctuations.

The abovementioned major risks and uncertainties list is a
non-exhaustive list and there may be other risks and
uncertainties further to the risks areas outlined above which
are not presently known to the Group, or the Group currently
deems to be immaterial but could turn out to be material in
the future.
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The Company believes that risk management is critical to
the efficient and effective operation of the Group. The
Company’s management assists the Board in evaluating the
significant internal and external risks associated with the
Group’s business, including operational risks, financial risks
and regulatory risks. It also actively establishes appropriate
risk management and internal control mechanisms, which
are integrated into daily operational management. The
Company has established a comprehensive data security
management system to ensure the compliance and security
of the use and storage of personal information in
accordance with the data security laws of the PRC and
relevant countries. The Company will strengthen its
branding, create a number of core original brands with
market competitiveness and move into the high-end market.
The Company will continue to expand diversified sales
channels and provide differentiated product choices for
customers at different levels to meet consumer preferences
and needs. Meanwhile, the Company has made efforts to
build a flexible global supply chain system, strengthen the
in-depth co-operation of core suppliers, establish an
all-process quality control mechanism, and continue to
improve the quality of products and services of supplier. The
Company will promote the direct delivery mode of suppliers
to achieve rapid conversion from production to delivery,
significantly improve logistics efficiency and achieve
effective inventory management. In addition, the Company’s
senior management will continuously monitor core operating
indicators, closely monitor international trade policies, and
make timely adjustments to market strategies and business
layouts through regular business analyses.
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Subsequent Events

On 27 February 2025 (after trading hours), Zhejiang Zibuyu
entered into the Intelligent Advertising System Construction
and Development Contract with Hangzhou Shuzhi, pursuant
to which Zhejiang Zibuyu engaged Hangzhou Shuzhi to
provide intelligent advertising system construction and
development services for a term commencing from 27
February 2025 and ending on 31 December 2025, with an
aggregate system development fee of RMB2.70 million.

On 27 February 2025, Zhejiang Zibuyu entered into the
Intelligent Advertising Subscription Service Contract with
Hangzhou Shuzhi, pursuant to which Zhejiang Zibuyu
engaged Hangzhou Shuzhi to provide intelligent advertising
subscription services for a term commencing from
27 February 2025 and ending on 31 December 2025.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 27 February 2025.

Save as set out above, there are no significant events that
may affect the Group subsequent to the financial year ended
31 December 2024 and as of the date of this Directors’
Report.

Outlook for 2025

In 2025, the Group will adhere to the development strategy
set out on pages 26 to 27 of this annual report in order to
further consolidate its leading position in the cross-border
e-commerce industry in China.
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DIRECTORS

During the Reporting Period and as of the date of this annual
report, the Directors of the Company are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Hua Bingru (Chairman)

Mr. Chen Caixiong (Chief executive officer)
Mr. Wang Weiping

Mr. Dong Zhenguo

Non-executive Director
Ms. Hua Hui (resigned on 27 March 2025)
Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Yu Kefei

Mr. Shen Tianfeng

Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles

Ms. Luo Yan (appointed on 27 March 2025)

Biographies of the Directors and senior
management

For the biographical details of the Directors and senior
management of the Company, please refer to the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 28 to
42 in this annual report.

Particulars of Directors’ Service Contracts and
Letters of Appointment

Each of Mr. Hua Bingru, Mr. Wang Weiping and Mr. Dong
Zhenguo, being our executive Directors, has entered into a
service contract with the Company, under which they
agreed to act as executive Directors for an initial term of
three years commencing from the Listing Date, subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years in
accordance with the Articles of Association. The service
contracts may be renewed subject to mutual agreement and
compliance with the provisions of the Articles of Association
and the applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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Mr. Chen Caixiong, being our executive Director and CEQO,
has entered into a Director’s service contract with the
Company for an initial term of three years commencing from
29 August 2024, subject to re-election at the next annual
general meeting of the Company and thereafter, subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years in
accordance with the Articles of Association. The Director’s
service contract may be renewed subject to mutual
agreement and compliance with the provisions of the
Articles of Association and the applicable laws, rules and
regulations.

Each of Mr. Yu Kefei, Mr. Shen Tianfeng and Dr. Lau Kin
Shing Charles, being our independent non-executive
Directors, has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company, under which they agreed to act as independent
non-executive Directors for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date or to the third annual
general meeting held after the Listing Date, subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years in
accordance with the Articles of Association. The letters of
appointment may be renewed subject to mutual agreement
and compliance with the provisions of the Articles of
Association and the applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Ms. Luo Yan, being our independent non-executive Director,
has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of three years commencing from 27 March 2025,
subject to re-election at the next annual general meeting of
the Company and thereafter, subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years in accordance with
the Articles of Association. The letter of appointment may be
renewed subject to mutual agreement and compliance with
the provisions of the Articles of Association and the
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has a
service contract or letter of appointment which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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Re-election of Directors

The Directors are elected for a term of three years and are
subject to re-election. Pursuant to Articles 109(a) and (b) of
the Articles of Association, at each annual general meeting,
one-third of the Directors for the time being or, if the number
is not a multiple of three or three, then the number nearest to
but not less than one-third of the total number of the
Directors, shall retire by rotation, but each Director (including
those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. The
retiring Directors are eligible for re-election. The Company
may fill any vacancy of such position at the Shareholders’
general meeting. The retiring Directors shall include any
Director who intends to retire and any Director who is not
willing to stand for re-election (as far as the required number
is concerned). Any Director who has not been subject to
retirement by rotation in the three years prior to the annual
general meeting shall retire by rotation at the relevant annual
general meeting. The Directors to retire shall be those who
have been in office for the longest period of time since their
last re-election or appointment but, as between persons who
became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day,
those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among
themselves) be determined by lot.

Accordingly, Mr. Yu Kefei, Mr. Shen Tianfeng and Dr. Lau
Kin Shing Charles will retire as independent non-executive
Directors and, being eligible, have offered themselves for
re-election at the 2025 Annual General Meeting under Article
109(a) of the Articles of Association.

Mr. Chen Caixiong will retire as an executive Director, and
being eligible, have offered himself for re-election at the
2025 Annual General Meeting under Article 113 of the
Articles of Association.

Ms. Luo Yan will retire as an independent non-executive
Director and, being eligible, have offered herself for re-
election at the 2025 Annual General Meeting under Article
113 of the Articles of Association.
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Remuneration of Directors and the Five Highest
Paid Individuals

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five
highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in Notes 11
and 34 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report. None of the Directors or chief executives
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration.

Changes in the Biographical Details of Directors
and Chief Executives Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1)
of the Listing Rules

Changes in the information of the Directors required to be
disclosed under Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules since the
publication of the 2023 annual report of the Company up to
the date of this annual report are as follows:

Mr. Hua Bingru (2 3 2) was re-designated as a co-CEO on
27 March 2024, and resigned as a co-CEO on 29 August
2024. His position as an executive Director and the
chairman of the Board remains unchanged.

Mr. Chen Caixiong (Ff 4 ) was appointed as a co-CEO on
27 March 2024, and on 29 August 2024 appointed as an
executive Director and re-designated from co-CEQO to CEO.

Mr. Wang Weiping (%) no longer serves as the director
and manager of Dongguan Zibuyu and Huzhou Zibuyu since
September 2024.

Mr. Dong Zhenguo (£ #x ) no longer serves as the director
and general manager of Xiamen Zibuyu since June 2024.
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Mr. Shen Tianfeng (L FH ) served as an independent
director of ZJAMP Group Co., Ltd. (T 2 & B i/ B R A 7))
(stock cde: 002758.S7) since September 2024.

Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles (£If#5% 1% £) no longer serves as
a non-executive director of Sitoy Group Holdings Limited (¥
REBER AR Q7)) (stock code: 1023.HK) since
November 2024.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in the
biographical details of Directors which shall be disclosed
under Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As of 31 December 2024, none of the Directors took part in,
or were interested in, any business which competes or is
likely to compete with the Group’s business.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

As at the end of the Reporting Period or at any time during
the Reporting Period, there were no Directors or connected
persons of the Company who, directly or indirectly, had
material interests in any transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to the business of the Group, to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party,
that subsisted as at the end of the Reporting Period or had
been entered into during the Reporting Period.

There were no Directors or entities related to the Directors or
connected persons of the Company who directly or
indirectly held material interests in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance, that subsisted as
at the end of the Reporting Period or had been entered into
during the Reporting Period.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

There were no Controlling Shareholders of the Group who,
directly or indirectly, had material interests in any contracts
of significance to the business of the Group, to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, that
subsisted as at the end of the Reporting Period or had been
entered into during the Reporting Period.

There were no contracts of significance with any Controlling
Shareholders or their subsidiaries, that subsisted as at the
end of the Reporting Period or had been entered into during
the Reporting Period for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group during
the Reporting Period are set out in Note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report,
among which the compensation paid to the Directors
constitutes connected transactions of the Company which
are fully exempt according to Rule 14A.95 of the Listing
Rules.

The Company had complied with the disclosure
requirements set out in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The following transaction constitutes a connected
transaction of the Company and is required to be disclosed
in this annual report in accordance with Rule 14A.71 of the
Listing Rules.

The Informatization Construction and
Development Contract

On 8 January 2024 (after trading hours), Zhejiang Zibuyu
entered into the Informatization Construction and
Development Contract with Hangzhou Shuzhi, pursuant to
which Zhejiang Zibuyu engaged Hangzhou Shuzhi to provide
intelligent informatization construction, development and
research services for a term of one year from 8 January
2024 to 7 January 2025, with an aggregate development fee
of RMB12.0 million.
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As at 8 January 2024, Mr. Hua, an executive Director,
directly holds 26.87% equity interest in Hangzhou Shuzhi,
Ningbo Ruyu directly holds 25% equity interest in Hangzhou
Shuzhi and Mr. Hua holds 80% equity interest in Ningbo
Ruyu. Therefore, Hangzhou Shuzhi is a connected person of
the Company.

According to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the
transaction contemplated under the Informatization
Construction and Development Contract constitutes a
connected transaction of the Company.

Entering into the Informatization Construction and
Development Contract by Zhejiang Zibuyu with Hangzhou
Shuzhi is considered to bring the following benefits to the
Group:

() In terms of data analysis services, Hangzhou Shuzhi
has relatively mature experience in the development of
data analysis products, and the data analysis tools it
has developed can provide more refined and
comprehensive support for the decision-making of the
management of the Company and enhance the
efficiency and quality of the Company’s decision-
making in various segments, forming a new driving
force for the Company’s future growth;

(i) Interms of advertising project services, the advertising
cost can be effectively reduced by the Intelligent
Advertising System developed by Hangzhou Shuzhi.
The Acos (i.e. advertising cost as a percentage of
sales) of the Intelligent Advertising System are lower as
compared to that of traditional manually placed
advertisements; and
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In terms of Al algorithm services, as the industry trend,
they play an indispensable role in the transformation of
traditional cross-border enterprises. Hangzhou Shuzhi
will be able to assist the Company in handling
multilingual conversion and Listing generation (i.e.
creating and publishing product lists on e-commerce
platforms or online markets) by using large language
model, optimizing product detail pages, and improving
conversion rates. By utilizing image algorithm models
for product identification and image search, it can help
to identify market trends, recommend popular element
combinations, and increase hit rate of the products. In
addition, Hangzhou Shuzhi’s text cleaning and mining
algorithm models can analyze user reviews and public
opinion data, which helps the Company to better
understand market demand and user preferences in
order to optimize product selection and marketing
strategies.

Save as disclosed above, for the year ended 31 December
2024, we have not entered into any connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction which should be
disclosed pursuant to the Rules 14A.49 and 14A.71 of the
Listing Rules.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
OUR DIRECTORS AND THE CHIEF
EXECUTIVE IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As of 31 December 2024, the interest or short positions of
our Directors or chief executives of the Company in the
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which would be required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interest or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or which would be recorded in
the register required to be kept pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to the Model
Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange, are as follows:
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Name of Director/Chief Number of  percentage of

executive Nature of interest Shares  shareholding®

EEX BETBASES EEME BROBE BOERESLO

Mr. Hua Bingru® Interest in controlled corporations/ 236,056,036(L) 47.21%
Founder of a discretionary trust

ERIMELER REE R 2 RIETHAINA

Mr. Wang Weiping® Interest in controlled corporations/ 22,608,772(L) 4.52%
Founder of a discretionary trust

AR EES XEEE R 2 RIETHAIA

Mr. Dong Zhenguo® Interest in controlled corporations/ 19,634,654(L) 3.93%
Founder of a discretionary trust

ERELE RmEE R 2 RIETHAINA

Ms. Hua Hui® Interest in controlled corporations 10,498,364(L) 2.10%
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Notes:

(1)

@

The calculation is based on the total number of 500,000,000
Shares in issue as at 31 December 2024.

Mr. Hua Bingru (“Mr. Hua”) is the settlor and appointer of
Hone Ru Trust, which is interested in all the issued shares of
Hone Ru. TMY ONE is wholly-owned by Gfxtmyun, a wholly
owned subsidiary of Hone Ru, which is in turn wholly-owned
by Hone Ru Trust. Therefore, Mr. Hua, Hone Ru and
Gfxtmyun are deemed to be interested in the shares directly
held by TMY ONE.

Mr. Wang Weiping is the settlor and appointor of WJunzhe
Trust, which is interested in all the issued shares of WJunzhe
Limited. Also Jun is wholly-owned by WJunzhe Limited,
which is in turn wholly-owned by WJunzhe Trust. As such,
Mr. Wang Weiping is deemed to be interested in the shares
directly held by Also Jun.

Mr. Dong Zhenguo is the settlor and appointor of Dotti Trust,
which is interested in all the issued shares of Dotti Enterprise
Limited. Alitti is wholly-owned by Dotti Enterprise Limited,
which is in turn wholly-owned by Dotti Trust. As such, Mr.
Dong Zhenguo is deemed to be interested in the shares
directly held by Alitti.

Virtual Particle is wholly-owned by Ms. Hua Hui. As such, Ms.
Hua Hui is deemed to be interested in the shares directly held
by Virtual Particle.

Ms. Hua Hui has resigned as a non-executive Director with
effect from 27 March 2025.

The letter “L” denotes a person’s long position (as defined
under part XV of the SFO) in the Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as of 31 December 2024, none of
our Directors or chief executives of the Company had
interests and short positions in the Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which would be required to be recorded in the register kept
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by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or
which would be required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER INDIVIDUALS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As of 31 December 2024, so far as it was known to the
Directors, the following persons and entities (excluding the
Directors and chief executives of the Company) had
interests and/or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares which were notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Name of Substantial
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Approximate

Number of percentage of

Shareholder Nature of interest Shares  shareholding™

TERREEEB EmME RO#E BOFRE IO

Hone Ru® Interest in controlled corporations 236,056,036(L) 47.21%

Hone Ru® XEEEE R

Gfxtmyun® Interest in a controlled corporations 236,056,036(L) 47.21%

Gfxtmyun®@ LB kR

TMY ONE® Beneficial interest 236,056,036(L) 47.21%

Rl ES@ Enn

Ms. Yu® Interest in controlled corporations/ 25,088,421(L) 5.02%
Founder of a discretionary trust

RELO R+ EER 2 RETENAIRA

Wiloru Holding® Interest in a controlled corporations 25,088,421(L) 5.02%

Wiloru Holding® R EE kR

Hyufeng® Beneficial interest 25,088,421(L) 5.02%

Hyufeng® EamtEn
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Name of Substantial
Shareholder
TERRHSE BB

Nature of interest

BEME

Approximate
Number of percentage of
Shares  shareholding®

BROHE BYEREIL

Mr. Wang Shijian®
FERIEED

Ms. Rao Xingxing®

Founder of a discretionary trust

EREEFENEIRA

Founder of a discretionary trust

BREET® FREFTNEIMA

Chichiboy Holdings Limited® Interest in a controlled corporations
Chichiboy Holdings Limited¥ — S#xE

Xringirl® Beneficial interest

Xringirl® EaEn

TMY THREE® Beneficial interest

Flap @20 EnEn

Notes:

(1) The calculation is based on the total number of 500,000,000
Shares in issue as at 31 December 2024.

(2)  Mr. Hua is the settlor and appointer of Hone Ru Trust, which
is interested in all the issued shares of Hone Ru. TMY ONE is
wholly-owned by Gfxtmyun, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Hone Ru, which is in turn wholly-owned by Hone Ru Trust.
Therefore, Mr. Hua, Hone Ru and Gfxtmyun are deemed to
be interested in the shares directly held by TMY ONE.

(8) Ms. Yu Feng (“Ms. Yu”) is the settlor and appointer of Wiloru
Trust, which is interested in all the issued shares of Wiloru
Holding. Hyufeng is wholly-owned by Wiloru Holding, which
is in turn wholly-owned by Wiloru Trust. Therefore, Ms. Yu
and Wiloru Holding are deemed to be interested in the shares
directly held by Hyufeng.
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(4)  Mr. Wang Shijian and Ms. Rao Xingxing are the settlors and
appointers of Chichiboy Trust, which is interested in all the
issued shares of Chichiboy Holdings Limited. Xringirl is
wholly-owned by Chichiboy Holdings Limited, which is in turn
wholly-owned by Chichiboy Trust. Therefore, Mr. Wang
Shijian, Ms. Rao Xingxing and Chichiboy Holdings Limited
are deemed to be interested in the shares directly held by
Xringirl.

(5) TMY THREE is held by Mr. Cheng Bing (12.23%) who is a
member of our senior management and the cousin of Mr.
Wang Weiping, an executive Director of the Company, Mr.
Fan Zugen (3.67%) who is our consultant, Mr. Shi Weiwei
(3.05%) who is the cousin of Mr. Hua, Mr. Cheng Wu
(0.81%), who is the cousin of Mr. Wang Weiping, an
executive Director of the Company, and other 39 individual
shareholders (80.24%) who are all our employees and
Independent Third Parties with each holding below 9%.

(6) The letter “L” denotes a person’s long position (as defined
under part XV of the SFO) in the Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as of 31 December 2024, the
Directors were not aware of any other persons or entities
(excluding the Directors and chief executives of the
Company), who had an interest or short position in the
Shares or underlying Shares which would be required to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Division 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be required to
be recorded in the register kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS
Major Customers

The customers of the Company are primarily retail
customers who purchased our products either through
major third-party e-commerce platforms, or our self-
operated online stores directly. To a much lesser extent, our
customers also include corporate customers such as third-
party e-commerce platforms and other third-party
merchants. For the Reporting Period, the Group had no
customer accounting for more than 30% of its total revenue
(2023: nil). The Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 2.6% (2023: 3.8%) of its total revenue during
the Reporting Period.
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For the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or any of
their close associates or any Shareholders (which, to the
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5.0% of the
number of issued shares of the Company) had any interest in
the Group’s five largest customers.

Major Suppliers

Our suppliers primarily consist of third-party e-commerce
platform, third-party OEM suppliers and logistics service
providers, most of which are located in the PRC. During the
Reporting Period, the aggregate percentage of the Group’s
total purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers was 62.9% (2023: 70.5%). The Group’s largest
supplier accounted for approximately 57.8% (2023: 65.4%)
of the Group’s total purchases during the Reporting Period.

For the Reporting Period, none of our Directors, any of their
close associates or Shareholder(s) (who, to the knowledge
of the Directors, own more than 5.0% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any interest in any of the five
largest suppliers.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company was entered into with any individuals, companies
or entities during the Reporting Period.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Every Director or other senior management of the Company
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they may sustain or
incur during or for the purpose of the execution of their
duties or in relation thereto in accordance with the Articles of
Association. The Company has maintained appropriate
Directors’ liability insurance during the Reporting Period.
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RESULTS OF OPERATION

The Group’s results of operation are set out in page 177 of
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income of this
annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final
dividend of HK$0.12 for the Reporting Period (2023: Nil). The
final dividend is subject to the approval of the Shareholders
at the 2025 Annual General Meeting. Such proposed final
dividend will be payable on or around Tuesday, 27 May
2025 to the Shareholder whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on Thursday, 15 May
2025.

For the purpose of determination of the eligibility to the
proposed final dividend, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Monday, 12 May 2025 to
Thursday, 15 May 2025, both days inclusive, during which
period no Share transfers will be registered. In order to be
entitled to the proposed final dividend, all properly
completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged for registration with the
Company’s Hong Kong Share Registrar, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 9
May 2025.

There is no arrangement under which a Shareholder has
waived or agreed to waive any dividends.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2025 Annual General Meeting is proposed to be held on
Tuesday, 6 May 2025. A notice convening the 2025 Annual
General Meeting will be published and dispatched to the
Shareholders of the Company in the manner required by the
Listing Rules in due course.

For the purpose of determination of eligibility to attend and
vote at the 2025 Annual General Meeting, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 29
April 2025 to Tuesday, 6 May 2025, both days inclusive
during which period no Share transfers will be registered. In
order to be entitled to attend and vote at the 2025 Annual
General Meeting, all transfers of shares of the Company
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong Share Registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited,
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration
not later than 4: 30 p.m. on Monday, 28 April 2025.

SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 December 2024, the total number of issued Shares
was 500,000,000. Changes in the share capital of the
Company during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 23
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE
RESERVES

For the year ended 31 December 2024, details of the
reserves of the Group and the Company are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and Note 25 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
As of 31 December 2024, the distributable reserves of the
Group was RMB346.5 million (as of 31 December 2023:
approximately RMB281.7 million).
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SHARE SCHEMES
Share Award Scheme (Existing Shares)

The Company adopted the Share Award Scheme (Existing
Shares) on 15 September 2023. The Share Award Scheme
(Existing Shares) is funded solely by the existing Shares
pursuant to Rule 17.01(1)(b) of the Listing Rules and does
not constitute a scheme involving the issue of new shares.
Therefore, Shareholders’ approval is not required for the
adoption of the Share Award Scheme (Existing Shares). The
following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share
Award Scheme (Existing Shares). For details of the Share
Award Scheme (Existing Shares), please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 15 September 2023.

1.  Purposes

The purposes of the Share Award Scheme (Existing
Shares) are to (1) recognise and reward certain eligible
participants for their performance and contribution to
the growth and development of the Group; (2) provide
such eligible participants with incentives in order to
encourage and retain them for the continual operation
and development of the Group; and (3) attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group.

2. Administration

The Share Award Scheme (Existing Shares) shall be
subject to the administration of the Board in
accordance with the scheme rules, whose decision
shall be final and binding on all parties.

The Company has appointed the trustee, THE CORE
TRUST COMPANY LIMITED (the “Core Trust”) or
Gongfenxiang One (“Gongfenxiang One”), a company
wholly-owned by Core Trust to act as the nominee of
the trust, to assist with the administration of the Share
Award Scheme (Existing Shares). Core Trust or
Gongfenxiang One shall, directly or indirectly, hold the
trust shares, the related income and residual cash in
accordance with the relevant scheme rules and the
trust deed.
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The Board, may either before or after identification of
the selected participant(s), cause to be paid to Core
Trust or Gongfenxiang One such amount as may be
required for the purchase a certain number of existing
Shares on the Stock Exchange at the market trading
price as and when appropriate as the awards for the
Share Award Scheme (Existing Shares) and other
purposes set out in the relevant scheme rules and the
trust deed.

Eligible participants

The following persons are eligible to participate in, and
be granted under the Share Award Scheme (Existing
Shares): (i) employees of the Group; and (ii) any
persons who have contributed to the Group in the past
and/or are in the interests of the long-term growth of
the Group.

Duration

Subject to any termination as may be determined by
the Board pursuant to the scheme rules of the Share
Award Scheme (Existing Shares), the Share Award
Scheme (Existing Shares) shall be valid and effective
for the period commencing on the adoption date (i.e.
15 September 2023) of the Share Award Scheme
(Existing Shares) until the earlier of (i) the 10th
anniversary of the adoption date of the Share Award
Scheme (Existing Shares) (the “Scheme Period of the
Share Award Scheme (Existing Shares)”); or (ii) such
date that all outstanding awarded Shares have been
fully vested, settled, lapsed, forfeited or cancelled (as
the case may be), after which period no further awards
may be granted, but the scheme rules of the Share
Award Scheme (Existing Shares) shall remain in full
force and effect in all other respects. Accordingly, the
remaining life of the Share Award Scheme (Existing
Shares) is approximately eight years and six months as
at the date of this annual report.
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Maximum number of Shares

The aggregate number of Shares to be awarded by the
Board under the Share Award Scheme (Existing
Shares) shall not exceed 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the adoption date of
15 September 2023 (i.e. being no more than
50,000,000 Shares), representing 10% of the issued
shares of the Company as at the date of this annual
report.

As the Shares under the Share Award Scheme
(Existing Shares) are existing Shares, the total number
of Shares available for issue under the Share Award
Scheme (Existing Shares) is 0.

Maximum entitlement for each participant

The maximum number of Shares that may be granted
to a selected participant under the Share Award
Scheme (Existing Shares) shall not exceed 1% of the
Company'’s total issued Shares during any 12-month
period.

Grant of awards

The Board may at any time on any business day during
the Scheme Period of the Share Award Scheme
(Existing Shares) grant an award to any eligible
participant of the Share Award Scheme (Existing
Shares), as the Board may in its absolute discretion
select. A grant of an award shall be made to an eligible
participant by a grant letter in such written form as the
Board may from time to time determine. The document
for granting the Award shall state and specify:

() the name and address of the selected participant
and so far as the Board is aware, whether he/she/
it is connected person of the Company;

(i)  the number of awarded Shares for the selected
participant;
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(i) the vesting dates and vesting conditions of the
awarded Shares;

(iv) any applicable lock-up on the awarded Shares;

(v) the date by which the selected participant must
accept the grant of the award, failing which the
award would forfeit; and

(vi) other relevant terms and conditions of the award
as the Board may in absolute discretion
determine in accordance with the rules relating to
the Share Award Scheme (Existing Shares).

Awards granted are subject to the acceptance of the
grant by the selected participant in the time and
manner stipulated in the grant letter issued to the
selected participant. If the selected participant does
not accept the award in the time and manner stipulated
in the grant letter, the award shall be forfeited.

The amount, if any, payable on the acceptance of the
award and the period within which payments must or
may be made and the purchase price of each awarded
share (if any) shall be determined by the Board at the
time of grant of the share awards under the Share
Award Scheme (Existing Shares) taking into account
the selected participant’s position, experience and
performance and contribution to the Group.

Vesting period

The vesting period and vesting schedule shall be
subject to the discretion of the Board. Subject to the
receipt by Core Trust of the requisite information and
documents duly signed by the selected participant
within the period stipulated in the vesting notice and
the fulfillment of all vesting conditions as specified in
the relevant grant letter, the awarded Shares held by
Core Trust on behalf of the selected participant shall
vest in such selected participant in accordance with
the applicable vesting schedule, and Core Trust shall
transfer or procure Gongfenxiang One to transfer the
relevant awarded Shares to the relevant selected
participant in accordance with the relevant scheme
rules.
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No awards have been granted, cancelled or lapsed
under the Share Award Scheme (Existing Shares) since
its adoption and up to the date of this annual report.
The number of awards available for grant under the
Share Award Scheme (Existing Shares) at the end of
2024 was 50,000,000 Shares. There is no service
provider sublimit under the Share Award Scheme
(Existing Shares).

As the Share Award Scheme (Existing Shares) is
funded by exiting Shares only, the number of Shares
that may be issued in respect of the awards granted
under the Share Award Scheme (Existing Shares)
during the Reporting Period divided by the weighted
average number of Shares in issue for the Reporting
Period is not applicable.

Share Award Scheme (New Shares)

The Share Award Scheme (New Shares) was approved by
the Shareholders and adopted on 1 December 2023. The
Share Award Scheme (New Shares) is to be funded solely by
new shares. The following is a summary of the principal
terms of the Share Award Scheme (New Shares). For details
of the Share Award Scheme (New Shares), please refer to
the circular of the Company dated 15 November 2023.

1. Purpose

The purpose of the Share Award Scheme (New Shares)
is to provide the selected participants of Share Award
Scheme (New Shares) with an opportunity to obtain a
proprietary interest in the Company, to provide
incentives to selected participants to contribute to the
Company and to enable the Company to recruit
high-calibre employees and attract human resources
that are valuable to the Group.
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Administration

The Board will administer the Share Award Scheme
(New Shares) in accordance with the scheme rules. In
addition, the Board may appoint a third-party
professional service providers as the administrator in
relation to the Share Award Scheme (New Shares) (or
certain aspects of it) on such terms as the Board may
determine.

Eligible participants

Eligible participants of Share Award Scheme (New
Shares) refer to the directors and employees of any
member of the Group who in the absolute discretion of
the Board have contributed to the Group on the basis
of their contribution to the development and growth of
the Group.

Duration

The Share Award Scheme (New Shares) will terminate
or expire (as the case may be) on the earlier of: (i) the
termination of the Share Award Scheme (New Shares)
pursuant to the termination clause of the Share Award
Scheme (New Shares); and (b) ten years from the
adoption date (i.e. 1 December 2023), after which no
further grant of the awards shall be made but the Share
Award Scheme (New Shares) will remain in full force
and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the
acceptance of any granted awards, vesting of any
awarded shares or otherwise as may be required in
accordance with the Share Award Scheme (New
Shares).

Accordingly, the remaining life of the Share Award
Scheme (New Shares) is approximately eight years and
eight months as at the date of this annual report.
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Maximum number of Shares available for issue

The total number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued in respect of all awards to be granted under the
Share Award Scheme (New Shares) and any other
share schemes of the Company must not exceed 5%
(i.e. 25,000,000 Shares) of the Shares in issue as at the
adoption date (i.e. 1 December 2023) of the Share
Award Scheme (New Shares).

Since the adoption date of the Share Award Scheme
(New Shares) up to the date of this annual report, no
awards have been granted, cancelled or lapsed under
the Share Award Scheme (New Shares). Therefore, the
total number of shares available for issue under the
Share Award Scheme (New Shares) shall be
25,000,000 Shares, representing 5% of the issued
Shares as at the date of this annual report.

Maximum entitlement for each participant

The Board shall not grant any award (the “Triggering
Award”) to any selected participant which, if vested,
would result in that selected participant becoming
entitled to subscribe for such number of Shares as,
when aggregated with the total number of Shares
already issued or to be issued in respect of all options
and awards granted to such person in the 12-month
period immediately preceding the grant date of the
Triggering Award to exceed 1% of the number of
Shares in issue as at that grant date.

Grant of awards

Subject to the requirements in the Share Award
Scheme (New Shares) and all applicable laws, rules
and regulations, the Board may, from time to time at its
absolute discretion, select any eligible participant
(other than any excluded participant as defined in the
Share Award Scheme (New Shares)) to be a selected
participant and to grant such awarded Shares to such
selected participant at nil consideration.
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The Board will issue letter of grant to selected
participants to grant awards. The letter of grant will
specify: (a) the name of the selected participant; (b) the
date of the letter; (c) the acceptance period; (d) the
vesting conditions (if any); (e) the performance targets
and other eligibility criteria, if any, to be satisfied before
the vesting of the awarded Shares; (f) the number of
awarded Shares; and (g) such other terms and
conditions to which the award will be subject. The
letter of grant will contain provisions requiring the
selected participant to agree to be bound by the Share
Award Scheme (New Shares).

Upon receipt of the letter of grant, the selected
participant shall accept an award by returning to the
Company a notice of acceptance (the “Acceptance
Notice”) within the acceptance period. If any selected
participant fails to return the Acceptance Notice before
the expiry of the acceptance period, the award will
automatically lapse forthwith and the relevant awarded
Shares shall not vest on the relevant vesting date.

As the awarded Shares will be granted to the selected
participants at nil consideration, the disclosure
requirements under Rule 17.09(7) and Rule 17.09(8) of
the Listing Rules are not applicable.

Vesting of awards and vesting period

Subject to the provisions of the Share Award Scheme
(New Shares), all applicable laws, rules and regulations
and with its terms and conditions, the respective
awarded Shares shall vest on the selected participant
on the date or dates when all the vesting conditions set
out in the letter of grant are met, and the Board shall
cause the Company to allot and issue to such selected
participant such number of new awarded Shares as set
out in the letter of grant and the Board shall cause to
be paid the subscription money for the new awarded
Shares, representing the nominal value of the new
awarded Shares multiplied by the number of new
awarded Shares to be issued, from the Company’s
resources.
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The minimum vesting period is 12 months. A shorter
vesting period may be granted to eligible participants
at the discretion of the Board (or the Remuneration
Committee where the arrangements relate to grants of
awards to the Directors and/or senior management of
the Company) in any of the following specific
circumstances:

(@)

grants of “make-whole” awards to eligible
participants who newly joined the Group to
replace the share awards or options they forfeited
when leaving their previous employer;

grants of awards with specific and objective
performance-based vesting conditions in lieu of
time-based vesting criteria;

grants that are made in batches during a year for
administrative and compliance reasons, which
include awards that should have been granted
earlier if not for such administrative or compliance
reasons but had to wait for a subsequent batch.
In such case, the vesting period may be shorter to
reflect the time from which the awards would
have been granted;

grants of awards with a mixed or accelerated
vesting schedule such as where the awards may
vest evenly over a period of 12 months;

grants of awards with a total vesting and holding
period of more than 12 months; and
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()  the circumstances in relation to (i) general offer to
acquire Shares being made to the Shareholders
pursuant to the Takeovers Code; (ii) the
Company’s voluntary wind up; and (iii)
compromise or arrangement between the
Company and its members or creditors being
proposed in connection with a scheme for the
reconstruction of the Company or amalgamation
of the Company with another company or
companies, the details of which are set out in the
circular of the Company dated 15 November
2023.

No awards have been granted, cancelled or lapsed
under the Share Award Scheme (New Shares) since its
adoption and up to the date of this annual report. The
number of awards available for grant under the Share
Award Scheme (New Shares) at the end of 2024 was
25,000,000 Shares. There is no service provider
sublimit under the Share Award Scheme (New Shares).

As no awards have been granted during the Reporting
Period, the number of Shares that may be issued in
respect of the awards granted under the Share Award
Scheme (New Shares) during the Reporting Period
divided by the weighted average number of Shares in
issue for the Reporting Period is not applicable.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE
GLOBAL OFFERING

The Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on 11
November 2022. The net proceeds from the Global Offering
amounted to HK$216.4 million. For the year ended 31
December 2024, the Company applied the net proceeds
from the Global Offering in accordance with the intended
use and expected timetable disclosed in the section headed
“Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus. The
remaining net proceeds from the Global Offering will
continue to be utilised in accordance with the disclosure and
proportion set out in the Prospectus. Summary of the use of
net proceeds is as follows:
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Utilised
amount of net
Unutilised proceeds
amount of net during the Unutilised  Expected
proceeds twelve months amount of net timetable for
Net proceeds as at ended proceeds as of the utilisation of
from the Global 31 December 31 December 31 December  the unutilised
Offering 2023 2024 2024  net proceeds
R2023F REE2024F 120245
12A318 L 12A318 L 12318  BAXER
2RBE ABA +T-EAEHA ABR FSRE
FERERE FSRERE FSRERE AEREFE FERERER
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
HEERT HEERT HEERT HEERT
1. To be used to enhance our sales and 81.2 8.2 45 3.7  Bythe end of
branding capabilities, among which, 2025
FRRA B MO HEE RmE R 2025F R
1.1 tobe used to procure Amazon 65.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 N/A
advertising solution TEA
ARRECESBEESHRATR
1.2 tobe used to procure 8.0 0.3 0.3 00 NA
advertising services on other i
third-party e-commerce
platforms
AREEAME=7EET A
BERE
1.3 tobe used to place 8.0 7.9 4.2 3.7 Bytheend of
advertisement on leading social 2025
media platforms and procure 2025F F R
other marketing solutions
RSB RS T A IR
BERRREMEHRRATR
2024 F W E FABEHBRAF
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Utilised
amount of net
Unutilised proceeds
amount of net during the Unutilised  Expected
proceeds twelve months amount of net  timetable for
Net proceeds as at ended proceeds asof the utilisation of
from the Global ~ 31 December 31 December 31 December  the unutilised
Offering 2023 2024 2024  net proceeds
R2023F  REE2024F #2024
12A31A Lk 12A31A Lk 12A31HLE BRAKRFER
2REBE ABA tZEACHA ABA FEXE
FEREFR FENERE FEREFE HEREFE FERHRER
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT
2. To be used to enhance our supply chain 61.9 35.7 10.8 249  Bytheend of
management system, among which, 2025
RARTERFNEERERZLR 20255 F R
2.1 tobe used to establish our own 47.2 22.3 10.7 11.6 By the end of
smart logistics and warehousing 2025
system 2025FF K
ARBURMEBAEIRRE
BESR
2.2 tobe used to upgrade our 14.7 13.4 0.1 13.3 By the end of
existing warehouses 2025
management 20255 F K
ARABRRARENEEER
3. To be used for the establishment of 50.4 28.3 19.2 9.1  Bytheend of
large-scale independent self-operated 2025
online stores on our proprietary 2025F FFK
websites:
ARERMANZ BRI LRV KRB Y
B
3.1  tobe used to procure marketing 48.9 27.3 19.0 8.3  Bytheend of
solutions for large-scale 2025
independent self-operated 2025FF K
online stores and place
advertisement on leading social
media platforms
RSB AREE Y B = @i e
HERARRERTNEER
TR ERMES
3.2  tobe used to procure servers 1.5 1.0 0.2 0.8 By the end of
and other relevant equipment to 2025
support the operation of the 2025F F R

large-scale independent
self-operated online stores
ARFBRBSSEERE - )
XHARBUBERENES
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Utilised
amount of net
Unutilised proceeds
amount of net during the Unutilised  Expected
proceeds twelve months amount of net  timetable for
Net proceeds as at ended proceeds as of the utilisation of
from the Global 31 December 31 December 31 December the unutilised
Offering 2023 2024 2024  net proceeds
R2023F  REE2024F R20245
12A31A L 12A31A L 12318  BAXER
ERBE ABA tZEAEHA ABA FBXE
FRENERE HMERERE FMERERE  MERERE FERERER
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BB BB BB BB
4 To be used to enhance our product 11.4 9.4 6.0 3.4  Bytheend of
research and development capabilities: 2025
ARRARMOERREELSN - 2025F F K
41  to be used to establish and 6.5 5.1 5.1 0.0 N/A
upgrade our intelligent platforms NEH
RARBI R RBEMNEET A
4.2 tobe used to upgrade and 4.9 4.3 0.9 3.4  Bytheend of
establish research and 2025
development center 2025F F R
FIRTH R RS HE 0
&, To be used for the upgrade and 11.5 4.8 4.8 0.0 N/A
procurement of our [T infrastructure, i A
including procurement of cloud
services, hardware and software for
firewalls, intelligent management
systems and design management
systems in the next three years
ARAR=FEARREERMOTER
&t BREREERY  ABEER
Y BRERARRSAERER
Total 216.4 86.4 45.3 411
CHE

The aforesaid expected timetable for the utilisation of the
unutilised net proceeds is based on the best estimation of
future market conditions made by the Company and subject
to changes in accordance with our actual business
operation.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

For the Reporting Period, an aggregate of 8,568,500 Shares
have been purchased by the trustee, Core Trust, under the
Share Award Scheme (Existing Shares) on the Stock
Exchange at a total amount of HK$37,507,735.00 in
accordance with the rules of the Share Award Scheme
(Existing Shares) and the terms of the trust deed.

Save as disclosed, there were no purchase, sale or
redemption (including any sale or transfer of treasury shares)
of listed securities of the Company by the Company or any
of its subsidiaries during the Reporting Period.

The Company does not have any treasury shares (as defined
under the Listing Rules) as at 31 December 2024.

Treasury shares presented in notes 24 the consolidated
financial statements includes shares acquired by trustees of
trusts set up in connection with share incentive schemes of
the Group, and does not fall within the meaning of “treasury
shares” under the Listing Rules.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Award Scheme (New Shares), during the
Reporting Period or subsisted at the end of the Reporting
Period, no equity-linked agreements, which will or may
result in the Company issuing shares or which require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares, were entered into by
the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principles of the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 81 to 110 of this
annual report.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules requires that at least 25%
of the total issued share capital of an issuer must be held by
the public at any time. Based on the information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge
of the Directors, the Company has, during the Reporting
Period and up to the date of this annual report, maintained a
public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued
shares as required under the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association or the relevant laws of the Cayman
Islands where the Company is incorporated which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of
the Shares.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s charitable
donations amounted to RMBO0.01 million (2023: RMB1.1
million).
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AUDITOR = EEm

The Company has appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers as A A FEZ IR ERUKEETIARAARR
the auditor of the Company for the Reporting Period. The ¥ BB X EA - AR R7E 8 & = &
Company has not changed its auditor during the past three  Bf & [E)8 B % #24Z BT -

financial years.

The other sections, reports or notes of this report mentioned X412 R ) AR SR & E {th S &0 - 3R & s b

above form an integral part of this Directors’ Report. T OBKAEEEREN—HD o
On behalf of the Board KREFE
Hua Bingru ERW
Chairman of the Board EERTE
Hong Kong, 27 March 2025 BB 20253 H27H
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance practices and business ethics, and
believes that they are essential to enhancing the efficiency
and performance of the Group and safeguarding the
interests of Shareholders. The Board reviews the Group’s
corporate governance practices from time to time to meet
the expectations of stakeholders, comply with regulatory
requirements, and fulfill its commitment to corporate
governance. The following sets out the corporate
governance principles adopted by the Company during the
Reporting Period.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance to safeguard Shareholders’ rights,
enhance corporate value, develop business strategies and
policies, and improve transparency and accountability of the
Company.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based
on the principles and provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code as amended from time to time, which are
contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. During the
Reporting Period, the Company has complied with the
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code, except for
the deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code during the Reporting Period and up to 29
August 2024. Pursuant to such provision, the roles of the
chairman and the chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Details of
this deviation are set out in the sub-section headed
“Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” below.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices
of the Company to comply with the Corporate Governance
Code and maintain high standards of corporate governance.
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CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

We focus on selling apparel and footwear products through
the third-party e-commerce platform and self-operated
online stores and endeavour to become a respectable global
fashion brand company that provides global consumers
satisfactory fashion products and services in a timely and
convenient manner.

The Group primarily focuses on its self-designed fashionable
apparel and footwear products. In the operation of
third-party platforms and self-operated online stores, we
realise one-stop commodity publishing, testing, precise
promotion, inventory allocation and intelligent customer
service through the self-developed digital operation system,
which maximizes customer satisfaction while improving
operational efficiency.

Adhering to the people-oriented management concept, the
Group acknowledges the importance of talents as its
primary productive force, and recruits talents based on
merits and capabilities without any restriction. An innovative
talent mechanism is adopted to stimulate their creativity. We
also emphasize and promote values of acting lawfully,
ethically and responsibly within the Group.

BOARD
() Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for overseeing the business,
strategic decision-making and performance of the
Group, and shall make decisions objectively in the best
interests of the Company.

The Board shall regularly review the contributions of
Directors in fulfilling their responsibilities to the
Company and whether they have devoted sufficient
time to perform their duties. The composition of the
Board reflects the necessary balance in the
Company’s ability to demonstrate effective leadership
and independent decision-making skills and
experience.
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The Board is responsible for fulfilling corporate
governance functions, including: (1) formulating and
reviewing the Company’s corporate governance
policies and procedures, and making
recommendations; (2) reviewing and monitoring the
training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management; (3) reviewing and
monitoring the Company’s policies and procedures for
compliance with laws and regulatory requirements; (4)
formulating, reviewing and monitoring codes of
conduct and compliance manuals applicable to
employees and Directors; and (5) reviewing the
Company’s compliance with corporate governance
rules and disclosure in the corporate governance
report. During the Reporting Period, the Board has
actively fulfilled its corporate governance
responsibilities. For specific implementation, please
refer to the disclosure in this corporate governance
report.

Composition of the Board

During the Reporting Period, the Board consists of nine
Directors, including four executive Directors, one non-
executive Director and four independent non-executive
Directors. As at the date of this annual report, the
Board consists of eight Directors, including four
executive Directors and four independent non-
executive Directors. The Directors are elected for a
term of three years and are subject to re-election.

The biographical and relationship of the Directors are
set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report on pages 28 to 42.

Mr. Chen Caixiong has confirmed that he (i) has
obtained the legal advice referred to under Rule 3.09D
of the Listing Rules on 29 August 2024; and (ii)
understands his obligation as a director of a listed
issuer under the Listing Rules.
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(iii)

Ms. Luo Yan has confirmed that she (i) has obtained
the legal advice referred to under Rule 3.09D of the
Listing Rules on 27 March 2025; and (ii) understands
her obligations as a director of a listed issuer under the
Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management”, there are no other significant
financial, business, familial or other relevant
relationships between the Directors.

Chairman and Chief Executive

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code, the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. During the
Reporting Period and up to 29 August 2024, Mr. Hua
served as the chairman of the Board and the co-CEO.

Mr. Hua is the founder of the Group, the chairman of
the Board and the co-CEO. He has been primarily
responsible for formulating the overall corporate and
business strategies and overseeing the management
and operation of the Group. The Board considers that
vesting the roles of both the chairman of the Board and
the co-CEO in Mr. Hua is beneficial to the business
prospects of the Group by ensuring consistent
leadership to the Group as well as prompt and
effective decision making and implementation. In
addition, given that: (i) decisions to be made by the
Board require approval by at least a majority of the
Directors; (ii) Mr. Hua and the other Directors are aware
of and undertake to fulfil their fiduciary duties as
Directors, which require, among other things, that he
acts for the benefit and in the best interests of the
Company and will make decisions for the Company
accordingly; (iii) the balance of power and authority is
ensured by the operations of the Board, which consists
of three executive Directors (including Mr. Hua), one
non-executive Director and three independent non-
executive Directors, and has a fairly strong
independence element; and (iv) the overall strategic
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and other key business, financial, and operational
policies of the Company are made after thorough
discussions at both Board and senior management
levels, the Directors believed that such structure will
not impair the balance and authority between the
Board and the management.

On 29 August 2024, Mr. Hua resigned as the co-CEO
and remained as the chairman of the Board. Mr. Chen
Caixiong has been appointed as an executive Director
and has been re-designated to act from co-CEO to
CEO on 29 August 2024. The Company no longer
deviated from the code provision of C.2.1 of the
Corporate Governance Code thereafter.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Reporting Period, the Board has complied
with the requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of
the Listing Rules by appointing at least three
independent non-executive Directors, among whom at
least one possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or relevant financial
management expertise.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has also
complied with the requirement under Rule 3.10A of the
Listing Rules that at least one-third of the members of
the Board should be independent non-executive
Directors.

Pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, each
independent non-executive Director has made a
written confirmation of independence. Ms. Luo Yan
who was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 27 March 2025 and had also
provided a written confirmation in pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules to the Company upon her
appointment. The Company considers all independent
non-executive Directors as of the date of this annual
report to be independent persons.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each Director has entered into a service contract (for
executive Director) or received a letter of appointment
(for non-executive Director/independent non-executive
Director) with a specific term of three years, which may
be renewed subject to mutual agreement and
compliance with the provisions of the Articles of
Association, and the applicable laws rules and
regulations.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, the
Company may from time to time, by ordinary resolution
at a general meeting, elect any person to be a Director
(including the managing Director or any other executive
Director).

In accordance with the Articles of Association, each
Director (including those appointed with a specific
term) must retire by rotation at least once every three
years. Retiring Directors are eligible for re-election. The
Company may fill any vacancy in such office resulting
from a Director’s retirement at a general meeting.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has a
service contract or letter of appointment which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

Board Meetings and General Meetings

The Board will hold meetings from time to time as
necessary, including regular meetings defined by the
Corporate Governance Code and other board
meetings. Prior to the meetings, appropriate notice and
board documents have been sent to all Directors in
accordance with the Articles of Association and
Corporate Governance Code. To facilitate flexibility,
the Board holds meetings as needed. In addition to
board meetings, senior management of the Group
provides information on the Group’s business activities
and development to Directors from time to time, and
the Board passes written resolutions as needed.
Furthermore, the Board has established the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the ESG Committee to
monitor specific affairs of the Company.

ZIBUYU GROUP LIMITED  Annual Report 2024

(v)

(vi)

EEZERER

BEEVEFURBALH (MERTT
TR EERE R (EIERNITE
£/BUFNTESR) BEPRE
=F -UEEHFRETERY  EA
NEEBERMAAIERERE
MAISOERHRE ©

BRERERNRE AR TRR
FAE L TREEBRERREE
AALAES (BEEFREERH
BHRFTEE) -

RIEAMEIRME - BEEE (B
DI TR ANES) AELE
SERERE—R - REEEHAE
HEREE - AR TEREAR
EREE B REEB RSB
HZE i -

B EXFIEEI  EEEER]
VAKETAIR—FARILEMBA
tEHBRE CXERERIN IR
MR -

EEEEBRRRAE

Exges (BREXEARTAMA
ENEReRIEMETEER) K
TRRELEREIT - RIFAWA
EEERTA  EER AR
BESHHLESSSRNEE AN
MEEEXH "RHTEEETSE
EXehARERSETEE KE
Fee@ AEESRERED
FRESEREEAREERELD
RERNER BEEFEECETE
FBAEmARZRR I BEFE
EXVEZEZES FWHZEE -
RAZESMRE HERERZE
Bg NERARAFESS-




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERKRE
All Directors, including independent non-executive FRES (BEBLIIENTES) A
Directors, bring extensive and valuable business EFZeFRKEZEEENREBK
experience, knowledge and expertise to the Board, BoABRER EAASUKE
enabling it to operate efficiently and effectively. ROt A o
On 16 December 2024, the Chairman of the Board held RN2024512716H - EF B X%
a meeting with independent non-executive Directors EE@%I;E%M?%%%?—}—}KTE%%
without the attendance of any other Directors. AtEFHFR R -
Notice of all regular board meetings must be given to FIARHAESERRNBHANE
all Directors at least 14 days before the meeting, to RBROMELTONREZE2RE
give all Directors an opportunity to attend regular S EEBRESSAMSHREENE
meetings and submit matters to be discussed on the A RIR 2 B SR AR A R A
agenda. As for other ad hoc board and committee SH-RHEERESENESE
meetings, reasonable notices are generally given to the BERRmE  ARB—REME

% A .
Directors by the Company. FELGEAXN

| H P 2B TE=o e
During the Reporting Period, each Director’s TE H:WAAA;§$ﬁF%%$Z?
attendance of Board meetings, meetings of % ZREFANBRAENRER

committees and general meetings is as follows: IR

Number of meetings attended in person/required to attend

RILE/ EELEEENY
Number of  Number of meetings of committees attended
Board LEZEEEENAY
General meetings Audit  Remuneration ~ Nomination
Meetings attended ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee
tEESE
REAE  EBNRE  BHZEE  EMZEE  RezZEE
Executive Directors #i7gs
Mr. Hua Bingru ERMEE 1 55  NAKER  NATER 22
Mr. Chen Caixiong'" RABAED NATNER 11 NARER  NARER  NATER
Mr. Wang Weiping THTEE 1/ 55  NATEE  NATEBR  NATEE
Mr. Dong Zhenguo ERALE 1 55  NAKER  NATER N/ATER
Non-executive Director FHUTES
Ms. Hua Hui® £t 1n 5/5 NATER NATER NAEF

Independent Non-executive BUFHTES

Directors
Mr. Yu Kefel ATREE 1 5/5 33 2 22
Mr. Shen Tianfeng itk 1 5/5 33 22 2
Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles HEAEL 1 5/5 33 202 20

2024F e FAERARRAA 87




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREARE

Notes Bt 5

(1) Mr. Chen Caixiong was appointed on 29 August 2024, (1) BRA % AER202458 H29H &
hence did not attend the Board meetings held on 8 ZE - Bk R E2024451 H8
January 2024, 27 March 2024, 29 May 2024 and 29 H - 2024F3 A27H - 202445
August 2024. FA29H Kk2024F8A29H M E =

B8E -

(2)  Ms. Hua Hui resigned on 27 March 2025. (2) FEELITM2025F3 27 BEHE °

Board documents and all appropriate, complete and %%@Y#M&Fﬁﬁiﬁﬁ? ‘ ?‘E%&

reliable information are usually provided to all Directors ASEHNBEENEERESSY

at least three days before each regular board or EHUEEEE miﬁéﬂﬁl E’“*?EL

committee meeting, allowing them to keep abreast of EERES  FESTHMARAN

the latest developments and financial status of the ﬁ%ﬁ@bﬁb&ﬁﬂ%ﬂﬁzﬁ I 1R FF e

Company, and enabling them to make informed ELEAHBERE -EMEBRAT &

decisions. In necessary cases, the Board and individual EERBEENA DRI LB LEE

Directors may also contact senior management BREIRE o

separately and independently.

The company secretary is responsible for keeping RAMEBRERTFMEBESERE

records of all board and committee meetings. Draft BEECEMNTRLE TRLHE

minutes of the meetings are usually circulated to the M—REREBRGRE —REER

Directors for comment within a reasonable time after FAREEEER  EF RN

each meeting, and the final version of the minutes is ER MR ERIDPLART

made available to the Directors for inspection. EE55H -
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(vii) Mechanism to Ensure Independent Views of

Directors

To ensure that the Board can obtain independent
views and opinions, our Company has established
various formal and informal channels whereby
independent non-executive Directors can express their
opinions in an open and candid manner, and in a
confidential manner, should circumstances require.

Independent non-executive Directors provide
constructive suggestions to the Board based on
objective judgment through formal and informal
channels to improve the efficiency and
decision-making of the Board. According to the rules of
proceedings of the Board, the views of independent
non-executive Directors shall be recorded separately
for resolutions which require independent non-
executive Directors to express their special views. If
the views of independent non-executive Directors are
inconsistent, their views shall be recorded respectively.
For resolutions which are required to be disclosed, the
views of independent non-executive Directors shall be
disclosed separately.

The Remuneration Committee is authorised by the
Board, at the Company’s expense but subject to prior
discussion with the Board on costs, to obtain external
legal or other independent professional advice if it
considers necessary.
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In addition, our Company implements an independent
non-executive Director system in accordance with the
rules of proceedings of the Board. Independent non-
executive Directors must be Directors who do not hold
any other positions within our Company and do not
have any relationships with our Company or its
substantial Shareholders that may hinder their
independence and objective judgment.

The independence of the independent non-executive
Directors’ shall be assessed upon appointment,
annually and at any other time where the
circumstances warrant reconsideration. Our Company
reviews the independence of each independent
non-executive Director from time to time. If any
changes in personal information are found that may
affect their independence, the Stock Exchange shall be
notified as soon as possible. The Nomination
Committee is authorised to review the implementation
and effectiveness of the assessment system annually.

(viii) Board Diversity

We recognise that Board diversity is an essential
element contributing to the sustainable development of
the Company. The Company has adopted the board
diversity policy in October 2022, which emphasizes
and provides that the Board diversity should be
considered from various perspectives, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, race, professional experience, skills,
knowledge, and tenure, when determining the
composition of Board members. All appointments to
the Board shall be based on the principle of
meritocracy, with objective criteria used to evaluate
candidates, fully taking into account the benefits of
Board member diversity.
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In 2024 and as at the date of this annual report, our
Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and skills,
including overall management and strategic
development, business operation, accounting and
financial management, legal compliance and sales and
marketing. They have obtained degrees in various
majors, including in electronic science, marketing and
planning, law, finance, management and accounting.
We currently have four independent non-executive
Directors with different industry backgrounds,
representing at least one-third of the Board. In
addition, our Board has a wide range of age, ranging
from 36 years old to 69 years old. For gender diversity,
one of our independent non-executive Directors and
both of the joint company secretaries are female.
Taking into account our existing business mode and
specific needs as well as the different background of
our Directors, we are of the view that the composition
of our Board satisfies our board diversity policy and
complies with the requirements under Rule 13.92 of the
Listing Rules. The Board aims to maintain at least the
current level of female representation, with gender
equality as the ultimate goal. If suitable candidates are
identified in the future, the Board will continue to seek
opportunities to increase the proportion of female
members.

The Board also recognises the importance of diversity
at the workforce level (including senior management).
As at 31 December 2024, the gender ratio in our
workforce for male and female employees were 32.9%
and 67.1%, respectively.

Further details in relation to the number of the
Company’s employees by gender as at 31 December
2024 are set out in the section headed “Summary of
Information on Sustainable Development” in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report.
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The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure,
size and diversity of members of the Board, and the
criteria for selecting non-executive Director (including
independent non-executive Director) candidates as
well as the board diversity policy, to ensure that the
Board composition was in compliance with the Listing
Rules throughout the year of 2024. The Nomination
Committee will report on the diversity of the Board’s
composition in the corporate governance report
annually and oversee the implementation of the policy.
The Nomination Committee will review the policy as
appropriate to ensure its effectiveness and discuss any
necessary amendments, which will be proposed to the
Board for approval. The selection of candidates will be
based on various diversity criteria, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, race, professional experience, skills,
knowledge, and tenure. The final decision shall be
made based on the merits and contributions that the
candidate can bring to the Board.

On 27 March 2025, Ms. Luo Yan, an independent
non-executive Director has been appointed as the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee in order to
fulfill the requirement of appointing at least one director
of a different gender to the nomination committee in
pursuant to code provision B.3.5 of the Corporate
Governance Code which will become effective on
1 July 2025.

Director Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a Director Nomination
Policy which sets out the selection criteria and
nomination process and aims to ensure that the Board
has a balance of composition, experience, expertise
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
Company and to enhance the Board’s decision-making
capability and overall effectiveness.
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The nomination process sets out in the Director
Nomination Policy is as follows:

Appointment of New and Alternate Directors

(@)

if the Nominate Committee considers that an
additional or alternate director is required, it will
identify suitable director candidates through
various means, including referral from Directors,
Shareholders, management, advisors of the
Company and external executive search firms.

after compiling a list of prospective candidates
and conducting interviews, the Nomination
Committee will, based on the selection criteria
and other factors it deems appropriate, draw up a
shortlist of candidates and make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration.
The Board has the ultimate authority to determine
suitable candidates for appointment as Directors.

Re-election of Directors and Nomination of
Shareholders

(@)

If a retiring Director, being eligible, offers himself
for re-election, the Nomination Committee should
consider and, if thought fit, make a
recommendation to the Board for its
consideration on the re-election of the retiring
Director at the General Meeting. A circular
containing the requisite information of the retiring
Director will be despatched to the Shareholders in
accordance with the Listing Rules prior to the
general meeting.

If any shareholder of the Company wishes to
propose a person for election as a Director at the
general meeting, he/she must submit to the
Company Secretary of the Company (1) a written
nomination of the candidate(s), (2) a written
confirmation from the proposed candidate(s) of
his/her willingness to stand for election, and (3)
the personal particulars of the proposed
candidate(s) as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules, by the due date set out in the
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()

relevant shareholder’s circular. Details of the
proposed nominee will be sent to all
Shareholders by way of a supplementary circular
for their information.

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the criteria for
assessing the suitability and the potential contribution
to the Board of a proposed candidate, including but
not limited to the following:

(@) Diversity in all aspects of the Board, including but
not limited to, talent mix, experience and
expertise;

(b) Business experience and Board expertise and
talent;

() Commitment to the Board;
(d) Initiative;

(e) Integrity; and

()  Independence.

The Nomination Committee will review the director
nomination policy from time to time and monitor its
implementation to ensure its continued effectiveness
and compliance with regulatory requirements and good
corporate governance practice.

Anti-Corruption Policy

The Company has established policies and systems
that promote and support anti-corruption laws and
regulations, which contains internal rules and
guidelines regarding best commercial practice, work
ethics, fraud prevention mechanisms, anti-negligence
and anti-corruption. We also carry out regular
compliance training to our senior management and
employees to maintain a healthy corporate culture and
enhance their compliance perception and
responsibility. Our staff can anonymously report any
suspected corruption incident to the Company.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report, we were not aware of any anti-bribery
incident by our employees in relation to our customers.

ZIBUYU GROUP LIMITED  Annual Report 2024

Bl o IR BB REANGES
AT B E % T 28R R
A2 ZE o

PR RE T RBREA
AEMRHEEREE A E
. BIEETRRATEE

(@ EZEFCZFEMNZTL 821
BRERRAREES - KBNE
MBS

b) EBERHRETETHENEN

© HEZgHRA:
d FpiE:
@ #E R
(f BMLIE-

REAZEERTERIEZTRANK
REEREBRBRL  UWERES
REBRTZARLBREERTE
RRFERERER

REZBE

RRBENY T HE M RETA
BIVERNBERGE HPES
TEBERERRED  BEER -
B S B HE )~ B 2 K R BREY B
MAIFIEET & - HPIEE IS &
=R EEE &8 TETHEI -
URFBRENEEXE  ERHEA
REBESNEE HANEITESR
AR REREEAISAR T EMF o

RBEHAARBEERFRAD -
{PIE N FE TP B TH R
FEBRBMEM -




(xi)

(xii)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The anti-corruption policy is reviewed and updated
periodically to align with the applicable laws and
regulations in relation thereto.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Company has also established a whistleblowing
policy and system for employees and those who deal
with the Company (e.g. customers and suppliers) to
raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with the
Audit Committee or the Board about possible
improprieties in any matter related to the Company.

No incident of fraud or misconduct that has material
effect on the Group’s financial statements or overall
operations for the Reporting Period has been
discovered.

The whisteblowing policy is reviewed annually by the
Audit Committee to ensure its effectiveness.

Remunerations of the Directors and Senior
Management

The Company has established a set of formal and
transparent procedures for formulating the
remuneration policy of the Directors and senior
management of the Group.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the Corporate
Governance Code, for the year ended 31 December
2024, details of the remuneration of senior
management (excluding Directors) by band are as
follows:

(xi)
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Number of
individuals
Range of remunerations FEE A
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 21,000,000/% 7T 7
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7t £1,500,000,% 7T 1

Details of the remunerations of the Directors are set out
in Note 34 of the consolidated financial statements in
this annual report.
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(xii) Continuous Professional Development of the

Directors

Pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of the Corporate
Governance Code, the Directors shall participate in
continuous professional development and enhance
their knowledge and skills. The Company provides
each new Director comprehensive induction materials,
including an overview of the duties of a director of a
Hong Kong listed company, the constitutional
documents and the Director’s responsibilities guidance
issued by the Companies Registry, to ensure that new
Directors are well aware of their duties under the
Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The company secretary provides written updates to the
Directors from time to time on the latest changes and
updates to the Listing Rules, corporate governance
practices and other regulatory systems, and arranges
seminars to explain the latest professional knowledge
and regulatory requirements related to duties of the
Directors.

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the requirements for continuous professional
development in 2024. Details of the training that the
Directors have received during the Reporting Period
are listed below:

(xii) EENFEBERE

REDFEE TR AR S
Clalk EFESHEFEFRER
28 W B FE K B BE - AT A
BRAETESRHEZENNTE
B BREESLMAREZBEM
2 - EEERXE M A R M %
HHEZREREL - BREBFE
SEFRRMAGRE EHRA R EM
EEMRTHRE -

NREMEINKAESTEmMER L™
MA BERERAERKEMEE
B2 s B M E R - MR PR
CEBERESTREZERNER

EERTENEABIR

BEMANEN2024F 0 BTHE
HEERET - UTHINESHSE
HRNEREIIZH15

Monthly Law and

Regulation

Updates and
Regulatory Professional
Dynamics training

BREEER
Name of Director EENA EFREEERE HEEI
Mr. Hua Bingru ERWNEE v v
Mr. Chen Caixiong BR 7 1 St A v 7

(appointed on 29 August 2024)  (R20244F
8H29H EZ(F)

Mr. Wang Weiping AEEEE v v
Mr. Dong Zhenguo BIREEAE v 7
Ms. Hua Hui =3 3 °Sn v v
Mr. Yu Kefei An AR A v v
Mr. Shen Tianfeng LB L E v/ v
Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles 2R E+ v 7
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(xiv) Securities Transactions Made by the
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct for securities transactions made by the
Directors. After making specific inquiries to all
Directors, they confirmed that they complied with the
provisions of the Model Code during the Reporting
Period.

Due to the fact that designated employees (including
senior management) may from time to time be privy to
inside information, the Company has extended the
scope of the securities code of conduct to include
such employees.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the ESG Committee (collectively
referred to as the “Board Committees”), each of which has
been authorised by and reports to the Board. The roles and
functions of these committees are set out in their respective
terms of reference. The terms of reference of each
committee will be reviewed from time to time to ensure that
they continue to meet the Company’s needs and comply
with the Corporate Governance Code as appropriate. The
terms of reference of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the ESG Committee are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee in
compliance with the Listing Rules and Corporate
Governance Code. During the Reporting Period, the Audit
Committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, being Mr. Yu Kefei, Mr. Shen Tianfeng and Dr. Lau
Kin Shing Charles. The chairperson of the Audit Committee
is Mr. Yu Kefei, who is an independent non-executive
Director, has appropriate accounting and relevant financial
management expertise and is appropriately qualified as
required under Rule 3.10(2) and Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules. On 27 March 2025, Ms. Luo Yan, an independent
non-executive Director, was appointed as a member of the
Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the Corporate
Governance Code. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to review and supervise the financial
reporting procedures, risk management and internal control
system of the Group, assist the Board to fulfill its
responsibility over the audit, and to advise the Board.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year, or at
such frequency as required under the Listing Rules or other
regulatory requirements applicable to the Company from
time to time.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held 3
meetings and considered the following resolutions
(including, without limitation): to consider and propose to the
Board for approval of the consolidated financial report,
results announcement and annual report of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023; to consider and propose to
the Board of the Company for approval of the unaudited
financial statements, interim results announcement and
interim report of the Group for the six months ended 30
June 2024; and to review the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control. In addition, the Audit
Committee also conducted audit planning meetings with the
auditors.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee
in compliance with the Listing Rules and Corporate
Governance Code. During the Reporting Period, the
Remuneration Committee consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, being Mr. Shen Tianfeng, Mr. Yu
Kefei, Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles. On 27 March 2025,
Ms. Luo Yan, an independent non-executive Director, was
appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee.
The chairperson of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Shen
Tianfeng.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the approach
under code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the Corporate
Governance Code to make recommendations to the Board
on remuneration packages of the Directors and the
members of senior management.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include,
among others, (i) making recommendations to the Board on
our policy and structure concerning remuneration of our
Directors and members of the senior management; (ii)
making recommendations to the Board on the specific
remuneration package of each executive Director and
members of the senior management; (iii) making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors; (iv) reviewing and approving
compensations payable to executive Directors and members
of senior management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual
terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive; (v) reviewing
and approving compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of any Director for his or her
misconduct to ensure that such arrangements are consistent
with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate; (vi) other responsibilities as authorised by our
Board; and (vii) reviewing and/or approving matters related
to share schemes as described in Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules. The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the
existing remuneration policies and structures, and evaluated
the performance of each Director during the Reporting
Period.
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The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once
annually or at such frequency as required under the Listing
Rules or other regulatory requirements applicable to the
Company from time to time.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee
held 2 meetings and considered the following resolutions
(including, without limitation): to review the remuneration
policies and structures; to review the remuneration
packages of Directors and members of senior management;
discuss the remuneration of newly appointed Directors, co-
chief executive officers and re-designated co-chief
executive officers.

On 27 March 2025, the Remuneration Committee held a
meeting to approve the recommendation to the Board
relating to the remuneration of Ms. Luo Yan as an
independent non-executive Director.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Nomination Committee in
compliance with the Listing Rules and Corporate
Governance Code. During the Reporting Period, the
Nomination Committee consists of four Directors, being Dr.
Lau Kin Shing Charles, Mr. Yu Kefei and Mr. Shen Tianfeng,
all being independent non-executive Directors, and Mr. Hua
Bingru, an executive Director. The chairperson of the
Nomination Committee is Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles. On
27 March 2025, Ms. Luo Yan, an independent non-executive
Director has been appointed as the Chairman of the
Nomination Committee in order to fulfill the requirement of
appointing at least one director of a different gender in the
Nomination Committee in pursuant to the code provision
B.3.5 of the Corporate Governance Code which will become
effective on 1 July 2025. Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles remains
as a member of the Nomination Committee thereafter.
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The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include,
among others, reviewing the structure, size and composition
of the Board annually, and advising on any changes of the
Board proposed in accordance with the strategies of the
Company; identifying, selecting or making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships; making
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating
to the appointment and re-appointment of our Directors;
assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and other responsibilities as authorised by the
Board. The Nomination Committee shall meet at least once
annually to discuss matters such as the structure, size and
composition of the Board. The Nomination Committee
believed that an appropriate balance has been maintained in
terms of the diversity of the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee
held 2 meeting and considered the following resolutions
(including, without limitation): to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board; to review the Director
nomination policy; to assess the independence of
independent non-executive Directors; to assess time
commitments of Directors; to make recommendations to the
shareholders’ meeting on the re-election of Directors; and to
nominate newly appointed Directors, co-chief executive
officers and redesignated co-chief executive officers.

On 27 March 2025, the Nomination Committee has held a
meeting to approve the followings for recommendation to
the Board:

() Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles, an independent
non-executive Director ceased to be the Chairman of
the Nomination Committee; and

(i) Ms. Luo Yan is nominated as an independent
non-executive Director, the chairman of the
Nomination Committee, a member of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee.
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ESG COMMITTEE

On 27 March 2025, the Board has established an
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Committee.
The ESG Committee is mainly responsible for reporting to
the Board matters relating to the Group’s environmental,
social and governance practices, as well as, subject to
approval by the Board, monitoring the formulation and
implementation of the Group’s vision, strategies, goals and
policies regarding ESG and climate related issues.

The ESG Committee comprises four independent non-
executive Directors, being Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles, Mr. Yu
Kefei, Mr. Shen Tianfeng and Ms. Luo Yan. The chairperson
of the ESG Committee is Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles. The
terms of reference for the ESG Committee and an updated
list of Directors and their roles and functions (including the
composition of each Board committee) has been published
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for supervising the overall
management, overseeing our strategic planning and
monitoring business and performance of the Group, as well
as exercising other powers, functions and duties as
conferred by the Articles of Association.

The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for
day-to-day operation of our Group to the executive Directors
and senior management of the Company. The functions and
power that are so delegated are reviewed periodically to
ensure that they remain appropriate.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has the ultimate responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and
is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of such
systems. The risk management and internal control systems
are designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of not
achieving business objectives and can only provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that there are no
material misstatements or losses. The Board, with the
assistance of the Audit Committee and the Company’s
management, monitors the degree of such risks.

The Company has adopted a series of risk management
policies, measures and procedures designated to provide
the management and staff of the Group with guidance to
identify, assess, handle, monitor and communicate on key
risks including strategic, financial, operational and
compliance risks as well as those relating to environmental,
social and governance performance and reporting. The
Board shall be responsible for assessing and determining
the nature and scope of risks that the Company is willing to
assume in pursuit of its strategic objectives. The Board
should oversee the management’s design, implementation,
and monitoring of risk management and internal control
systems, and ensure that the Company has put in place and
maintained appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems.

The Board shall monitor risk management and internal
control systems of the Company on an ongoing basis, and
ensure to review the effectiveness of the Company and its
subsidiaries’ risk management and internal control systems
at least once a year, and the results of which shall be
reported to the Shareholders in the corporate governance
report. The review shall cover all significant aspects of
control, including financial, operational, and compliance
controls. When conducting the annual review, the Board
shall ensure that the Company has adequate resources,
staff qualifications, and experience in accounting, internal
audit, and financial reporting functions, as well as sufficient
training programs for its staff. The Board has conducted a
review of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group during the Reporting Period through the Audit
Committee, and is of the opinion that the systems are
adequate and effective.
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During the Reporting Period, the Company has established
an internal audit department to carry out its internal audit
functions by assisting the Board to implement the Group’s
risk management framework. The internal audit department
is also required to review the continued connected
transactions (if any) periodically and perform sampling
inspections to ensure the internal control procedures were
followed. The work of the internal audit department will be
reviewed by the Audit Committee and the Board annually.

The risk assessment process of the Company consists of
five essential steps, mainly including establishing the risk
management philosophy and risk tolerance levels, setting
objectives, identifying risks, conducting risk analysis, and
evaluating risks. The Company shall consider the results of
the risk analysis in conjunction with its risk tolerance, so as
to maintain a balance between risk and return. By making
use of risk management strategies including risk avoidance,
risk mitigation, risk sharing, and risk acceptance, the
Company has achieved effective risk control.

In accordance with the applicable PRC and Hong Kong laws
and regulations, we have implemented measures with a view
to establishing and maintaining our internal control system,
including monitoring of operational processes, the
establishment of risk management policies and compliance
with applicable laws and regulations. In particular:

° our Directors have attended trainings conducted by our
Hong Kong legal adviser on the ongoing obligations,
duties and responsibilities of directors of publicly listed
companies under the Companies Ordinance, the SFO
and the Listing Rules and the Directors are also fully
aware of their duties and responsibilities as directors of
a listed company in Hong Kong; and

The Board has received confirmation from management for
the Reporting Period that:

° The financial records have been properly maintained
and the financial statements provide a true and fair
view of the operations and financial condition of the
Group; and

° The risk management and internal control systems of
the Group are effective and adequate.
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DISCLOSURE PROCEDURES OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company understands and strictly adheres to the
current applicable laws, regulations and guidelines,
including complying with requirements for disclosure of
inside information under the SFO and the Listing Rules when
conducting relevant transactions, as well as adhering to the
Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission. The Group has adopted
the inside information and insider management system,
established an authorization and accountability system in
respect of inside information as well as the handling and
publication procedures, and has communicated with and
provided specialized training on the implementation of
continuous disclosure policies to all relevant personnel. The
Board is of the opinion that handling and publication
procedures and measures in respect of inside information of
the Company are effective.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

All the Directors (except Ms. Luo Yan who was appointed to
the Board on 27 March 2025) confirm their responsibility for
the preparation of the financial statements of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

All the Directors (except Ms. Luo Yan who was appointed to
the Board on 27 March 2025) are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as
a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company
regarding their reporting responsibilities for the financial
statements is included in the independent auditor’s report
on pages 168 to 176 of this annual report.
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DIVIDENDS POLICY

Subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association and
without prejudice to any special rights or restrictions for the
time being attached to any shares or any class of shares
(including preference shares), any share may be issued with
or have attached to it such preferential, deferred or other
qualified or special rights, or such restrictions, whether with
regard to dividend, voting, return of capital or otherwise, as
the Company may by ordinary resolution determine (or, in
the absence of any such determination or so far as the same
may not make specific provision, as the Board may
determine). Any share may be issued on terms that, upon
the happening of a specified event or upon a given date and
either at the option of the Company or the holder of the
share, it is liable to be redeemed. The shares issued must
not be issued in bearer form.

The declaration of dividends is subject to the recommendation
of the Board and is determined and restricted by various
factors, including our business and financial performance,
capital and regulatory requirements and general business
conditions.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Reporting Period, the remuneration paid/
payable to the independent auditor of the Company,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, for the provision of audit service
and non-audit services are as below:
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B AT (R 2 B8 B ST BRER) 1R 4 A%
R AR BOR S T E A FE A 0 Bl & 4
THIR :

Fee paid/payable

B,/ ENEA
Services RMB’000
PR 7% ARET T
Audit service ZE R 2,737
Non-audit services® JEAZ BRSO 286
Total Bt 3,023

(1)  Including advice of annual transfer pricing strategies on
cross-border intra-Group transactions and other tax advices.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

We have appointed Ms. Zheng Huanxin (“Ms. Zheng”) as
one of the joint company secretaries. Ms. Zheng joined the
Group in September 2017 and has served as the legal
counsel of the Group since then. Ms. Zheng has extensive
knowledge about our business operations and corporate
culture and has extensive experience in matters concerning
the Board and our corporate governance. However, Ms.
Zheng does not possess the specified qualifications strictly
required by Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules. Therefore, we
have also appointed Ms. Yu Anne (“Ms. Yu”), who meets the
requirements under Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules, to act as
the other joint company secretary. For more details of Ms.
Zheng’s and Ms. Yu’s biographies, see the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” of this report.

Ms. Zheng is the primary point of contact of the Company
for Ms. Yu.

During the Reporting Period, each of Ms. Zheng and Ms. Yu
has taken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of an Extraordinary General Meeting
by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, the
Board may , whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary
general meeting. One or more Shareholders who together
hold, as at the date of deposit of the requisition, in
aggregate not less than one-tenth of the voting rights of the
Company (based on one vote per share) may also request
the convening of an extraordinary general meeting and/or
add any resolution(s) to the agenda of such a meeting. Such
a request must be made in writing to the Board or the
company secretary to request the convening of an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board deal
with any matter specified in the request. The meeting shall
be held within two months after the request is made. If the
Board fails to convene such a meeting within 21 days after
the request is made, the requesting Shareholder(s) may
convene the meeting in the same manner, and the Company
shall reimburse the requesting Shareholder(s) for all
reasonable expenses incurred as a result of the Board’s
failure to convene the meeting.
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Procedure for Shareholders to Propose
Resolutions at General Meetings

Pursuant to Article 65 of the Articles of Association, the
notice of the annual general meeting of the Company must
be issued in writing at least 21 days in advance, while the
notice of any other general meeting of the Company must be
issued in writing at least 14 days in advance. The notice
period does not include the day of delivery or deemed
delivery or the day of issue of the notice, and must specify
the location, date, time and agenda of the meeting, as well
as details of the resolutions to be decided upon. If there are
any special items (as defined in Article 67), the general
nature of such items must also be specified.

Procedure for Shareholders to Forward
Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders and investors who wish to make inquiries to
the Board regarding the Company may send such inquiries
to the headquarters of the Company at the following
address:

Address: No. 108, Xincheng Road, Nanyuan Street, Linping
District, Hangzhou City, Zhejiang Province, the PRC

Contact Person and Telephone: Mr. Wang Han, +86571—
86166396

Email Address: ir@zbycorp.com

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Company is committed to safeguarding the interests of
our Shareholders and believes that effective communication
with Shareholders and other stakeholders is crucial to
strengthening investor relations and promoting understanding
of our business performance and strategies.
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The annual general meetings and extraordinary general
meetings (if required) of our Company provides opportunity
for the Shareholders to communicate directly with the
Directors. The chairman of the Board will attend the annual
general meetings of the Company to meet and answer
Shareholders’ questions. The auditor of the Company will
also attend the annual general meetings of the Company to
answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the
preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.

The Board has adopted a shareholder communication policy
with an aim to ensure that Shareholders and potential
investors of the Company have timely access to
comprehensive, consistent and easily understandable
information about the Company. This enables the
Shareholders to exercise their rights with knowledge, and
also allows them and potential investors to engage actively
with the Company. The Company has a dedicated team
responsible for the management of investor relations. The
Company always places great emphasis on website
development and adheres to the information disclosure
requirements of the Stock Exchange, ensuring timely and
accurate information disclosure and the update and release
of various business updates and data in a timely manner.
The Company continuously improves its website pages in
accordance with the latest regulations of the Listing Rules,
enabling investors to keep abreast of the Company’s latest
developments. Detailed information on various business
operations of the Group as well as announcements on
interim and annual results can be downloaded from the
Company’s website. In addition to updating the Company’s
website in a timely and regular manner, the Company has
also set up an official WeChat account to facilitate easy
access to the latest update of the Company for investors.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of its shareholder communication policy during
the Reporting Period, and has established the investor
relations website, ir.zbycorp.com, as the communication
platform between the Company and its shareholders and
investors. The Company believes that its shareholder
communication policy has been effectively implemented.
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DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ON THE
COMPANY’S WEBSITE

To facilitate effective communication, the Company
maintains the website, https://www.zbycorp.com, which
provides information about our business development,
product center, investor relations and other information for
public reference.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has adopted the second amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association of the
Company (in substitution for and to exclusion to the existing
memorandum and articles of association of the Company),
passed by a special resolution of the Shareholders at the
general meeting on 13 May 2024, in order to facilitate
electronic dissemination of corporate communications in
accordance with the amended Listing Rules in relation to the
expanded paperless listing regime which took effect on
31 December 2023. The second amended and restated
memorandum and articles of the Company are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - -#HERERRE

1.

ABOUT THE REPORT

Introduction

Zibuyu Group Limited (“Zibuyu” or the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are pleased to publish the
third Environmental, Social and Governance Report
(the “Report”). The Report discloses the strategies,
measures and achievements of the Group in respect of
sustainable development, reporting to stakeholders the
Group’s latest environmental, social and governance
(“ESG”) performance.

This Report is prepared in accordance with the
mandatory disclosure requirements and “comply or
explain” provisions set out in Appendix C2
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide” (the “Guide”) to the Listing Rules issued by The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), and based on the reporting principles
under the Guide.

Materiality
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This Report has disclosed the communication channels with major stakeholders

and the process for identifying material ESG issues and the standards for

selecting these issues.
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Quantitative
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The statistical standards, methods, assumptions and/or calculation tools used for

ESG key performance indicators (“KPIs”) and related data in this Report, as well
as the sources of conversion factors, are described in the definitions of this

Report.
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Balance This Report presents the performance of the Group during the Reporting Period
impartially. It aims to avoid choice, omission, or presentation formats that may
influence readers’ decisions making and judgments.

1 RENMr MR T AEEREHANZTIERE - BRAlEe Mg
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Consistency The statistical methods used for the data disclosed in this Report remain

consistent with last year. Any changes will be clearly explained in this Report.
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Reporting Period and Scope

This Report covers the ESG works and various KPls
during the disclosure period from 1 January 2024 to
31 December 2024 (the “Year” or “Reporting Period”).
The disclosure scope of the social aspect in this
Report is the same as that in the annual report, while
the disclosure scope of the environment aspect covers
all our offices in Hangzhou in Zhejiang, Guangzhou in
Guangdong, Shenzhen in Guangdong, and Hong Kong
as well as all warehouses in Huzhou in Zhejiang and
Dongguan in Guangdong.

Reporting Languages

This Report is prepared in traditional Chinese and
English. In case of any discrepancies between the
Chinese and the English versions, the traditional
Chinese version shall prevail.
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Approval and Confirmation

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Group
assumes full responsibility for the contents of this
Report, and confirmed and approved the contents of
this Report on 27 March 2025.

SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE

Zibuyu understands that a sound governance structure
provides a solid foundation for a company’s
sustainable development strategy. While developing
our own business, we do not forget to conserve
resources, protect the environment, and assume
corporate social responsibility. We expect to improve
operational efficiency, safeguard shareholders’ rights
and interests, fulfill its sustainability commitments and
meet the expectations of various stakeholder groups
by continuously optimizing its ESG policy and
governance structure.
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2.1 Statement of the Board

The Board has the highest supervisory authority
over the overall ESG work, and is responsible for
identifying, evaluating and managing the Group’s
ESG and climate-related matters, as well as
overseeing the direction of ESG development and
strategic planning. At the same time, the Board or
the Audit Committee is also responsible for
considering, prioritizing and reviewing major ESG
issues, climate change related risks and
opportunities, and regularly reviewing and
monitoring the performance of ESG and climate
related issues as well as the progress in achieving
targets. During the year, we reviewed the
progress of the environmental targets set to
ensure that they are in line with the Group’s
sustainable development strategy.

To further ensure the implementation of the ESG
strategies, the Board has specially established a
dedicated ESG working group which is
authorized by the Board and is responsible for
developing management policies, strategies,
objectives, and tasks of ESG and climate-related
issues. Under this top-down sustainability
governance structure, the Group aims at
enhancing professional management of ESG
matters, ensuring that the Group makes
substantial progress in terms of sustainable
operation and social responsibility. On 27 March
2025, we will establish a dedicated ESG
Committee, comprising four independent
directors of the Company, and will disclose more
details of its work in future ESG reports.
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2.2 ESG Management System 2.2 ESGEREZ
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The ESG governance system of the Group
consists of the decision-making level,
organizational level and executive level. The
Board functions as the decision-making level that
oversees the management policies, strategies,
objectives and the works of ESG and e BRREAREEEEEEN
climate-related issues of the Group. The ESG RESGT{E/NMARIBEFITE -
working group (including the senior management) B RERSHBIFI®T
is responsible for formulating, promoting, and ESGHEBABE L IIE - A TR
supervising the implementation of ESG-related REEWESGE RAEBMBE
policies and work in various departments. The HREE -

following diagram illustrates the ESG governance

structure and responsibilities of the Group.

Decision-making level
REE

The Board
g

Organizaional level (ESG working group)

A= (ESG TE/4E)

The office of the secretary
to the Board, human resources center,
administrative management center,
finance management centre

B - ADERFPD
THREEPL - BBEEH O

Executive level (Departments)
AT (F3BFI)

Merchancise center, sales center,
product center, human resources
center, administrative management
center, finance management centre,
information technology center
AR - HEHRL ~ ERFO
ADERPO ~ THREERHD -
BEER O - FERMTR

establishing and overseeing the ESG risk management and internal control
systems;

R BB ESG A B IR RN EP BT F AT

regularly reviewing and supervising the performance and progress of ESG and
climate-related issues and objectives; and

TE B R N BB ESG MR R ZEEN R IR L BIREREE + &

delegating authority to ESG working group.

W ESG TiE/ NMEEIRE S -

reviewing and monitoring the ESG and climate-related policies and practices of
the Group;

I8 I BEE A B ESG MR R BUR R EH8

coordinating, promoting and supervising the implementation of various ESG and
climate-related policies in different departments; and

A R HEB), W ERERR-EPFIETT R T ESG FISRIRAERAECK ¢ &

regularly reviewing and supervising the performance and progress of ESG and
climate-related issues and objectives.

T BT M B2 B ESG A RUIR AR RARE RO 3 & B AR ERGEE -

organizing, promoting and implementing various ESG and climate-related works
according to the ESG and climate-related management policies of the Group;
RIREE ESG MARAERIMNE IR & + 4848 - HE#E 1T H ESG MRIEAEE
T :

collecting and reporting the ESG and climate-related internal policies and
systems as well as the ESG-related performance indicators; and

sk Ko - #R ESG MRRARRIEY M BEBBUR - %1/ & ESG HERERIER « &
reporting to the ESG working group regularly.

TEHAM ESG T/ NMAESR ©
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2.3 Participation of Stakeholders

The Group attaches great importance to
communication with various stakeholders. During
the Reporting Period, we proactively understood
the concerns of stakeholders about the Group’s
operations through diversified communication
channels, and at the same time, we selected
targeted responses according to the expectations
and requirements of different stakeholders, and
maintained communication with various sectors
of society, so as to enhance mutual
understanding and trust, and to ensure that our
management of sustainable development is in line
with the expectations of the public. The following
table lists the Group’s major stakeholder groups
and the corresponding communication methods
and frequencies.

\

23 FHESHE

AEE+OEREZRKNEN
B MEHN - HfIEB%
TR BRREBEE THED
EHAEEELZNRIEE
R R IE TR (D& M L H
BROBEEBHHEUENERES
A REFELESRNER
FEUL IR AR B IR AR AT - FE
REMANAFERREENTS
RZHVHIFF - PRI TARE
B E Za D E B IANAERE
BB A AREK -

Communication

Major stakeholders Expectations and demands  Major form of engagement frequency
EBHHE HERER XL EVES BEAE
Customers o Quality of products and ~ Complaints and feedbacks on Regular
EF services services
o EmKRBEE PR A o e T8
Visits by customer relationship Regular
o Health and safety of manager
products and services ~ RFEBEEERD b
o EmNRBHNEEREZZ  Emall Regular
8 hat-i
o Protection of customer  Customer satisfaction survey and Regular
privacy opinion form
o EPRLKE EPmEEHEMER K -t
Customer service centers and Regular
hotlines
RF R OMELER hat-i
Online service platforms Regular
BERBT A EH
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Communication

Major stakeholders Expectations and demands  Major form of engagement frequency
TEHHE HEEER FTEZEAA BERAXR
Shareholders/investors . Business ethics Annual general meetings and other  Irregular
BRR/BREE o HEERE general meetings
BRREAFASHAMREAE A EH
o Impact of business Interim reports and annual reports Regular
activities on the R R i EH
environment Company announcements Irregular
o EBWEPURBERNY QARARE N iEH
g Shareholder/investor visits/reverse  Irregular
roadshows
o Employment compliance FRE/HEELBETE,/RAKE TTH
. BHRAT Results announcements/results Regular
presentations
Investor meetings Irregular
REEGH A EH
Employees J Employment relations Employee opinion surveys/channels  Regular
§T and communication with  for employees to express their

employees opinions (such as forms and
ERBERETER  suggestion boxes)

EIBRAE/BIREERNEE ©H
Rights and interests of ~ (X1% * BEAMAZ)

employees Performance assessment and Regular
IR interviews

TERBRAZRER i
Employment compliance  Seminars/workshops/forums/group  Regular
aHRAT discussions

Wie/ Ty BE/ MR TH

Comprehensive training ~ Staff communication meetings/staff ~ Regular

and development activities

system ETEBAE/BIEY i

TERIIEEEEZ  Business briefing Regular
FBER £ 5

Employee health and Volunteer activities Regular

safety Z159 EH

EIREREZ2

Remuneration and
benefits

FEEA

2024F e FAERARRAA 117




118

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

i%iﬁ N ?i%&%q/ﬁ

HE

Communication

Major stakeholders Expectations and demands  Major form of engagement frequency
TBHDE HIRBR FESENA BEAE
Governments/regulatory ¢ Rights and interests of ~ Regular submissions of information ~ Regular
authorities employees EHEERX et
B/ EERE o EBIEsm Inspections and supervisions Regular
BEED EH
o Employment compliance  Engagement in community activities  Irregular
s  AKRRI 2EMREH e H
Company website/company Irregular
o Employee health and announcements/social media
safety platforms
o EIRERH RARM,/ DRADE/MREETE TEH
Seminars/workshops/forums Irregular
o Developmentofgreen &I &,/TiEsh,/ R e 8
community Donation Irregular
s  REZEHRE Rt T
o Engagement in public
welfare and volunteer
activities
o BENKEERTRELY
o Health and safety of
products and services
o  EmfBEmRREZ2
Suppliers o Supply chain Supplier management procedures Regular
HER management HENEEREF EH
. HEHERE Meetings Regular
EE E 8
o Prevention of corruption ~ Assessment systems for suppliers/  Regular
and violation risks contractors
o  hEESERRR Y ASYEES AR E 5
Face-to-face communications Regular
¢ Health and safety of EHERTER hat:t
products and services  Site visits Irregular
o EmiRBHREEZE: BHAR T EH
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Communication

Major stakeholders Expectations and demands  Major form of engagement frequency
TERNE HEEER FTEZEAA BERAXR
Mass media o Rights and interests of ~ Press release Regular
B employees A E R et
o BIEsx Senior management visits Regular
BRERABNE T8
o Impact of business on  Results announcements Regular
the environment E3- YN ki
o EBURBEENMNYE  Mediainterviews Regular
EHERD EH
o Engagement in public
welfare and volunteer
activities
o  BELNREERTEEY
Peers o Business ethics Strategic partnership program Irregular
EES s  BFER RIS IEIER T EH
Communications conference Irregular
o Intellectual property BBAE A EH
protection Meetings Irregular
o MBERRE EE T
Exchange visits Irregular
o Impact of business ERE NEH

activities on the
environment

o EREHHRBENNY
%5
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2.4 Analysis of Material Issues

The Group conducted a materiality assessment
analysis based on the materiality principle to
identify issues that have a significant impact on
the Company. With reference to the disclosure
obligations under the Guide, the materiality matrix
of the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board
(the “SASB”) and approaches adopted by our
peers, we ultimately summarized 24 material
issues applicable to the Group’s business,
including 6 issues of significant materiality, 14
issues of moderate materiality and 4 issues of
general materiality. During the year, as there was
no significant change in the Group’s development
strategy, the Board confirms that the identified
materiality issues and the materiality assessment
results are still applicable, and our ESG
performance will be disclosed in this report based
on these issues. Going forward, we will continue
to monitor industry trends, proactively identify
ESG issues that may be of relevance to the Group
and update our materiality assessment to serve
as a guide in formulating our ESG strategy and
approach.

ZIBUYU GROUP LIMITED  Annual Report 2024

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE -#HEREBHRS

24 EEMHZEREDN

AEERBEEZHRAETT
BEEMFTEINT - MEEEHA
AEBREXENZE - &M
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(Sustainability Accounting
Standards Board ' [SASB])
MEZMREE  WREER
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Materiality assessment

EEMBEEDN
Significant materiality Moderate materiality General materiality
BEEER HEER -REZE
° Protection of customer privacy and e Waste discharge management ° Climate change

data security o ERMHNEE . R
o REXPEANEEZZ

o Energy consumption management Greenhouse gas emission

. Protection of customer rightsand ~ ® R EFEER . BERBHR

interests
REE=RE

Product design and lifecycle
management

EmRtREGEHHER

Anti-corruption and integrity
building
REBHNRZER

Packaging material management
BEMHER

Employee training and development
BTHIIERR

Sustainability management of
supply chain
HERNTRHEERER

o Rights and benefits of employees
. BTRHEER

o Occupational health and safety
. RERFEZ S

o Employment compliance
o ARER
o Employee diversity and inclusivity

. BT hasnt

o Product quality and safety
s  EmBEH%ZE

o Intellectual property protection

o HENZERE

Responsible marketing and
promotion
. AEMLEHESE

o Operation compliance
. BREE

o Risk management
o BRE

o Product research, development and

innovation

o EnFEEAH

o Consumer relations

o HEEMA

2024F E 5

Water resources use management

KERERERE

Community and public welfare
HtRENS
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OPERATION COMPLIANCE

As a company specialising in the sale of self-designed
fashion apparel and footwear worldwide, we are
committed to providing a convenient, high-quality
shopping experience to global users through
third-party e-commerce platforms and self-operated
online stores. In line with the Group’s mission “To
provide global consumers satisfactory fashion
products and services in a timely and convenient
manner”, in our sales operations, the Group leverages
digital operating systems to offer one-stop product
services, enhance operational efficiency and customer
satisfaction.

3.1 Quality Management

The Group adopts an omni-channel e-commerce
sales model to strengthen product management
and continuously monitor and optimise the quality
of its products. Through major third-party
e-commerce platforms and self-operated online
stores, we offer products to countries and regions
worldwide, including but not limited to the United
States, Germany and France. We strictly abide by
the relevant laws and regulation of the sales
destinations, including but not limited to the
Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of
China KR ZEARKFMEE @ E 8)%)), the
Product Liability Law ({ZE @ & £%)) of the
United States, the German Law on Product
Safety ((Z= @ % £ %)) and the German Product
Liability Law ({#2 [ g2 & £)%)). The Group has
implemented a comprehensive set of quality
control standards and inspection criteria, both at
the supplier selection stage and at the production
and delivery stages. During the Year, we have set
up a series of product and service quality
objectives, aiming to regulate the relevant
departments of the Group, raw material suppliers
and garment suppliers to have clear and definite
standards on production quality, so as to ensure
that the quality meets the requirements of the end
market.
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The Group has established a quality control
system. The Inventory Management System ({1%
EE %l E)) sets out specific operational
procedures for receipt of goods, with the aim of
regulating the management and control of
inventory, ensuring products remain safe and
intact before delivery to consumers, and
improving operational efficiency. During the
acceptance process, we verify the goods
received against the acceptance slips and
conduct quality check. We also verify whether the
goods match the acceptance slip in terms of
model, specifications, color, packaging, physical
condition, validity period, ensuring that the goods
meet requirements before they are stored.
Furthermore, we have implemented a re-checking
and packaging step, where inspectors scan each
product code to ensure consistency between the
goods and the order, avoiding errors such as
incorrect product selection and ensuring the
accuracy and quality of the goods. This Year, to
regulate the quality sampling standard for
inventory and enhance quality control capabilities
of suppliers, thereby promoting the healthy
development of the supply chain, the Group has
formulated rules for sampling incoming goods.
We conduct monthly sampling of suppliers, with a
standard being two incoming goods per sampling
and four samplings per month. The goods are
graded based on quality inspections, and
suppliers who fail to meet the standard will face
warnings, order reductions, or suspension of
cooperation.

RE - #HERELBRS

REBREY TEERHIR
RCEEEEGHIE)FIIR T K
BEEBMRIESE - 5ER
HUHEFENERMZEH - #BR
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K -BEY ARHPFEREF
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AE - ZPIRKREEZRITE
TR ERABRTEEERME
o fm S - MR m AT E —
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KEBR  ARERmaED
EREEMESETH - AFE -
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To ensure our apparel and accessory products
comply with relevant laws, regulations and
consumer requirements of the target sales
countries or regions, we have established strict
internal quality standard documents and
implementation procedures. We strictly limit our
production standards and utilise stringent testing
and specification criteria to ensure quality. Our
internal system details inspection requirements,
including the need for testing by specified
organisations, random sampling, and the need for
testing of various parameters such as fibre
content, colour fastness and chemical properties.
We require suppliers to provide a complete and
qualified inspection report issued by a designated
inspection agency before shipping bulk orders.
Any reports that are non-compliant or involve
omissions during inspection are considered
unacceptable and will not be shipped. The
Mismatch Control Rules ((& I ¥ i & 2= #7 81))
promulgated during the Reporting Period further
helped us to regulate the standardisation of our
products and the standard output of data and
information from various departments in our
product centre to ensure consistency of product
versions, thereby enhancing customer experience
and product strength.

ZIBUYU GROUP LIMITED  Annual Report 2024

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE -#HEREBHRS

AR R HAPT A AR 5 AR 6 EE am 1
& B RHERR IR A ER
RRERABEEBK - 3
HE T BRAR R A AR E BREX
HFMITIRF o T AP BRAR AR
EmEERE - W AHERER
AR ERERERERE
£ - RMIR R BEDHIZ F A0 A
TRRER  BREFEHETE
HRAETRS - B - A
EHEB2BNEHESE &
FEEMCEEEARANTE °
TR RAE L KGR L
RTEM B 8 TE AR AR h ELEY
BRTERARE  EALE
RBRROBEGRESTE
B B THE -RBEHAR
B CE T EIREZR A E
—SERPEMAREL T ERNT
RO IA R B dn 0 & BRI B Y
SEMBZRER L - AERRE
— 2 fEmiET EF A R R R
HEmMN -




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Furthermore, we meticulously control the
materials in our domestic warehouses,
standardizing the management and inventory of
various materials to ensure the accuracy of
accounts and cost control. Under the established
multi-level management structure, the warehouse
manager, as the primary person in charge of the
warehouse, has full authority over the control and
management of materials. We require clear
management responsibilities for all materials and
the ability to accept supervision and inspection
by senior management. In daily operations,
materials must be readily verifiable and
transferable to ensure product safety, reduce
losses, or human-incurred damage. The Group
has also formulated inventory regulations,
including material classification tables, inventory
accuracy targets, inventory report requirements,
and regular spot checks. To improve goods
dispatch efficiency and optimise processing
process, we have also established the Express
Order Warehouse Operational Requirements ({1
REREEEEBRIEZER)), to ensure the
processing time of sales orders is minimized and
go all out efforts to guarantee that goods are
shipped on time. We place a strong emphasis on
the efficiency of the express orders, require
critical steps after the express orders arrive at the
warehouse, including quality inspection,
collection and storage, and require all these steps
be completed within 24 hours, to ensure their
timely and accurate shipment. Taking into
account all the measures described above, our
strict management of production quality provides
a reliable guarantee for ensuring product quality
and user experience.

During the Year, the Group did not recall any
products due to safety and health reasons.
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3.2 Customer Service

Consumer satisfaction

Consumer satisfaction is our greatest motivation
for continuous improvement. We are committed
to creating quality customer service and strictly
comply with laws and regulations related to
consumers in all regions where we operate,
including the German Civil Code ({12 B &% 1)),
the Consumer Protection Act (CHEBEREL)) of
France, and the Consumer Protection
Regulations ({8 & & {R [Z )% #8)) of Japan, to
ensure the best experience for our customers
throughout the shopping process. We utilize the
consumer complaint channels featured on
individual platforms, on which complaints are
initially handled by relevant customer service
teams before being passed to the seller’s
customer service team for follow-up handling. For
our self-operated online stores, we have
developed and operated an independent
management system to receive customer
complaints, which allows us to respond to
customer inquiries and complaints as soon as
possible. We also have a customer service hotline
in place.

ZIBUYU GROUP LIMITED  Annual Report 2024

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE -#HEREBHRS

3.2 EFIRK%

HEEBEE

HEEN MBS RMTEE
FRRARE N - ZMBAORET
ERENEPRY - BI8EST
FEELSHEHEEEMBNR
7 EREEN(EERE
B) ZFEMCOEEERE
) BARMCOE & & REE
B)E BREFEEMBRE
TESKENRR - RAFE
FEARFRIUABEEERGHER
B WFREFeERETRE
2 BHERERETRER
B o W B IHET - B M@
B BIENEE RS
BB - FROBEZPE®H
K Er - R R IREAR -




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

We have developed internal customer service
procedures to ensure that customer complaints
are handled in a timely and proper manner, and to
provide quick answers to questions that
consumers may have during the service process.
Once we receive customer complaints, we will
promptly contact the customer to understand the
relevant issues and propose solutions wherever
possible. Complaints regarding logistics, product
size, color, product quality and other issues will
be reviewed individually based on the reason for
the complaints as well as other factors, with
appropriate solutions for refund or compensation
devised. To prevent similar issues from recurring,
we hold regular internal discussions to review
complaints and take necessary improvement
measures, and continue to optimize our user
complaint handling process. Furthermore, we
place attention to customer service performance
on e-commerce platform backends, and
encourage customers to leave reviews for
monitoring and continuous improvement.
Through digital systems, we use keyword
searches and monitor customer feedback, such
as comments on fabric, accessories and styles, to
generate reports for our design team’s reference,
aiming to further upgrade and improve our
products.

During the Reporting Period, we did not receive
any significant complaints regarding our products
or services.
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Data and privacy protection

The protection of data and personal information is
critical to the safe and compliant operation of the
Group. We strictly comply with the laws and
regulations applicable to each of our operating
locations, including but not limited to Personal
Information Protection Law ({{E A {5 B (R #& %))
and Data Security Law (&35 % & %)) of China,
the EU General Data Protection Regulation ({E{&2
BAHSEREIKD D)), German Federal Data
Protection Act ({{= BB F ik (R & )%)), and the
Act on the Protection of Personal Information
(KA A& EBHREE)) of Japan. At the same time,
we have established a comprehensive data
security management system and formulated the
Data Security Procedures and Standards (&%
% & 7t 12 #7 #3)), Backup Solution and Policy
Management ({8 A X XK EE)) and
System Security Management System ({ R % &
EIE H E)), which cover the security
management of backup media, data
confidentiality management and data recovery
management, ensuring the secured storage of
backup media, and provide specific methods to
protect the Group’s hardware, software and data
from being damaged by malicious activities,
safeguarding the security of our information
operating systems and databases. We strictly
manage the encrypted data backup and recovery
processes for confidential media to ensure data
integrity and security. Meanwhile, with reference
to the data security laws of the PRC and other
relevant countries, we have emphasised in our
Data Security Procedures and Standards (&%
% & 7t 12 7 &1)) that personal data should be
handled legally, reasonably and transparently,
and that employees are prohibited from handling
special categories of personal data privately. We
require our employees to adhere to every detail
and requirement of the entire policy, ensuring that
the Group follows the highest standards in data
processing and security management.

ZIBUYU GROUP LIMITED  Annual Report 2024

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE -#HEREBHRS

BIEERE

HIEAEAE BREHRARE
ENLZ2aHEEEWEE -
BMBEEETEANSEL
BEEEER  BREEATRR
P EAEAEEREE R
(BEL2ZE). (RBERAH
BAREGG), (EEIEFBEE
REE). BARMEAEZRMR
ERFE B RFESLT
EENBELEEERS I
FIETCBEZERZHEH)
ERFTEERBEERE) &
(RRLE2ERHE)  HEH
NEENLZ2ER « BUERE
ERMBBEREEESHE
BREMEBHNZ2FME I
RETREASENEHF - &
HHEEEXEEEEBFIED
BBEH % REERQ RS BIRIE
EFEMEIBENZE - K&
BER ST H BN IR TEE
BHHMREBE - UBREE
MEBEMZ 2N - R - &
M2ZHhE R ABE R E R
TEER  WEEZE2RE
ME) PR T HEAERA
HITEE AENBRENERRE
JREI - SRR R A A R
HEIFETHAERE - KME
kB TEFREREGHNTELH
A EK - MRS B EE
BREMZ2ERE T HERRD

T
e .




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

In addition, the Group has established a robust
network and information security incident
emergency response mechanism, and
implemented the Emergency Management
Measures for Network and Information Security
(KBBEGFEELZE2ESEIEIIE)). We have
detailed classifications and gradings for network
security incidents, including harmful program
incidents, network attacks, information
destruction, equipment malfunctions and more,
emphasizing principles of unified leadership,
tiered responsibility. Our management principles
are the standardized command, close
coordination, rapid response and
prevention-focused approach, ensuring that we
can handle network and information security
incidents in an orderly, swift and efficient manner.
This approach fully enhances our employees’
emergency response capabilities and ensures the
security of our network information systems.

During the Year, we did not encounter any
significant incidents of information leakage, theft,
or loss of customer data.

Responsible marketing

As a responsible company, we uphold trust and
integrity to build long-term stable and good
relationships with consumers. The Group strictly
follows the French Consumer Code (CEBH & &
% B1)), the Act against Unjustifiable Premiums
and Misleading Representations ({“~& 8% 5 &
& & =B IE%)) and the Act on Specified
Commercial Transactions ((#FE B %X % /%)) of
Japan, and other marketing-related regulations.
Our sales department has formulated the
Standards of Product Descriptions and
Advertisements ((E AL A EE S EHRE)) to
ensure transparency in marketing and
promotional activities.
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3.3 Anti-corruption and Integrity Promotion

The Group is committed to building a clean and
upright working and operating environment in
strict accordance with integrity-related laws and
regulations such as the Company Law of the
People’s Republic of China ({F % A R H£FE A
A])%)) and Anti-Money Laundering Law of the
People’s Republic of China ({& & A R £ E &
£ 87%)). The Group has established the
Anti-Fraud Management System ({2 Z£ 3£ % 12 %
[£)), the Audit and Supervision System ({5t &
22| £ )), the Guidelines for the Management of
Gifts with Integrity ((F&218 i & E % 81])) and the
Guidelines for the Management of Acceptance of
Gifts and Premiums ({40218 mmER G E IR 2ERI)) to
strengthen the specific aspects of the Company’s
internal governance and risk control, and
established effective communication mechanisms
to prevent any misconduct. We adopt a zero
tolerance for embezzlement, corruption and
fraud, and we strictly prohibit any misconduct on
the part of our employees, including bribery,
illegal use of company assets and transaction
diversion. By actively monitoring the
anti-corruption legislation relevant to the Group’s
domicile and product release regions, as well as
the legal and regulatory changes related to our
business operations across different locations,
we have formulated the Anti-money Laundering
and Counter-Terrorist Financing Internal Control
System (%t # 0 = R4 B & A 56 12 il 1 2 )),
clarifying specific operational steps for customer
identity verification, transaction monitoring and
reporting of suspicious transactions to ensure
that our business activities are not used for illegal
funds or supporting terrorist activities. The Group
actively implements due diligence, establishes
suspicious transaction reporting mechanisms to
better understand our customers, monitor
transaction activities, and promptly identify
potential money laundering or terrorist financing
anomalies, effectively reducing potential legal and
financial risks.
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Employees, suppliers and partners are
encouraged to report irregularities to the audit
department through proper channels. We pledge
to maintain strict confidentiality of whistleblowers
and whistleblowing contents, strengthen the
protection and reward mechanisms for
whistleblowers, and promptly investigate
violations. Upon receipt of a report, the audit and
supervision department is required to follow the
process stipulated in the Case Investigation
Management Guidelines ((Z {4 38 & & 12 % A1)
for acceptance, investigation, qualitative
judgement, claim, and enforcement of sanctions.
The investigation and handling of cases adheres
to the principle of separation of powers, checks
and balances, and the relevant processes are
respectively handled by the audit and supervision
department, the human resources center, the
legal affairs department, and the business
department, and are carried out in a coordinated
manner. If the report is proved to be true after an
internal investigation, the whistleblower will be
rewarded with a cash commendation. The results
of fraud cases are reported to the Audit
Committee and appropriate remedial measures
and penalties are taken. In terms of encouraging
employees’ participation in integrity-building, the
Group has organised integrity training including
anti-corruption, anti-money laundering and other
topics covering Directors, management and
ordinary employees. During the Year, in addition
to offering anti-corruption training on “Strictly
Adhering to the Professional Bottom Line and
Practicing Integrity (8% <7 % %K 47 ~ BRI RRZ K
%)” for new employees, we also organised an
integrity promotion event themed “With Respect
for Law and Integrity With Me (LAZK 8542 « BRIE
A #)”, with over 100 participants at the
management level. By talking about enterprise
financial risk avoidance, external contract risk
avoidance, enterprise criminal offence prevention
and anti-fraud knowledge, the event effectively
enhanced the awareness and capabilities of
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i%iﬁ N %i%&%q/ﬁ

3.4

wE

Directors and management in security prevention,
comprehensively fostering a compliance and
integrity corporate atmosphere, and laying the
foundation for maintaining the Company’s
security and stability. During the Year, a total of 5
Directors, 305 management and employees
participated in anti-corruption training, with an
attendance rate of 63% among Directors and
30% among employees, totalling 107 training
hours.

During the Year, there was not litigation or cases
of corruption and fraud against the Group or our
employees.

Internal Risk Control

To continuously refine our Group’s internal risk
identification and assessment, we have
formulated the Risk Management Policy (/& k&
#IfZ )) based on the requirements of the Listing
Rules of the Stock Exchange, relevant laws,
regulations, rules and the Company’s Articles of
Association and internal policies, taking into
account actual circumstances. This aims to keep
risks within tolerable level,
Company’s operational effectiveness and
efficiency, and prevent significant losses.

enhance the
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We have clearly formulated and implemented risk
management strategies to ensure business
activities are conducted within controllable risk
boundaries. By establishing risk management
communication channels, we ensure timely,
accurate and complete information sharing.
Relevant departments and business units are
responsible for regular self-inspection of their risk
management efforts and reporting the same to
the audit department. The audit department is
responsible for supervising and evaluating each
department and business unit, and submitting
evaluation reports to the Audit Committee. We
continually focus on initial internal and external
information related to the Group’s risks and
conduct comprehensive identification and
analysis of strategic, market, operational, financial
and legal risks. For the dynamic management of
risk information, we conduct regular or irregular
risk assessments to re-evaluate new risks and
changes in existing risks. Looking ahead, the
Group will continue to promptly adjust its risk
management strategies to ensure stable
operation and sustainable development.
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3.5 Intellectual Property Protection

The Group recognises that intellectual property
rights are the foundation that underpins the
sound development of its business. We strictly
adhere to the Copyright Law of the People’s
Republic of China ((f 2 A K H 1B & 1E#E%)),
the Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China
(R E A RLMBEEZFL)), the Trademark Law of
the People’s Republic of China ({F £ A R HAE
712 7%)), and the laws and regulations of the
United States, the European Union and other
countries regarding the intellectual property
protection. In order to standardize the
management of intellectual property rights, we
have established a comprehensive
anti-infringement management mechanism,
including the establishment of a product
compliance department focusing on identifying
potential infringement risks. Through adjusting
product designs or promptly delisting potential
infringing products, we swiftly address potential
infringements. In order to strengthen our staff’s
knowledge of intellectual property protection, we
urge our operations teams and designers to
conduct training on infringement prevention and
brand value protection. By engaging professional
intellectual property legal advisers, they are able
to assist us in handling disputes and litigations
related to intellectual property rights at any time.
We also enter into confidential agreements with
our OEM suppliers, specifying that they are not
allowed to keep, use or leak our designs to third
parties. These measures aim to safeguard the
Group’s intellectual property rights, ensuring the
long-term value and market reputation of its own
brand, and avoiding intellectual property
disputes.

As at the end of the Reporting Period, we had
more than 350 registered trademarks.
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3.6 Sustainable Supply Chain

Based on the nature of the Group’s business,
maintaining the stability and sustainability of the
supply chain is critical to achieving high quality
and efficient business operations. In line with
relevant national laws and regulations and in light
of our own operating performance, we have
established a comprehensive set of supplier
management systems, including “Whole Life
Cycle Management Process for Supplier of
Finished Goods (Akmn it /& = A ap B HIE 2R
#2))”, “Supplier Performance Management
Standards ((ftfE R4 B IR 4E))” and “Order
Scheduling Rules of Supply Chain Centre ({ & i
A0 E] B HE B 4R A1 ))”, etc., to promote the
continuous optimisation of products and services
of the suppliers that we cooperate with and to
enhance the motivation of cooperation between
both parties. These systems cover our practices
relating to the supplier selection, audit,
registration, maintenance, modification,
evaluation and elimination, emphasizing legal and
compliant operations and clarifying the
responsibilities of various departments. By
continuously optimizing its comprehensive
supplier management processes, the Group
expects to be able to better control potential
supply chain risks and ensure supplier
compliance, thereby providing consumers with
quality products and services.
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To achieve sustainable supply chain
management, the Group has established a supply
chain relations department responsible for
communicating with suppliers. We utilize the
“Seven-Star Collaboration System (+ £ # [/ &
#t)” to manage data related to the digital
operations of the supply chain. For regular
supplier evaluation and screening, we have
developed a Supplier Evaluation Form (/& i 5T
{f2%)) to ensure the selected suppliers meet our
quality, management and regulatory standards,
and we will take corresponding measures based
on the evaluation results. By investigating and
evaluating suppliers’ defect rates, delay rates and
other performance indicators, we can gain a more
comprehensive understanding of suppliers’
operational status, promptly identify issues and
communicate with suppliers, ensuring the
transparency, stability and efficiency of our
supply chain. During the Year, the Group
optimized the Supplier Performance Management
Standards ({ffE& P& 3 E EIF %)), with an aim
to regulating performance appraisal standards,
building a digital supplier performance
management platform, achieving dynamic
supplier performance management, evaluating
the performance capability of existing suppliers in
a more comprehensive, objective and effective
manner, promoting the continuous optimization of
the supply chain resources, and enhancing the
performance of the apparel and footwear
suppliers.
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In addition, identifying and addressing the social
and environmental risks of suppliers is an
important part of sustainable supply chain
management. We prioritize the development and
engagement of suppliers who can offer
environmentally friendly products and services,
such as products made from recycled materials,
products suitable for recycling and products that
are more durable. At the same time, the Group
requires suppliers to comply with the “Product
Center Integrity Guidelines ({ZE & 1 /0 & B %
BJ))” and has opened a supplier reporting
channel to monitor suppliers for risks such as
child labor and forced labor among suppliers to
ensure the legality and compliance of our supply
chain. Finally, we are also concerned over
supplier’'s employee welfare, including providing a
healthy and safe work environment, fair
compensation, reasonable working hours and
holidays, which are crucial for protecting
employee rights. These inspections and
management practices can help the Group
effectively reduce social and environmental risks
in our supply chain, promoting sustainable supply
chain management.

During the Year, the Group had a total of 426
suppliers, including OEM suppliers, IT service
providers, logistics service providers, payment
service providers and advertising agencies. The
distribution of our suppliers by region is as
follows:
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Northern China region 2[R 17
Eastern China region ERH[E 92
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EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS

The Group adheres to a people-first, talent-based
philosophy, believing that a professional and united
workforce is the key to supporting the prosperity and
sustainable development of an enterprise. We attach
great importance to the compliance, fairness and
reasonableness of our employment relations, and are
committed to building an equal, inclusive, harmonious
and safe workplace environment for our employees,
providing diversified career development platforms and
communication channels, continuously optimizing our
remuneration, benefits and entitlements, fully attracting
and retaining high-quality talents, and effectively
safeguarding the legitimate rights and interests of our
employees and the Group.

4.1 Human Resources Management

We strictly comply with the Labor Law of the
People’s Republic of China ({#& # A F £ 715 4
&) %)), the Labor Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China ({F#E A R £AFMBE L & FE))
and other laws and regulations concerning human
resource management in the places where we
operate, and optimized internal policies such as
the Zibuyu Group Employee Recruitment
Management System (( F T 1E3&H B THRIEERE
#1/Z)) and Employee Handbook ({ & ZFfit)), to
establish a good working order and code of
conduct. The Group insists on equal employment
and always follows the principles of open
recruitment, equal competition, merit-based
selection and internal priority. We undertake not
to discriminate against candidates based on
gender, ethnicity, region, marital status, or other
differences. Our recruitment process is carried
out in @ manner of “unified policy and hierarchical
management”, whereby the Human Resources
Department formulates a unified recruitment and
hiring policy while each department, branch and
warehouse is responsible for the specific
operation and management. During the Year, the
Group’s key manpower tasks included advancing
systematic recruitment processes and recruiting
executive trainees.
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The Group strictly prohibits forced labor. Based
on job categories, we implement standard
working hours and, if overtime is necessary due
to work requirements, it shall be subject to the
employee overtime procedures. Overtime must be
reasonably arranged by department managers
based on work progress, and overtime without
approval or incomplete approval procedures is
not allowed. Personnel officers must do a written
review and verification of the materials provided
by the employees to avoid recruiting child labor
and to ensure the fairness of employment. If any
violation of forced labor or child labor is found,
we will immediately take measures to eliminate
such behavior and terminate the relevant contract
with the employee. We will also investigate the
cause of the violation to avoid recurrence of
similar issues.

In order to continuously optimize the structure of
human resources and standardize the
management process of employee changes, the
Employee Handbook ({& T F1fft)), Promotion
and Demotion Management Measures ({& & &k
B I231:%)) and other systems have clarified the
specific operational standards related to
promotion, demotion and internal transfer, so as
to ensure the fairness and transparency of the
Company’s internal human resources
management. In addition, the Board Diversity
Policy ((ZE =& K 8 % st{L B %)) developed by
the Group aims to set out the approach adopted
by the Board of Directors of the Company to
achieve diversity of membership. All
appointments to the Board are made on the basis
of meritocracy, and consideration is given to the
Board diversity from various perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, race, professional
experience, skills, knowledge, and tenure.
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As at the end of 2024, we had a total of 1,025
employees, with the distribution structure as
follows:

Number of employees by gender

RUEBIESHET AR
337
(32.9%)
(67.1%)
® male female
S pegis

Number of employees by geographical region
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HZE2024F K HPIHEBEET
1,025% » EI 0B NT -

Number of employees by age group
RERAERZSNETAH

445

(0.8%) (43.4%)

(55.8%)

® aged below 30
30BRA T

aged between 30-50
30-507%%

aged above 50
50884 £

Number of employees by rank

RBEIWETAY RERESHNETAY
734 896
(0.3%) (71.6%)
8 (87%)
(1%)
(28.1%) (1%)/ |
(11%)
@ in eastern China © in southern China ~ in other regions @ short-term @ full-time junior
M TR MR (including Hong Kor contract/part-time 2B
Macau and Taiwan) BHAH, R
H = . ) . .
S full-time middle full-time senior
/51 FESEE SR A
(BIFERA) management management
2R REERE 2RSREERE
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4.2 Remuneration and Benefits

The Group implements employee compensation
management and various basic welfare policies
through the Employee Handbook (( & TFf)). In
addition to offering market competitive
remuneration, we also determine compensation
based on employees’ specific abilities,
contributions and responsibilities, taking into
account market conditions. The Group actively
implements various employee welfare policies,
offering benefits beyond statutory holidays,
including marriage leave, maternity leave,
compassionate leave, paternity leave, perfect
attendance awards, service length awards, social
insurance, health check-ups and festival gifts,
and has purchased additional commercial
insurance covering accident, critical illness and
medical insurance, comprehensively supporting
employees’ work and life.

We motivate our employees by rewarding them
for their performance and contribution in different
ways. In accordance with the Employee
Performance Management Measures (( & T4 &
S 12 ¥15%)) newly promulgated during the Year,
performance management follows the principles
of openness, objectivity, two-way communication
and timeliness. Assessments are conducted
quarterly, and assessment criteria primarily
includes the practice of core values, specialized
tasks and quarterly key tasks, and daily work. The
application of results includes, but is not limited
to, bonus distribution, promotion evaluations, and
personnel optimization. In terms of bonus reward
system, we have in place management
performance awards, performance awards,
innovation awards, excellent suggestion awards,
etc., with amounts determined by the contribution
of the project to ensure that employees’ efforts at
the Company are duly rewarded.
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4.3

In addition, the Group announced that it would
implement a 4.5-day workweek from February
2025, making the workplace a joyful experience
and stimulating employees’ passion for work and
creativity with freedom.

Training and Development

We attach great importance to the growth and
development of our staff. To promote the Group’s
talent pipeline construction, we provide diverse
training and learning opportunities to improve the
overall quality and professional skills of our
employees, working together to achieve strategic
goals and sustainable development. Through the
establishment of the Human Resources Training
and Development Center (A /7 & R 55 3l % &
1»), we have developed various courses covering
topics such as management sequence,
professional skills, general capabilities and the
construction of a learning organization, as well as
employee care courses such as legal awareness
lectures for women and anti-fraud lectures. For
new employee training, we invite executives to
conduct job rotation exchanges. We also conduct
capability enhancement training for senior, middle
and junior staff with the objective of “managing
oneself, managing others, managing teams”, to
improve the leadership of the management,
promote cross-departmental collaboration.
Looking ahead, the Group will invest more and
better resources to provide a fertile ground for
talent development and enhance the core
competitiveness of our talent.
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Details regarding the training for employees of the RNEE - NEE B TIHIIEE
Group during the Year are as follows": Rt

Average
Percentage of training hours
employees per employee

Category trained (hours)
58 B2 A

FIET FHRE

Hhl B (/N BE)

Male 31.39% 4.20

S

Female 68.61% 5.90

g

Short-term contract/part-time employees 2.41% 0.40

REER, #BES

Full-time junior employees 50.28% 3.20

ERBOKRET

Full-time middle management 33.94% 12.00

ZRPRER

Full-time senior management 13.37% 16.60

ZRERER

L Percentage of employees trained in this category = Number of employees trained in this category - Total

number of employees trained X 100%.
L ZHERMEIXIBED L = ZEANEIRIAZ + XNETHEAZ X 100%
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4.4 Occupational Health and Safety

The Group attaches great importance to the
management of occupational health and safety,
and always protects the physical and mental
health of its employees with the highest
standards in its offices and operations, and fully
integrates the concepts of health and safety into
each and every aspect of its operations, with the
objective of providing every employee with a safe
and comfortable working environment while also
raising their awareness of occupational health.
We strictly comply with relevant laws and
regulations such as the Fire Control Law of the
People’s Republic of China ({/ % A R H£ F1EH
B773%)), the National Security Law of the People’s
Republic of China ({/ # A R H£AEI %22 2% )) and
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases
(K AR KT BB 5% F5 04 %5)). We have
formulated a series of internal policies on
occupational health and safety management, and
established regulations for occupational health
and safety matters in office premises.

According to Safety Management System ((&Z &
& 12 %] £ )) established by the Group, all
employees must follow a series of safety
regulations during the production process in
warehouses, including assigning full-time or
part-time safety personnel, requiring new
employees working at plants shall attend safety
courses or pass an examination before
participating in production, providing training and
assessment for special operation personnel, and
ensuring equipment maintenance, signal and
safety devices are complete. The system also
emphasizes safety measures for working at
heights and dangerous locations, and the proper
management of flammable and explosive
materials to ensure the safety of employees and
equipment during production.
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In the area of emergency management, we have
formulated the Emergency Evacuation Drill
Instructions ((E& = & 808 & 5§ & )), which
provides guidelines for the evacuation actions of
employees in emergency situations. Employees
safely evacuate to assembly points via
designated routes, and department managers
conduct personnel counts. By issuing these
guidelines, we expect employees to remain calm
and respond effectively in emergency situations,
ensuring the safety of our personnel. Moreover, to
strengthen and standardize the fire safety
management of the Company, prevent fires and
minimize fire hazards, we have formulated the
Warehouse Fire Emergency Plan ({2 & SE B fE =

78 Z£)). In the event of a fire, we command
employees following the emergency response
plan, promptly integrate human, material and
information resources for organized control and
firefighting efforts and prevent delays and loss of
control, minimizing casualties and property
damage. In addition to emergency measures, the
Group will invite firefighting personnel to conduct
training and practical drills to ensure employees
understand the operation of fire extinguishers and
self-rescue equipment. Furthermore, we have
established post-fire accident management and
investigation procedures to comprehensively
ensure employee safety and normal operations.

In the past three years (inclusive of the reporting
year), the number of employees who died from
work-related incidents per year and the rate of
work-related fatalities per year were zero. In
2024, the number of days lost due to
work-related injuries was 9.
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5. GREEN DEVELOPMENT

As a responsible enterprise, the Group conscientiously
adheres to environmental laws and regulations such as
the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China ({42 # A R A MBI R IFR#E X)) and
the Law on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste ({[& §& k& ¥1)5
FIRIELTIAE)). We actively assume our responsibility
for environmental protection and fully integrate the
concept of green and sustainable development into
every aspect of our strategy and operations, striving to
advance our environmental management efforts. To
clarify the direction of our environmental management
and enhance efficiency, the Group has established
environmental goals in three key areas: energy use
efficiency and greenhouse gas emissions, water
efficiency, and waste generation. We continuously
monitor progress toward these goals and actively
advance the achievement of the goals, contributing to
environmental protection and addressing global
climate change.

BREeRE

ER—RBEEENDEE  AREAB
BET(PEARAMBERE RE
=) (ERREMSRRIRINAE)F
EIRBHEBRARAN - BHEE
REREET BSHEUHERRE
HIESRNBAREEEEES
M EERE  BHESHRREET
1F - RAMASERREIENT A
TieEEBRER  REEFZ TR
—EASIBHIRERIR - MEREM
Mk Mo E RPN - AR
NEEEWEL  WRHEERB RN
ER - BREERFRNERTE

RRERBEAREE2HRRRE(
BERNE -

Scope Target
i) BE
Energy use efficiency and o striving to reduce the electricity consumption per revenue

greenhouse gas emissions

BEIRfE A s Mo = RBEHE

generated by us by 5% by 2026 compared to 2022
115 52026 F B M 2 4 #) B L 2 WHE B 8 82022F T [#5%

° striving to reach approximately 50% of installment of LED
lighting system in our warehouses and offices in the
following five years

s NFERRLFARMNEERPRAZELEDRARGLEE
E 2 %950%

Water efficiency o striving to reduce the water consumption per revenue
FA 7K Rz generated by us by 5% by 2026 compared to 2022

o NIFEF|2026F FMEEM B EWFEKEE2022F T [£5%
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Scope Target
g BE
Waste generation ° striving to reach approximately 20% of our OEM suppliers

BEMEL

using environmental-friendly packaging materials in the
following five years

o NBEEARAKRAFERNZEL20%HOEMELIEREFERRERBEM

#

° striving to reach approximately 80% of all products sold by
us packaged in recyclable packaging materials in the

following five years

o NFERKREFNERIHEHEERPO80% KA E

WBRMHER

As a key player in the cross-border e-commerce
industry, the Group’s direct environmental impact from
operational activities is limited. Nonetheless, we are
committed to implementing various resource
conservation and emission reduction measures to
minimize our operational environmental footprint. We
achieved our environmental targets regarding energy
use efficiency and greenhouse gas emissions during
the Year, with electricity consumption per revenue
decreasing by 20.48% compared to 2022. We will
continue to take measures to balance business growth
with environmental protection, striving to achieve the
goals set for water efficiency and waste generation as
soon as possible. We have reviewed the established
environmental goals during the Year and will continue
to monitor progress toward these targets in the future.

HRASENETEEBEBREER
TE2EE AUBRMNEREE
BEREKNBRRETZERR - AMm -
BISEEESEE R L ROREE
B UBRDEEREANIRRR
B o AEE - WPVEK T BEIRFE R
e Mo ERBEBHEM A EMNIERRE
12 BAERGEESEK2022F %
20.48% - B MG EE L HHFEE
M FEEBERERBERE  F
R REREAKKIEMEZYE
EREMILHMBEZE - AFE - &
MERBEILAIREE R - KRN
SREZNEZRERIBNR -
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5.1 Use of Resource

We advocate for green office practices and
implemented multiple measures related to energy
and resource conservation, aiming to reduce our
resource consumption in office operations. We
divided the office into multiple lighting zones with
independently controllable switches, and
maintained clean lighting fixtures and lamps to
maximize energy efficiency. Meanwhile, we
actively improve energy utilization by promoting
low-carbon technologies, such as purchasing
new energy vehicles, using centralized control
and monitoring systems for heating and cooling
systems, regularly inspecting and replacing
pressure gauges to reduce the likelihood of
refrigerant leakage. Compared to last year, our
electricity consumption has decreased by 24.6%
during the Year. We will continue to review our
business chain, striving to improve electricity use
efficiency and reduce consumption in the coming
year.

Water resources management

The Group actively implemented water-saving
practices, such as posting water-saving
reminders in washrooms and using faucets with
water-saving labels to cultivate water-saving
awareness and habits among our employees in
their daily lives. The Group’s primary water
source was municipal water supply during the
Year, and we encountered no issues in obtaining
suitable water for daily operations. Compared to
last year, the Group’s total water consumption
decreased by 34.1% during the Year. We will
continue to review our business operations to
reduce water consumption and conserve
resources in the coming year.
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Waste management

The Group recognizes that waste management is
crucial for environmental protection. Given the
nature of our business, our production uses
packaging materials such as cardboard boxes
and plastic bags. During the production process,
we strictly implement environmental policies,
such as collecting and recycling reusable
packaging, increasing the use of paper packaging
bags that meet transportation standards instead
of woven bags and transitioning to biodegradable
cardboard boxes. The Group minimizes the use of
non-biodegradable packaging materials to avoid
irreversible damage to the environment.
Meanwhile, we have introduced the delivery
mode of “full container shipments” to avoid over
packaging in the delivery mode of “less container
load” and waste of packaging materials.

In the office, to properly handle hazardous waste,
we collaborate with qualified third-party
companies to recycle old computers and other
electronic waste, facilitating resource recycling.
For non-hazardous waste, we encourage
employees to minimize the use of disposable and
non-recyclable products, and through proper
waste sorting, we enhance the efficiency of
resource recycling and reuse, thereby alleviating
environmental impact. Additionally, we also
advocate for paperless green office practices,
introducing electronic office systems to replace
traditional paper records and financial
reimbursement processes. We have also begun
implementing electronic contract signing and
encourage employees to print double-sided and
to reuse paper when printing documents, thus
reducing paper demand. Compared to last year,
the Group’s packaging material usage has
decreased by 10.80% during the Year.
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5.2 Responsing to Climate Change

The Group fully understands that climate change
and its associated physical and transition risks
pose significant impacts on both the environment
and business operations. To address
climate-related risks, we performed assessment
to actively identify and manage potential risks and
consequences arising from climate change, and
have implemented corresponding mitigation
measures. Looking ahead, we will continue to
closely monitor climate trends, as well as national
policies and developments in addressing climate
change, to further refine our climate-related
action plans.
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5.2 B¥RIRB L

REBZRM  [IRBCRELT
A E R [RS8 A | B A
%%ﬂm%iMﬂEWXTﬁ
PENTE - BT EHERIEMNE

B - FPIETT TRHE - A
B BRI M E RS ERIRE(
WREEERRIANRR - I

BE T HBEN B REERE -
RERE IS EEZ
ARIRBR - A NBEIRERE

RARE LT R BER R R E)
RERBIEF M —Hx

ERMHRIEABETEE -

Risk Potential outcome Countermeasure
g BEER EHEE
Acute physical risk ° Electricity as the main source of o holding emergency drills and training

— Extreme weather
such as storms,
hurricanes, or floods

é‘ifﬁﬁiﬂ R — 2 O
M BRE - FotkE
S Pt

energy for operation may be

the places of our operation;

ﬁ

. It may lead to supply chain
instability or even disruptions;

o THEEHHEEIRE EE

-

o [t may have an impact on

maritime and air shipping, which
may in turn affect the timeliness

and safety of our international
freight transport.

. MY EBETE FYERMN
IR & )38 i M A B Y

e o
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affected, which in turn may affect

ENMEREEMNIERRARS
RIPE AMPELERMNE

regularly;

o TEHEMESERTIIR

° formulating contingency plans for
service instability/interruptions and
enhancing the ability to recover swiftly
after disasters;

o HRTRBTETERERRE - Wk
KEBREEES

° maintaining electronic versions of
relevant documents as backups, and
backup data storage centers should
be located in separation places;

o RERBNXHNEFRAAERD 6
RBEFRTOERERN

° introducing suppliers from multiple
channels and regions to mitigate the
risk of disruption from reliance on a
single channel or regional supplier.

o SIEZRE - TRREMAER WA
LE-REFE B HERNRLEH
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Risk
BRI

Potential outcome

BERR

RE - #HERELBRS

Countermeasure

i¥apyi

Chronic physical risk
— Rise in sea level,
longer-term changes
in climate patterns
(e.g., persistent high
temperatures)

eHERAR - BTE
I BRRENE
IREAEE (fIE

)

Transition risks — Policy
and regulation

BURR - BRIER

Consistent high temperatures
may have an impact on the
indoor environment and
workplace conditions (such as
warehouses), which may in turn
affect the health of employees
who work in these environments;
RENRREYEBENRENT
fEEmGEG (MR E) @ KMz 2
TEGEME TMERE

Impact on normal production and
operation, increase in operating
costs.

TELREERS BEKAE
e

Compliance costs may increase.

BRKARIEAD -

implementing effective on-site safety
management and monitoring weather
conditions in a timely manner to
promptly transfer relevant personnel
and equipment to safe locations if
necessary.

MEREZ2ER  REBIXRE
b REFIEEET REEBIZ

BH

tracking the latest legal and regulatory
developments regarding climate
change and integrating them into our
management strategies;
ERRFNEBRIERRCNERER
YEAHNERRED

strictly adhering to environmental laws,
regulations, and industry standards in
the location of operation.
BRETELMEMNRRER &R
RITERE
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Risk Potential outcome Countermeasure
BB gt BRAR B i
Transition risks — ° Existing cooperative ° disclosing the Company’s greenhouse

Reputation
BRER - BE or the ability to attract new

partners may be diminished;

o BWERBAGZHRHIBRIIHN

BEBH N ;

. Competitive advantage may be

lost compared to peers with
better sustainability
performance;

o HAURERREENRTHLE

RERFERSD

o Operating expenses may
increase.

o EEXMEM-
PUBLIC WELFARE

In order to fulfill its corporate social responsibility,
while striving to expand its business development, the
Group has always been mindful of the need to feed the
society with practical actions and actively participated
in various social welfare and charitable activities,
aiming to build solid and long-term relationships with
different stakeholders in the community. During the
Year, the Group participated in the “Name of Love,
Warmth for Tanabata (A & 2 % * 158 £ £)” charity
event and donated a total of RMB10,400 to the Red
Cross Society of Linping. In addition, a total of three of
our employees participated in a charity event to
console the police officers of the Public Security
Bureau. Through these activities, we expect to
contribute to the well-being of the people and improve
their living quality, and join hands with all sectors of the
community to move forward on the path of sustainable
development. Going forward, we aspire to continue
aiming for social responsibility and making
contribution, assume actively social responsibilities
and care for the communities in which we operate.
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arrangements may be damaged

gas emissions data and efforts in
low-carbon operations in the ESG
report to actively maintain the
corporate image;

EESGHET ARBEEARIREREH
BB RERIEE S A EMMLE
N BREERETR

communicating with stakeholders on
the sustainability measures that the
Group has implemented.
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APPENDIX I: SUMMARY OF INFORMATION [fit— A EREHERFE
ON SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

The following is the summary of information on sustainable A T2 A F EAE B IRIFEEHE A58
development of the Group in environmental aspect during ZEEEHEE

the Year:

Environmental aspect?® Unit 2024

RIGEIR2S B 20245 E

Greenhouse gas emissions

BEREBHR

Scope 1 emissions Tons of CO, equivalent 0.00

#[E 18K RS E S

Scope 2 emissions Tons of CO, equivalent 667.83

#[E 28K RS E S

Total greenhouse gas emission Tons of CO, equivalent 667.83
(Scope 1 and scope 2)

RERBBEIRAE (BE1M2) AW S biE 8

Greenhouse gas emission intensity (Scope 1 and 2) Tons of CO, equivalent/square 0.01
(per square meter) meter

BERBHNEE (BE172)(8FHK) RSB EE K

Greenhouse gas emission intensity (Scope 1 and 2) Tons of CO, equivalent/ 0.65
(per employee) employee

BERBHRTE (SBE1M2)(BRETL) AE—EftEE BT

Greenhouse gas emission intensity (Scope 1 and 2) Tons of CO, equivalent/million 0.20
(per million of RMB of operating income) of RMB

RERBHNEE (BE1F2) RS E S
(BEEBTARBEZREAN) BETARK

2 Reference is made to “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix II: Reporting Guidance on Environmental

KPIs” of the Stock Exchange for the calculation of air pollutant and greenhouse gas emissions of the Group.

2 B2EBRIMIAARERE HEREAWE — Wik RERRERERERES IFFEAKEENE
ROTRYBER SR E REEHER

8 The environmental aspect covers all of our offices in Hangzhou, Zhejiang, Guangzhou, Guangdong, Shenzhen,
Guangdong and Hong Kong, as well as all of our warehouses in Huzhou, Zhejiang and Dongguan,
Guangdong. The operations in Qianshan, Anhui Province and Xiamen, Fujian Province have been closed in
2023.

s RESROBRBEREEESF/BALOIIRMN - BREMN - BRRIN - MEBNABERLIE - ARALH
MAMERRZHMERE - TBEL BREMNESEHSN2023FZMEH -
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Environmental aspect?® Unit 2024

RIGEIE2S B 2024 FE

Use of resources

BERER

Energy consumption

BE RO 3%

Total energy consumption kWh 1,244,564.00

BEREFRE R

Purchased electricity consumption kWh 1,244,564.00

SNEBHFERE T BB

Purchased electricity consumption intensity kWh/square meter 15.22
(per square meter)

SNBENRBTE (8T 7HXK) FREFHK

Purchased electricity consumption intensity kWh/employee 1,214.21
(per employee)

INEBEHRERBE(BRET) FTRE BT

Purchased electricity consumption intensity kWh/million of RMB 374.29
(per million of RMB of operating income)

INBENRETE (BABTARBEEZERA) TEE BETARE

Gasoline consumption Litre 0.00

FUHFERE NI

Water consumption

KEFE

Total water consumption cubic meters 17,854.60

FKEE SR

Water consumption intensity (per square meter) cubic meters/square meter 0.22

KRB E (8T 77 K) A \ VB OV

Water consumption intensity (per employee) cubic meters/employee 17.42

HKBE(BRETI) MAK/BT

Water consumption intensity (per million of RMB of cubic meters/million of RMB 5.37

operating income)

FKZEE(BASTARBEZEA)
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Environmental aspect?® Unit 2024

B 5 B RS20 By 20245

Waste

BEZEY

Non-hazardous waste

BEBEEY

Non-hazardous waste produced Ton 302.48

BERZEYELS NI

Non-hazardous waste intensity Ton/million of RMB 0.09
(per million of RMB of operating income)

BREEZEVTE (BEETAREERKA) R/ BETARKE

Non-hazardous waste recycled Ton 167.77

BEEZEEYEWE NI

Hazardous waste produced*

FERRYELR"

Laptop computers Unit 20

E-EGVN a

Monitors Unit 526

RN =

Computer units Unit 35

T a

Hazardous waste recycled

FEERYEKE

Laptop computers Unit 0

E-EGVN a

Monitors Unit 526

RN =

Computer units Unit 55

T a

& The hazardous waste listed herein only includes office waste.

LRI EEREMEBRRAETEEY -
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Environmental aspect?® Unit 2024

RIGEIE2S B 2024 FE

Paper

R

Total paper usage kg 8,940.75

RERsE T

Paper usage intensity (per employee) kg/employee 8.72

ARERE (BRETI) Fr/E8T

Packaging materials®

BEMB

Total amount of packaging materials used for kg 505,283.54
finished products

N mATABEERMENEE T

Packaging materials intensity (per million of RMB  kg/million of RMB 151.96
of operating income)

BEMHZE (BEETARBEEKA) TR/ BAETARK

J The total amount of packaging materials used for finished products includes cardboard boxes, packaging

plastic bags, label paper, carbon tape, bubble bags, courier bags and woven bags.
E HEmASEMHNAERREEM BEBR 8K WF REAR REXKREHELK-
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The following is the summary of information on sustainable N TNEAFEAEENT S &HIE 5B
development of the Group in social aspect during the Year:  #E&ZRHE

Social aspect Unit 2024
HEHE B 20245 E
Number of employees®

ETAHEC

Total number of employees Person 1,025
BTHEEH AEL

Number of employees by gender

RUEBESNET AR

Female Person 688
gegiid AEL

Male Person 337
S AEL

Number of employees by employee category

REIERESTHEIAR

Short-term contract/part-time Person 8
REAE R,/ TR AEL

Full-time junior Person 896
R AR AEL

Full-time middle management Person 109
THRAREEE AEL

Full-time senior management Person 12
THREREERE AEL

Number of employees by geographical region

RUEBEHINET AR

Eastern China Person 734
R AEL

Southern China Person 288
£ AEL

Other regions Person 3
Hith AEL

@ It represents the number of employees as at 31 December 2024.

@ AR 12024512 A31HHE T A -
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Social aspect Unit 2024
HEHE B 20245 E
Number of employees by age group

REREMNETNETAH

Below 30 Person 445
305 AT A

30-50 Person 572
30-50%% A

Over 50 Person 8
505% A £ A

Employee turnover rate’

BT RAZET

Total turnover rate % 30.7
MR E %

Employee turnover rate by gender

RERESHWE T RALLR

Male % 33.5
S %

Female % 29.2
4 %

Employee turnover rate by age group

REREMNEINE I RKLER

Below 30 % 19.5
30BR AT %

30-50 % 52.7
30-505% %

Over 50 % 70.0
50B% A £ %

Employee turnover rate by geographical region

REBESHWEIRALR

Eastern China % 25.1
= %

Southern China % 42.2
Other regions % 0.0
Hh, %

4 The formula for calculating the employee turnover rate: Number of employees resigned — (Number of

employees at the beginning of the period + Number of employees recruited during that year) X 100%.
7 BIRRXADLFAEERAS  RRAETAZ ~ (BET AR + EFEMOET AR x 100%
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Social aspect Unit 2024
HEEHE By 2024 F E
Occupational health and safety
BEEREZ2
Number of work-related fatalities (2022, 2023 and  Person 0
2024)
BEZFRITHMAR(2022FF - 2023FE R AHK
2024 [F)
Rate of work-related fatalities occurred in the past % 0

three years (2022, 2023 and 2024)
BEZFRITHOE R (2022FF - 2023FE R %

2024 [F)
Number of lost days due to work injury Day 9
HAIGEAIERH ES
Development and training?®
R EEEIe

Percentage of employees trained by gender
RURESNZIETEDL

Male % 31.39
S %
Female % 68.81
Loy %
Percentage of employees trained by employee

category
RETIEMNESWZINETIESL
Short-term contract/part-time % 2.41
REIA#) 3R %
Full-time junior % 50.28
ERAAR %
Full-time middle management % 33.94
ERPREERRE %
Full-time senior management % 13.37
EBESREERRE %
S The percentage of employees trained in this category = Number of employees trained in this category — Total

number of employees trained X 100%.
€ ZHERMEIXRIBED L = ZERNEIXIAZ + XINETHEAZK X 100% °
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Social aspect Unit 2024
HEEHE By 2024 F E

Average training hours completed per
employee by gender

BURBINERE IR FIIRE

Male Hour 4.20
B AN
Female Hour 5.90
g e

Average training hours completed per
employee by employee category

BEETEASINEBREIRIITHEH

Short-term contract/part-time Hour 0.40
SRRV 3 N
Full-time junior Hour 3.20
2R /N
Full-time middle management Hour 12.00
ERPREIEE /B
Full-time senior management Hour 16.60
EHEREEE /B
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APPENDIX Il: CONTENT INDEX OF sk — : FRACRIE - HERE
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND B ERESI)RBREGI
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE
KPI Content Corresponding chapters
L bk RS
A. ENVIRONMENTAL
A REEE
A1: Emissions General Disclosure  Information on: 5.1 Use of Resources
Al B —RER ARAERNREREHN  RKRTHNEES BEREZEY 518RER

MEEZH :

(@  the policies; and

@ HE:R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous

waste.
b) ETHETABEAZENRELZZRAONNER -
A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. No exhaust emissions were
BB KRR - generated during the Year as
the Group had no vehicles in
use.
KEE  FEERELBER
R MAGELEMERE
&
A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas  Appendix I: Summary of
emissions (in tons) and intensity. Information on Sustainable

B (BE1) RipRAE (BE2) RERBEHHNERTE - Development

figgk—: AIREERBBEHE
A13 Total hazardous waste produced (in tons) and intensity. Given our business nature, we

MELREEENEERTE do not directly discharge any
hazardous waste water or solid
waste during our daily
operations.
ARBEMNERILE - HAR
BRELRETITERER
EREE KA EEBER
#) o
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KPI Content Corresponding chapters
EBRE HERELD
Al4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tons) and intensity. Appendix |: Summary of
MEABREREENEERTE - Information on Sustainable
Development
Wigk—: IREEREERE
A15 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve 5.1 Use of Resources
them. 518 RERA
WA UMHEHRE R R RAEIELARMEROSR -
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are 5.1 Use of Resources
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps ~ 5.1& )R {F
taken to achieve them.

WLRBEAEREEREENN DL REQMATZORERRR
REELBRHERN TR o
A2: Use of Resources  General Disclosure  Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water 5. GREEN DEVELOPMENT

A2 : EREER —REE and other raw materials. 5.4 B R
BRERER(BERR  KREMRME) SR -

A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. Appendix I: Summary of
electricity, gas or oil) in total and intensity. Information on Sustainable
WENESMEER/SEEER(WNE  RI0h) @FEERT  Development
o Wi—: IREERUERE

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Appendix I: Summary of
BRKEREE ° Information on Sustainable

Development
Misk—: TREXRYERE

A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken 5.1 Use of Resources
to achieve them. 518R6ER
RRPAET MR RE A NS B R R AEIEL B RARRN S
B

A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that 5.1 Use of Resources
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps takento 5.1 /R F
achieve them.

HREERKR LRI A EMEE - AR IMAKES R SR
RAERELBRARRNSRE -

A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products and with Appendix I: Summary of
reference to per unit produced. Information on Sustainable
ARMTAEENBNEERGEEEMGE - Development

Wik— TREERBERE
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Corresponding chapters

REE

KPI Content

EERE

A3: The Environment ~ General Disclosure
and Natural —BE
Resources

A3: RERAARER A3

General Disclosure

—RBE

A4: Climate Change
A4 RIREE

AdA

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources.
BEBRTAHRERAAEREXNEAY BHBE -
Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.
HREBEDHRERARERNEAYERCHKNEREH
TENTE -

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate
related issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer.
BAREHEE R EHETAELYBNEARGEES
EHHE

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.

WREE ARG HETAELY ENEARFEREE - LE

5178 -

2024 EfhE FAEBEEHABRDA

5. GREEN DEVELOPMENT
5AREER

5.1 Use of Resources

518 R

5.1 Use of Resources

5AERER

5.2 Responding to Climate
Change
52EHRIEE
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KPI Content Corresponding chapters
BERA HEEE

B. Social

B.HEHE

B1: Employment General Disclosure  Information on: 4. EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS
B1: EfE —fRBE BRFMLRE RERER IERY RE T5He % 4EEHR

Tt~ RIRIRIA R B 5 8 AR ME -

(@  the policies; and

@ HER

()  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

b EBTHRTABEAPENEREZERRNNER -

B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and 4.1 Human Resources
geographical region. Management
BRI BREL  FRARNEENH - LAANNERER

Appendix I: Summary of
Information on Sustainable

Development
Wisk—: TREERIERE
B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical  Appendix I: Summary of
region. Information on Sustainable
RIER - ERAER R RE S HESRALE - Development
fisr—: AIRERRABEHE
B2: Health and Safety ~ General Disclosure  Information on: 4.4 Occupational Health and
B2: EREAZ S —RRE BAREZ2TEREIRERESREBENEEN - Safety
(@  the policies; and JABERFRRT S
@ BE: K
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.
b) BETHETABEAZENHBEZRADNNER -
B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of 4.4 Occupational Health and
the past three years including the reporting year. Safety
BE=F (BREERFRE) BFRITHMABRIL X LABERRER S

Appendix I: Summary of
Information on Sustainable
Development

W& —: TREXREBRE
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Corresponding chapters

RHEEDH

KPI Content

EBRA
B2.2
B2.3

B3: Development and ~ General Disclosure

Training —REE
B3 : HE R
B3.1
B3.2

B4: Labor Standards ~ General Disclosure

B4 : BTAH — i
B4.1
B4.2

Lost days due to work injury.
RIGBRAIERS -

Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.

MR RANBERRRZ2ER - UREBRTRER % -
Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
BRRTHEERT IEREOMERBANOBR - il alE
B

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).
RUERNREEEN (MBREEE +REEES) AN
EBEBOL

The average training hours completed per employee by gender
and employee category.

RUERNLERENE D BREEXZKZINTFORY -

Information on:

BREBIEE Toksamls TH
(@) the policies; and
@ BE: K

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing
child and forced labor.

b) EFEHETAREATENRAEIZRANNEE -

Description of measures to review employment practices to

avoid child and forced labor.

e RREAINREABPETRAHST -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when

discovered.

HRAEERERARRERRARERARRN SR -

2024F B EH

4.4 Occupational Health and
Safety

LABRREEZ S
Appendix I: Summary of
Information on Sustainable
Development

Wisk—: TREERBERE
4.4 Occupational Health and
Safety

LABRRERERZ R

4.3 Training and Development
438578 R

4.3 Training and Development
43577 B R

Appendix I: Summary of
Information on Sustainable
Development

We—: AIREERUBHE
4.3 Training and Development
43577 B R

Appendix I: Summary of
Information on Sustainable
Development

We—: AIREERUBHE
4.1 Human Resources
Management

AIANNERER

4.1 Human Resources
Management
JIANNERER

4.1 Human Resources
Management
JIANNERER

FREREARRDA
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KPI Content
EBRA

Corresponding chapters

HEEH

B5: Supply Chain

Management

B5 : ftiEEE R
B5.1
B5.2
B5.3
B5.4

B6: Product

Responsibility

B6: EmALE
B6.1
B6.2
B6.3
B6.4
B6.5

General Disclosure

—REE

General Disclosure  Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the

—RBE

supply chain.

ERHEENREIMERBEER -

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

EwRBADHHERHE o

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number

of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and

how they are implemented and monitored.

ML AREREERNED  MARTABENNHERDHE -

AR ABEHINRTRERTE -

Description of practices used to identify environmental and

social risks along the supply chain, and how they are

implemented and monitored.

R AR HERSERDORE R SRBOEN - KA

BATRERN -

Description of practices used to promote environmentally

preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and

how they are implemented and monitored.

W EREHERRRESRRRERLREOED - ARG

PITRERENE -

Information on:

BUMRBEMNBBNRESELZSE BS BERLBEEN

RAROTER :

(@  the policies; and

@ HER

()  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating
to products and services provided and methods of
redress.

) BFHETAREATENEBEZRADINER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls

for safety and health reasons.

EERDEXEMARAT AL BRFEMMALKNE DL -

Number of products and service-related complaints received

and how they are dealt with.

BREBRERRREORFHEUAREHTE -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting

intellectual property rights.

HiEEERRENSEEEHOED

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

HEEBRTAENEMDWRER

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,

and how they are implemented and monitored.

HUEBE BBERERALBEE - AREBRTREER % -
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3.6 Sustainable Supply Chain
3.6RI A fEsE

3.6 Sustainable Supply Chain
3.6 H AL e
3.6 Sustainable Supply Chain
3.6 B

3.6 Sustainable Supply Chain
RIEIEST- 9737

3.6 Sustainable Supply Chain
3.6 H AL e

3. OPERATION COMPLIANCE
JAMER

3.1 Quality Management
SIEEERE

3.2 Customer Service
32K F R

3.5 Intellectual Property
Protection
S5MBERRE

3.1 Quality Management
JIEEER

3.2 Customer Service
32% P R




KPI Content
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Corresponding chapters

RHEEDH

B7: Anti-corruption
B7 : RBIE

B8: Community
Investment
B8 : HE#KE

General Disclosure

—REE

B7.1

B7.2

B7.3

General Disclosure

—RKE

B8.1

B8.2

Information on:

BRI 9% REREREN

(@  the policies; and

@ BE K

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.

b) BETHETABEAZENREEZRAONNER -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices

brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting

period and the outcomes of the cases.

RESHRNHETAXLEER I T ERENETHARMEH

HEPEEN P

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing

procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.

B EEERERER  ARBBERTRERSE -

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and

staff.

HRMEFRE ITRENOREFE

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of

the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its

activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.

BRAHBR2ERTREEMEHERENEREAXKEDE

ZRHEMENHE

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental

concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).

EIERER (4B BREFE SIFF% BR Xt 8

B)e

Resources contributed to the focus area.

EEIRBMYRER -

3.3 Anti-corruption and
Integrity Promotion
33REER

3.3 Anti-corruption and
Integrity Promotion

33REER

3.3 Anti-corruption and
Integrity Promotion
3IREER

3.3 Anti-corruption and
Integrity Promotion
33REER

6. PUBLIC WELFARE
bARKE

6. PUBLIC WELFARE
N =

6. PUBLIC WELFARE
6.AKEE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B 2B AR E

To the Shareholders of Zibuyu Group Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Zibuyu Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”),
which are set out on pages 177 to 290, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
comprising material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including International Independence Standards) issued by
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants
(“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

B 3 A% B AR

RROER

ZAIERB(ERZES ERDETERT -
HAEZSERTAENEEIEELRR
E AR ERT & H M B RRAENE
EIR DR IEE— SR -

HABE RPAESHETRERER
RGBS ARMHES B R IRHER -

By

REERSTMBRBRENEZSH
KBRS EER T (EEE
RIBINEARAE) (LA T A8 [ BB~ RI ) -
BMBLR 58 YERETERTA
FHEMBRBEEE -

RRgESEE

AR T FHRERBER IR F A -
RESHAHMEHPBRRNBIRAE
EMNER ELEHIEERMBFER
BHUBRRE O AR REETRIEN -
BT ELFTREREBNER
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B % B EDR E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

AREETEE @

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to  FIEFF P HFIMBERET EBELEH

provision for write-down of inventories.

Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

REFERERBHEHE -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ETUNAEEREETSE

Provision for write-down of inventories

FE B ER B 5 12

Refer to Note 4(a) and Note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

A2HA M RR M T4 R FE19 -

As at 31 December 2024, the gross carrying value
of inventories amounted to RMB446,578,000, with
a provision for write-down of RMB72,089,000.
M2024F12A31H - EEBEFEREAE MR
B EIREREE D Bl A A K %446,578,0007T K& A
R #72,089,0007T °
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Our audit procedures performed on provision for
write-down of inventories included:

B EFERERENETIETFEE

— Understanding and evaluating of the
management internal controls and assessment
process of provision for write-down of
inventories and assessing the inherent risk of
material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and
subjectivity and level of other inherent risk
factors such as complexity and susceptibility
to management bias or fraud;

— BEMMTEERESRTERER G AN EES
MAHEBRE  WRBZERMAFTTITREERTE
R EMEAE A R EEAKE - et
NEERERMANERNBURTE - UFEEXR
5 ¥ B & A LB

— Validating the key controls over the
assessment of provision for write-down of
inventories;

— REERFEREREIRAERER

— Evaluating the outcome of prior year’s
assessment of provision for write-down of
inventories to assess the effectiveness of
management’s estimation process;

— AR FEETFEERERETIRONAER - A
FHEEREEN MBRENARILE




KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
R R G

FAREETEE @

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RPN ETNMEERREETSEE

Provision for write-down of inventories (Continued)

FEBERE 12 (&)

The Group’s inventories are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value (“NRV”) which
requires management’s significant estimation of
the NRV of the inventories based on consideration
of the key assumptions including future sales
quantities, estimated future selling prices and
selling expenses of the respective inventories.
SEEYHTRERERAEZRFENERAE B
Ti?"ﬁ*ﬁ@@&&ik*iﬁuﬁﬁ R EHEE
ZEHEEGEENARKHEHETAD  AERKE
BUNRHERXSRARERE -

We focused on this area due to the significant
balance of inventories, high degree of estimation
uncertainties associated with the estimated selling
price and related selling expenses and subjectivity
of management estimation of the future sales
quantities which are used in the assessment of
NRV of the inventories.

BABINLER  REE EEEFESRE
R BV GEEAER FERRLEERHEER
XHRBEASENEEMN RRHSHERA
BN ER BN EEAET

— Assessing the reasonableness of key
assumptions applied to the NRV by
challenging management’s projections of
future sales quantities, estimated future selling
prices and selling expenses, with reference to
the following factors, including historical sales
data, historical trend of sales quantities and
selling prices, product life cycle, pricing
strategy, budgeted selling and promotion
expenses, as well as actual selling prices and
sales quantities subsequent to the year end;

— RAEREBEENARKFESEA  BERKE
BHEEERX  WR2ERELHEEE BELH
EHENEEBEDBYE EmLanBH BB
RES - HENEHAXBARFERNHEREE
MIHEHE @ AT RFEMERBRRER
BEIRIE

— Observing the physical conditions of the
Group’s inventories during attendance of
physical inventory count to identify any
damaged or obsolete inventories and following
up if those identified items were included in the
management assessment; and

— Eﬁ‘bﬁ%aﬁhﬂp&ﬁm EEEFEENEDRK

BB ARENTE  LREEEET
1$EP BESHETFE &

— Checking the mathematical accuracy of the
calculation of the NRV and provision for write-
down of inventories.

— BERGERERFHERRERETERERNE -

Based on the above procedures performed, we
considered that the estimates used by management
in determining the provision for write-down of
inventories were supported by the available
evidence.

ﬁﬁ/\ti_%iﬁ ﬁﬂaﬁ s A EEEEEKE?? /W{E
BiBRER E’ME““TLMEFM% B R8P ST o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B % B EDR E

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in Zibuyu Group Limited 2024 Annual
Report (the “annual report”) other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B % B EDR E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BET RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE Z B BN 7 T 5T S GBS ER R AR
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL ENEE @)
STATEMENTS (continued)

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this HEARBIZEMBENEAEE SR

independent auditor’s report is Lo Kai Leung, Thomas. ABERMBIEE -
PricewaterhouseCoopers EORCKEETHR SR
Certified Public Accountants HEDEAT

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025 H& 20253 A27H
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

S EERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLEE

2024 2023
2024 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AR®ET T
Revenue A 3,325,118 3,000,292
Cost of sales SHE B AN (853,790) (1,045,019)
Gross profit EF 2,471,328 1,955,273
Selling expenses and distribution  $5% sz & S5 AR
costs (2,226,012) (2,052,254)
General and administrative —MRITERAX
expenses (110,180) (157,742)
Net impairment losses on financial & &t & & J# (B & 18
assets FEE (2,288) (901)
Other income EH g A 13,620 8,152
Other gains, net H{th W 2 F 58 15,718 9,746
Operating profit/(loss) RERE(B18) 162,186 (237,726)
Finance costs BF 75 A AR (7,515) (9,485)
Profit/(loss) before income tax ~ BRFTEH AT FIE,~
(E518) 154,671 (247,211)
Income tax expense IS X (3,895) (18,575)
Profit/(loss) and total AATRRRELEE
comprehensive income/(loss) AE (e R
for the year, all attributable to 2mEkE
shareholders of the Company (E58) #%5 150,776 (265,786)
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) AN A1 A% B &1L
per share for profit/(loss) B (BB 8
attributable to shareholders of EREAREE
the Company (express in RMB 2aF/ (EE) (A
per share) ERARET
&) (0.53)

The notes on pages 183 to 290 are an integral part of these 5 183Z=290 B Fi# M B2 5 & 81
consolidated financial statements. Bz —F D -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
& OF Rl B AR &

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024 72024412 A31H

178

M12H31H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARET AREFTT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y ER: e 14 8,631 10,759
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 15 24,518 33,050
Intangible assets BEEE 16 1,135 2,283
Prepayments and other receivables & {~ Zt I8 K H b g U
A 17 3,620 3,286
Financial assets at fair value BARBETAEBZH
through profit or loss EREE 3.3 5,031 4,958
Total non-current assets FRBEELE 42,935 54,336
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 19 374,489 399,448
Trade receivables B 5 W IR 20 182,072 139,159
Prepayments and other receivables 8/~ FUI8 & £ b i Uk
IR 21 31,928 20,572
Restricted cash X R HIR & 22 1,332 2,416
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREeEEY 22 446,831 277,475
Total current assets RBEEHAE 1,036,652 839,070
Total assets BWEE 1,079,587 893,406
LIABILITIES =L
Non-current liabilities kFBHEEB
Lease liabilities HEBE 15 8,061 10,376
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBEE 27 2,116 —
Total non-current liabilities kABEEARE 10,177 10,376
Current liabilities REBEE
Lease liabilities HERE 15 15,980 21,010
Trade and other payables B 5 M HE A ER IR 28 318,122 206,339
Contract liabilities BHEaE 5 4,760 7,803
Current income tax liabilities BNEAFRIS A E 277 2,150
Borrowings B 29 130,000 161,990
Total current liabilities REBaERE 469,139 399,292
Total liabilities mes 409,668

ZIBUYU GROUP LIMITED  Annual Report 2024

479,316

As at 31 December




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
B Ot AR &

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024 72024412 A31H

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Lhgzd ARET T ARETTT
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to AT RREEER
shareholders of the Company
Share capital IR AR 23 174 174
Share premium 15 @ E 23 1,581,592 1,581,592
Shares held for employee share MEERNFEIFRE
scheme B A% 19 24 (50,155) (15,912)
Other reserves Hth G 25 (1,267,510) (1,267,815)
Retained earnings RE BT 26 336,170 185,699
Total equity RS 600,271 483,738
Total equity and liabilities ERkBERSE 1,079,587 893,406

The notes on pages 183 to 290 are an integral part of these 5 183Z=290 B FT# M B2 5 & 81
consolidated financial statements. BHREH—F D -

The consolidated financial statements on page 177 to 290 55177 %290 B )& (B 7 3R R 720254
were approved by the Board of Directors of the Company on 3 A27 B&MAARIEESHE - WA

27 March 2025 and were signed on its behalf by: TATRBERE :
Hua Bingru Chen Caixiong
ZRMW BR 7 1
Director Director
EE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SHERSER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

Attributable to shareholders of the Company
AAFRREL

Shares
held for
employee
Share Share share Other Retained
capital premium scheme reserves earnings Total
HRESRH
SEBEN
BEx  RoEE Rt At REEF @t
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
W ARETT ARETT ARBTr ARETR AREKTT AR®T:R

Balance at 1 January 2024 202451 A1 B R &84 1,581,592 (15,912)  (1,267,815) 185,699 483,738
Profit for the year FEFE - - - 150,776 150,776
Appropriation to statutory BREETRE

reserves 25
Acquisition of shares under 1R (E 8 B 751 84k

employee share scheme (i3 24 (34,243)

Balance at 31 December 2024 142024512 531 H #)

Balance at 1 January 2023 20234181 A& 174 1,603,477 — (1268012 451,682 787,321
Loss for the year FEFE = = - - (265,786)  (265,786)
Dividends distribution to AR R D IRAS

shareholders 12 — (21,885) — — — (21,885)
Appropriation to statutory BREETRE

reserves 25 - - - 197 (197) -
Acquisition of shares under 1R (E 8 R (71 81Uk

employee share scheme (i3 24 = = (15,912) = - (15,912)

Balance at 31 December 2023 14202312 531 H #)
o 174 1,581,502 (15912) (1,267,815) 185600 483738

The notes on pages 183 to 290 are an integral part of these 55183Z290 B &l M sk B2 E & G181
consolidated financial statements. Bz —& o -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

EHRERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #%£2024F12 A31HIEF &

Cash flows from operating
activities

Cash generated from operations

Interest received

Income taxes paid

Net cash generated from
operating activities

Cash flows from investing
activities

Payments for property, plant and
equipment

Payments for intangible assets

Purchases of financial assets at fair

value through profit or loss
Proceeds from disposals of
property, plant and equipment

Net cash used in investing
activities

REFHNRSRE

REmBRE
E A8
EfFTEH

REFHHERT
R

REZHNRESRE

R HRE
BEEBLEEXNN
e
BERARERA
BENTREE
Hj’%%% * B &
R FT1SRIR

REFHMARS
R

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
252,522 100,015
11,544 5,276
(2,198) (28,561)
261,868 76,730
(3,869) (4,972)
(239) (1,379)
(4,958)

1,251

(3,668) (10,058)

2024 EfhE FAEBEEHABRDA




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
EHRERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR¥ T ARBFIT

Cash flows from financing RMETBNRESRE

activities
Proceeds from bank borrowings IRITERPTISFRIA 139,990 192,000
Repayment of bank borrowings EERITER (171,980) (197,835)
Principal elements of lease MENTOEREED

payments (16,687) (25,574)
Dividend paid to shareholders EEESEEE S 12 - (22,850)
Share repurchase f& 17 B [ 21,24 (36,396) (18,235)
Payments of listing expenses S EmHE - (5,231)
Interest paid ERFE (7,490) (9,627)
Net cash used in financing MEEBHARS

activities FH (92,563) (87,352)

Net increase/(decrease)incash BERBRELZEY

and cash equivalents #m/ () B 165,637 (20,680)
Cash and cash equivalents at FHNHREREEE

beginning of the year By 22 277,475 294,539
Effects of exchange rate EXSBHHRER

changes on cash and cash ReZEYNE

equivalents 3,616
Cash and cash equivalents atthe £FRBEERBEELE

end of the year B 22 446,831 277,475

The notes on pages 183 to 290 are an integral part of these 55 183Z 290 8 Fr & i st B2 54 181
consolidated financial statements. BHRERH—ZD -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S OF B 35 S R MY =

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

1

GENERAL INFORMATION

Zibuyu Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 6 August
2018 as a limited liability company. The address of
the Company’s registered office is 3-212 Governors
Square, 23 Lime Tree Bay Avenue, P.O. Box 30746,
Seven Mile Beach, Grand Cayman, KY1-1203, Cayman
Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company and
its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in sale of apparel products, footwear products
and other products. The Company’s products are
sourced in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
and sold to customers in locations including the
United States (the “U.S.”), Canada, Mexico and other
countries via third-party e-commerce platforms and
self-operated online stores (“Operating Business”).

During the reporting period, the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Group was Mr. Hua Bingru (“Mr.
Hua”).

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
since 11 November 2022.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in thousands of RMB (“RMB’000”) unless otherwise
stated.

These consolidated financial statements have been
approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 27
March 2025.

—REH

FTAREBEEABRARUERRR]
201858 A6 H 7 2 & & = it
R BBRAT - ARRIGFM#MEE
B2 b 3F A3-212 Governors Square,
23 Lime Tree Bay Avenue, P.O. Box
30746, Seven Mile Beach, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1203, Cayman
Islands °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2 BREEERSTHRZEZH

2.1 BREEE

2.1 Basis of preparation

184

The consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been prepared in accordance with
IFRS Accounting Standards and disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance Cap. 622. IFRS Accounting Standards
comprise the following authoritative literature:

o IFRS Accounting Standards

° IAS Standards

° Interpretations developed by the IFRS
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC
Interpretations) or its predecessor body, the
Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC
Interpretations)

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis, except
for certain financial assets and liabilities that are
measured at fair value.

The preparation of the consolidated financial
statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting
Standards requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
Note 4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures
(@) New and amended standards adopted by
the Group

The Group has applied the following
amendments for the first time for their annual
reporting period commencing 1 January
2024:

Standards
Al

2 BRBEEERSITBRZEEH

(4%)
22 BT RRIBEEC2F
(a) FEEERABIFER R
XERINEET K
REBEBE R20245%1 A1

BRBENFEERS M
BRERATBEIAR

Key requirements

FERE

Amendments to IAS 1

RERTEREIRET AR

Amendments to IFRS 16

BIFR B 5 5 B RSB 16518 5] A
Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7
R ER|E 7 R R R EZER

FIFIEFT R

The amendments listed above did not have
any impact on the amounts recognised
in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future
periods.

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants

BEESEAMRESIERE KM s
HIEREBEE

Lease Liability in Sale and Leaseback

EEHEENHEHERE

Supplier Finance Arrangements

HERRE L

LS RT AN B 5 A AR
ERNEBYETHF
g BHITTEHEA
RARHRMELEERT
2,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND

CHANG

(continued)

ES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (continued)

(b)

New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted

The following new accounting standards,
amendments to accounting standards and
interpretations have been published that
are not mandatory for the annual reporting
period commencing from 1 January 2024
and have not been early adopted by the
Group. These standards, amendments or
interpretations are not expected to have
a material impact on the Group in the
current or future reporting periods and on
foreseeable future transactions.

2 BREEERSTHRZEZH

(&)

22 B BRERKEZEH

(4&)

(b)

5] 7R ER A B 7 2E R K &2
=z

T 5 E 8B I IER
2024F1 418 ABAMF
JE 5 5 HA A 58 il A= 3|
est£R - g5 &R
B A RZREIN REXR
Elhi%iﬁﬁ n/<—r—'—
Bl - {EFT Ak 2 ETEH
BRI AR R mERA
Tﬁ\%‘f$'§@&—ﬁﬁﬁ
RRRGEXEATE

Effective
for accounting
periods beginning

Standards Key requirements on or after
R B i 2 &6

2 FERTE BNETHBEN
Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
BER S ERIE 21 BT AR RZ AR 20251 A1H

Amendments to IFRS 9 and
IFRS 7

B B B 75 ¥R 5 2 R 22 9% K
BRI 5 S 2R 755
{EETA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2 BEEERSITBERZEH
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES ()
(continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies and 22 S BEREEZEE
disclosures (continued) (4&)
(b) New standards and interpretations not yet (b) [ KRB FTER K 2
adopted (continued) 2 (®@)
Effective

for accounting
periods beginning

Standards Key requirements on or after

R BHAE 2 %68

=8l FERE BNEHBER

Annual Improvements to IFRS IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of 1 January 2026
Accounting Standards International Financial

Reporting Standards; IFRS 7,
Financial Instruments:
Disclosures and Guidance on
implementing HKFRS 7; IFRS 9,
Financial Instruments; IFRS 10,
Consolidated Financial
Statements; and IAS 7,
Statement of Cash Flows.

R mEER G AR BRMBRELERNFE1R - B 202651 A 1H
FEiE MBI S 2R BIFR B

WELRE7H - RMITE:

BB B EREERETRDN
RE MRS BRI REER
F9 - TR A BRMB®R
HEAE105R - REPERE
KBRS ERETH - BER

=
IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public 1 January 2027
Accountability: Disclosures
I B B 75 e o5 ZE B B 19557 FAEZHEREEMNB AR E 2027F1 A1H
IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in 1 January 2027
Financial Statements
[0 % Bt 75 R 5 MBI 55 185% MEHmERN2Y| BB FE 20271 A1H
Amendments to IFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets To be determined
IAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture
BRI S mE R 105 R REEEABE ARG EREL 7€
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 H¥EKRERE

3.1 B¥EKEEZX

3.1 Financial risk factors

188

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety
of financial risks: foreign exchange risk, cash
flow and fair value interest rate risk, credit
risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall
risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimize potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. The Group does not use
any derivative financial instruments to hedge
certain risk exposures during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures. The Group entities
incur most of the inventory purchase in respect of
their functional currencies. Foreign exchange risk
arises from various currency exposures primarily
through proceeds received from customers, and
payments to the suppliers that are denominated
in a currency other than the Group’s entities’
functional currency. The currencies giving rise
to this risk are primarily U.S. dollars (“US$”) and
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”).

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HH¥EKRERE @

(continued)

3.1 B¥EREZE®

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

B B2 i O

Exposure

AEBRRE R E BINE
Bt O (AN RE T TRR)
s

The Group’s major exposure to foreign currency
risk at the end of the reporting period, expressed
in RMB’000, was as follows:

Uss$ HK$ Other
En BT Hity
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT AR®Trx AR%®Txn

As at 31 December 2024 M2024%12H31H
Trade and other receivables & 5 & H i fE U 008 172,319 1,545
Cash and cash equivalents BE&RIREEEY 302,180 5,765
Trade and other payables B 5 & H MR IR (55,268) (1,263)
uUs$ HK$ Other
T BT HAth
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT ARBTR AR%BTR

As at 31 December 2023 ®2023F12831H
Trade and other receivables 2 5 & E ff & 58 128,458 2,592 4,615
Cash and cash equivalents ~ R& MREEEY 158,192 35,464 5,069
Trade and other payables B 5 & H A FE < 508 (69,368) (701) (2,063)

2024 F EE FABEHAEBRAA




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HMBEBREREWw
(continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BEEEE @
Exposure (continued) BBz it O (4)
Amounts recognised in profit or loss R R H) 2 58
During the years, the following foreign-exchange FR - NIEIINERBHESHE
related amounts were recognised in profit or loss: R

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETT

Other gains, net H 250 F 58 11,175
Finance costs BTG X AR (28)

11,147
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, if US$ and 20244 20234 12 A 31
HK$ had strengthened/weakened by 5% against B WETEEBTHEAREH
RMB with all other variables held constant, the B,/ 82B5% ' M FTH Hith &
net profit/loss for the year would have been ERFTE - BFEMNE B
RMB18,305,000 higher/lower or RMB13,234,000 BFEEH M ROAR
lower/higher respectively, mainly as a result of 18,305,000 7T =k & 218
net foreign exchange gains/losses on translation AR #13,234,0007T ' £ER
of US$ and HK$ denominated cash and cash ERBREAETT KB ERN
equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade RHekReEEY BHKHE
and other payables. fhERKIBEARE 5 K EAM
FE SRIB R EE K ek B 1R

B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HH¥EKRERE @

(continued)

3.1 B¥EREZE®

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from bank
deposits and borrowings. Borrowings obtained
at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk which is partially offset by cash
at bank with variable interest rates. Borrowings
obtained at fixed rates expose the Group to fair
value interest rate risk. During the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s
borrowings bore interest both at variable rates
and fixed rates.

Bank deposits carried at prevailing market interest
rate expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk. The Group closely monitors trend of interest
rate and its impact on the Group’s interest rate
risk exposure to ensure it is within an acceptable
level. The Group currently has not used any
interest rate swap arrangements but will consider
hedging interest rate risk should the need arise.

During the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023, if interest rate on borrowings had
been higher/lower by 50 basis points of current
interest rate, with other variables held constant,
net profit/loss for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023, would have been approximately
RMB263,000 lower/higher or RMB277,000
higher/lower, respectively.

HERBRALEFEERE

AREBENMERERIRERITHE
RRER - RFEF REISHY
fEREAEEEYRERE
=R - EED WIZFEF
K EMIRTTERAAEE 1%
[ 7E | & B 1S B9 18 R A &
BEHAAENEER - BE
2024 K&2023F12 H318 1E
FE - AEENERRARKIZT
B R M EE M RGE -

AE RIS 5T B RRTTE
REREERHRSTREN X
Rl - ANER [8& & o) BRI A &
EBUREHREEAZ R
RReEE  BARERNAE
XKF o BRT - NSRBI EE
RE A RE 25 BA
FEEEEH M EEAR -

& £2024F 20234 12 A 31
HIEFE @ WERFESR/
KRR E I FR50EES - ME
HESRFTE - BIFE2024
F N2023F 1231 ILFE
mAE/ EBERFEERL
#9049 A K ¥ 263,000 7T =X, 1%
mnmA AR #277,0007T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to
its cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash,
financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL”) and trade and other receivables.

The

carrying amount of each class of the

above financial assets represents the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the
corresponding class of financial assets.

@)

Credit risk of cash and cash equivalents and
restricted cash

To manage this risk, cash deposits at
banks are mainly placed with state-owned
and reputable financial institutions in
mainland China and reputable international
institutions outside of mainland China. There
has been no recent history of default in
relation to these financial institutions. These
instruments are considered to have low
credit risk because they have a low risk of
default and the counterparty has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term. The identified
credit losses are immaterial.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

3 HH¥EKRERE @

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

®)

Credit risk of trade receivables

The Group has policies in place to ensure
that trade receivables with credit terms
are made to counterparties with an
appropriate credit history and management
performs ongoing credit evaluations of the
counterparties.

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified
approach to measure expected credit
losses which uses a lifetime expected
loss allowance for all trade receivables. To
measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the

aging.

3.1 B¥EREZE®

EEE R (&)
b) EZEKFIERNEER

i)
AR

R B 2 B E BUR FER
BEEHNE S EYEK
RS [A A E 15 B RC ik
MXSEFTRE B
EEEURIUTIE
TREMNERAFHE -

7R 5 1B £% A B R B s
FERNFIRHBEIE
AAERMEERR %
TEH A B SRR
BRBAGEERBEHEE
EiE- BETEEBGEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Crediit risk (continued)

©)

Credit risk of trade receivables (continuead)

The Group considers the probability of
default upon initial recognition of asset
and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period. To assess
whether there is a significant increase in
credit risk, the Group compares the risk of
a default occurring on the asset as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at
the date of initial recognition. It considers
available reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. Especially the
following indicators are incorporated:

o actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant change to
the customer’s ability to meet its
obligations;

° actual or expected significant changes
in the operating results of customers;

o significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the
customers, including changes in the
payment status.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & %

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

®)

Credit risk of trade receivables (continuead)

Individually impaired trade receivables are
related to customers who are experiencing
unexpected economic difficulties. The
Group expects that the entire amounts of
the receivables will have difficulty to be
recovered and has recognised impairment
losses.

The expected loss rates are based on the
payment profiles of sales over a period of
each reporting period and probability of
default of counter parties on an ongoing
basis throughout each reporting period. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability
of the customers to settle the receivables.
The Group has identified the Gross
Domestic Product (GDP) and the growth
rate of e-commerce industry to be the most
relevant factor, and accordingly adjusted
the historical loss rates based on expected
changes in these factors.

3

SO BRI

2024F12 A31H ILFE

B Rk EE m)

g 35S E Y )

= E B (&)

®)

2024F B EH

B S EWHEA = B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 MEBERER @
(continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 MEREREE @
Credit risk (continued) =& /m 5% ()
(b)  Credit risk of trade receivables (continued) b) EBZEWRFIENEER

b ()

The Group accounts for its credit risk by RNEBEFRKFEEE
appropriately providing for expected credit REMEEEBEREGY
losses on a timely basis. As there was no HEHEERBAR B ZE
significant change of the customer base, 20244 K& 2023%12 A
historical credit loss rate of customers and MNALEFE BHREP
forward-looking information, the Group At BAERXFEEES
adopted the same expected credit loss rate BERAEMEERIL &
during the years ended 31 December 2024 BEAREH BUHASE
and 2023. RAERNEREERE

As at 31 December
M12A31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT T AREF T

Gross carrying amount of  Z S UK IERE
trade receivables 4= 182,987 139,858

Expected loss rate TEHE B X 0.50% 0.50%

Loss allowance &5 18 B 1 915 699
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

3 HH¥EKRERE @

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

(c

Credit risk of other receivables

For other receivables, management
makes periodic collective assessments
as well as individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables based
on historical settlement records and past
experience. Impairment on other receivables
is measured as either 12-month expected
credit losses or lifetime expected credit loss,
depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If a significant increase in credit
risk of a receivable has occurred since initial
recognition, then impairment is measured as
lifetime expected credit losses. The Group
believe that there is no material credit risk
inherent in the Group’s outstanding balance
of other receivables.

3.1 B¥EREZE®

= E B (&)
() EMERZKEL = EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

()

Credit risk of other receivables (continuead)

Other receivables mainly comprise deposits,
receivable from third-party payment
platforms and others. The Group considers
the probability of default on an ongoing
basis throughout each reporting period.
To assess whether there is a significant
increase in credit risk, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the asset
as at the reporting date with the risk of
default as at the date of initial recognition.
It considers available reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information.
Especially the following indicators are
incorporated:

° actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant change to
the third party’s ability to meet its
obligations;

o actual or expected significant changes
in the operating results of the third

party;

o significant changes in the expected
performance and behavior of the
third party, including changes in the
payment status of the third party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HMBERER @
(continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 M¥REBEZE®
Credit risk (continued) = E/EE (&)
(c)  Credit risk of other receivables (continued) © E#EWRFIENIEER
b2 (48)
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, there K2024F K 2023F 12
was no significant increase in credit risk A31BE - EERAREM
since initial recognition, the Group assessed 95 e 3R LA 2R I % 7 = 1
that the expected credit losses for these m-AREBERBEHR12
receivables are not material through using & A 78 A48 K £ 5T fH 7%
the 12-month expected losses method. ERWFENEHREE

BRI TEK -

Liquidity risk B 1 JE B

To manage the liquidity risk, the Group RTEERBMRR  NEE
monitors and maintains a level of cash and ERWARBEEERREHN
cash equivalents deemed adequate by the ReRRSEBYKTE LA
management to finance the Group’s operations AEEREERHESWHE
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash ReREKPNTE -

flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HMBEBREREWw

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BEEEE @
Liquidlity risk (continued) TEE 1R B ()
The table below analyzes the Group’s financial TREBEEABRBESN
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based B AMFIERERE - BAEE
on the remaining period at the balance sheet WermBEREEIHESE
date to the contractual maturity date. The EITHOW - KA BRENESER
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual BHRERRIIBRSRE ©

undiscounted cash flows.

Between Between

Within 1 and 2 and
1 year 2 years 5 years Total
151 1226 2Z5%F Mgt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR¥ETRT AR®TR AR¥TR

As at 31 December 2024 420245128 31H

Lease liabilities HEaE
Trade and other payables & 5 & H fth {4 5B

(excluding refund (TBREEFAE:

liabilities, payroll and TERARREAM

social security and FEfTHE38)

other tax payables) 189,249 189,249
Borrowings fa 132,787 132,787

338,570 347,569
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 MERBERE @
(continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BEKREZE @)
Liquidlity risk (continued) TEE 1R B ()
Between Between
Within 1and 2 and
1 year 2 years 5 years Total
1FR 1224 2E5F HET

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
AREBTT ARBTT ARBTT AREBTI

As at 31 December 2023  #2023%12531H

Lease liabilities HEAE 24,916 9,296 2,428 36,640
Trade and other payables & 5 & E b e 518

(excluding refund (TBEBEFAE -

liabilities, payroll and TERMRREM

social security and FERTRIE)

other tax payables) 117,426 = = 117,426
Borrowings 5 166,818 - — 166,818

309,160 9,296 2,428 320,884

3.2 Capital management 3.2 EXRER
The Group’s objectives when managing capital NEEEBEANGEREBARE
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue FECE /R S - FELAE R
as a going concern in order to provide returns for PR R I 73 ELAt I e AR R R AR
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders e RIFEFREEARRE
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to LURVE & £ AK 7N ©

reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital RTHEBSIGARERERE K
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of SETREE AR TRED
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to REEFE  MBRFRREBZERS
shareholders, or sell assets to reduce debt. HEEENRDER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HHEEEREw
(continued)
3.2 Capital management (continued) 3.2 EXREE (@)
Consistent with others in the industry, the Group HITHEAEMAR 3 A&
monitors capital on the basis of the net debt to ELAFEBERL X RERES
equity ratio. This ratio is calculated as “net debt” RENR o AL ERFETER
divided by “total equity”. Net debt is calculated as DEEIBRAT @R ] - FE
borrowings and lease liabilities less cash and cash B ERERERREESR
equivalents. The net debt/(cash) to equity ratios as ERERERBASEEY - #
at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were as follows: £20244F 2023F12A31H
WFEER, (Re) EmtEm
T

As at 31 December
MW12H31H

2024 2023

2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBTTT

Bank borrowings RITE 130,000 161,990
Lease liabilities ME&E 24,041 31,386
Less: cash and cash equivalents J& : IR& NI &5

) (446,831) (277,475)
Net cash REFRE (292,790) (84,099)
Total equity BiE 600,271 483,738
Net debt to equity ratio FES LR N/A N/A

TER i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

3 HH¥EKRERE @

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation

(a) Fair value hierarchy

Financial instruments carried at fair value
or where fair value was disclosed can
be categorized by levels of the inputs to
valuation techniques used to measure fair
value. The inputs are categorized into three
levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

(i)

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
(Level 1).

Inputs other than quoted prices
included within level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices)
(Level 2).

Inputs for the asset or liability that are
not based on observable market data
(that is, unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

3.3 &

@

SLlEfh

=112

EER

L)

SN

A

BARBAREIAAE
ERBENESB T AR
R EQAREMAGE
£ AT &) ¥ A BUR B B AL
DE-BABBELR
BEERTFHEIADSNAT
= )=

() FAIRBEEXARE
RGBS LR
EB(REHEB)(F
—#R) e

(i) MEEHBEANEH
& (MR ER) %
& (AVIEERAAE)
BRMS8ABE
(% — AR RERR
IN(BZAR) »

(i) BEXBEIIER
BRI B R TS8R
M B A B (B0
ERH AHE)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HMERBREREw
(continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 A2AREMRE @
(a) Fair value hierarchy (continued) (@ RAEERE)
The following table presents the Group’s TR EZ5M20245F12 A
assets that are measured at fair value as at SIEBAEBE AR EGT
31 December 2024. ENEE °

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—R B B=H Ast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETRT AR¥TR AR¥®TR AR%¥TR

As at 31 December 2024 R2024F12 A31H

Assets BE
Financial assets at FVPL BRAREAR
mNeREE
— Unlisted equity — FEmER
investment ®E

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
& B/ E=R et
RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR

As at 31 December 2023 2023F12A31H

Assets BE
Financial assets at FVPL NI NG
— Unlisted equity — LR
investment ®E = = 4,958 4,958
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, no 122024 F % 2023F 12 A
liabilities were measured at fair value. 31H - BEAEEZRLR

EEHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

3 HH¥EKRERE @

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

@

(b)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The Group manages the valuation of level 3
instruments for financial reporting purpose
on a case by case basis. At least once every
reporting year, the Group would assess the
fair value of the Group’s level 3 instruments
by using valuation techniques.

There were no transfers between level 1, 2
and 3 during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

Valuation techniques used to determine fair
values

Specific valuation techniques used to value
financial instruments include:

° Quoted market prices or dealer quotes
for similar instruments; and

° Other techniques, such as discounted
cash flow analysis, are used to
determine fair value for the remaining
financial instruments.

The finance manager of the Group performs
valuation on these level 3 instruments for
financial reporting purposes. On an annual
basis, the team adopts various valuation
techniques to determine the fair value of the
Group’s level 3 instrument.

3.3 D REMFT @

@

(b)

2024F B EH

RAEER (&)

REEGRTERE B K
BIFEABEREEE=
RTEMEE RE—
REFE FAEEEH
REERIMEEE =R
TENRAREBEELEST
— R -

B Z£2024%F % 2023F 12
ABLHFE E—-
—R=H A EER o

BEAAEFRAHEE
Bl

ARFEERITAMNA

BHEERMEEE

e HUIAMTISR
BERZERE
K&

o M EH MM (H
WREREMRRES
EEEMLE R
TAMAARE-

AEBOTHEERY
BHREBNHZEE=
MTEETHE - ZHE
BEFeRASRMGE
Ao SR E AR SR B R =
MTEANRARE-

FREREARRDA

205




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3

(continued)

BERERE @)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 DAREMRFT @

(b) BEEXAERAELEE

(b) Valuation techniques used to determine fair

206

values (continued)

The level 3 instrument of the Group is
unlisted equity investment. In August
2023, the Group made investment in
a private company with the amount of
US$700,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB4,958,000). The sole purpose of the
private company is acquisition, holding
and disposition of shares or other equity-
linked securities in the Shanghai Tymo
Electronic Technology Co., Ltd. As this
instrument was not traded in an active
market as at 31 December 2024 and 2023,
its fair value has been determined using
valuation techniques. The fair value changes
of the instrument are immaterial due to the
short period and low expected return rate.
Accordingly, the sensitivity to changes in
unobservable inputs is not material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the actual
results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
year are discussed below.

(@) Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs of purchase and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

The Group assesses the net realisable value of
the inventories as well as the required amount of
write-down of inventory provision at each balance
sheet date, which involves significant judgment
on determination of the estimated residual value
of the inventory based on the Group’s projections
of future sales quantities, estimated future selling
prices and selling expenses, with reference to
the following factors, including historical sales
data, historical trend of sales quantities and
selling prices, product life cycle, pricing strategy,
budgeted selling and promotion expenses, as well
as actual sales quantities subsequent to the year
end. The Group performs regular check on the
physical conditions of inventories and assesses
possible write-down for any damaged inventories
at each balance sheet date.

4 EARfEEFRAE

fA R B 1 7 2 5 A8 ST A A0 B 52
RRLREBAREL  BEREH
BATRABEENE RKREFH
B -

AEBERRELGTRER B
2B E - BUFEA SR EFED
HERGERMENT - TXAWBEK
REERH T EFENEEREE
MRREEELDERFEZ A5 LR

FRZAZRFERAERS
B 2 EFHEEMRGER
FERCAN R fh et s B8 B A AR ET

s

?_o

AEEFEEEEERERA
ZHEERERFEALFAT
AHEMTFERERBDE I
ERERINE- NN Y
HEBHNTEA - HEFRKREBK
HEER U2 EELHEH
B ELHEHRENEEED
B EmitaiBH  BEBX
B~ SHE K2 $HR SO TROB S R
BNERHERESZARET
FEEFFSEERELER
HEr - AEBTEHFENEY
AEITEHREL NS EE
BEXRAREMNZEBFENG
BB IEHMOR -

2024F e FAERARRAA

207




208

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Net realisable value of inventories
(continued)

These key estimates are based on the current
market condition and the historical experience
of selling products of similar nature, which are
reassessed at each balance sheet date as they
could change significantly as a result of changes
in customer taste and competitor actions in
response to severe industry cycle.

Current and deferred income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in a
few jurisdictions. Judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the current income
tax and deferred income tax provisions in the
periods in which such determinations are made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain
temporary differences and tax losses are
recognised as management considers that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the temporary differences
or tax losses can be utilised. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate,
such differences will impact the recognition of
deferred income tax assets and taxation in the
periods in which such estimate is changed.
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(a)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

4 EBEXRMHGFTRHE =

4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS@MW%@

(c)

(d)

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to
refund some or all of the consideration received
(or receivable) from a customer and is measured
at the amount the Group ultimately expects it
will have to return to the customer. The Group
continuously updates its estimates based on
historical sales return rate and the refund liabilities
are adjusted accordingly. Estimates of expected
returns are sensitive to changes in circumstances
and the Group’s past experience regarding
returns may not be representative of customers’
actual returns in the future.

Accrued payable to third-party
e-commerce platforms

At each year end, payable to third-party
e-commerce platforms are accrued by the
Group. These estimates are based on a number
of factors, including management’s knowledge
of platform policies, activities associated with
platforms, market conditions, etc.

(c)

(d)

RETREE

Bt AERARRERIE
e EPUER (REEEF) &
HEMNEMET  URAEEKK
BHRHRETEPONE R
B -AEERBEBEHERE
REFBE AT L AAERAR
BFFAE - FRREMAE S
REBERAHRE - HAKHE
BRRENBELBRLRE
EFRRMNERERERR

RRENE="EBTA

IR

REFER  AEERERFE=
FERFERA - ZEMFE
REERE BREEEYT
AR T EYaREN
EE) - BRI o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a)

Description of segments and principal
activities

For management purposes, the Group is not
organised into business units based on their
products and only has one reportable operating
segment. Management monitors the operating
results of the Group’s operating segment as a
whole for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment.

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided
to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief
operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance
of the operating segments, has been identified as
the executive directors of the Company.

Geographical information of customers

5

— North America — dbE=M
— Asia — M
— Europe — BUM
— Others — HAfth
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i)

(a)

%Bﬁ AN

TEHREEXRBNH A

REEMS @ AREYERE
HEMRMUEBEMMIAE—
ERTHRELENE - BEEEY
AEBRENHNREREHE
TTERBEE  WMEHERDE
R RIRFHEHIRE o

REDHHEHRSTAEREE
RERREB LA ZRETT
AEB - TBEERKE
BEDERERNMIGEEDTE
HRIR - WEWRERARA]
MITES -

EFHBEEH

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLEFEE

2024 2023

2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREET T
3,235,170 2,799,813
67,578 106,503
11,105 64,046
11,265 29,930
3,325,118 3,000,292



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 H#HEFR @
(b) Revenue during the years ended 31 (b) B ZE2024%F K 2023F12
December 2024 and 2023 A31HILEFEMHRA
Revenue from contract with customers within the TR B B 75 3R 5 E BN S5 1557 &8
scope of IFRS 15 is as follows: EANEFELHWART

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETTT

— Through third-party —BAE=F
e-commerce platforms ERE R 3,258,018 2,921,398
— Through self-operated online  — 3@ B & 414
stores 28,005 37,435
— Others — it _ 89,09 ALY
3,325,118 3,000,292
The analysis of revenue from contract with RER M RS ERIE 155 R
customers recognised over time and at a point in E - BPEARAERRRK
time as required by IFRS 15 is set out below: I BRI DTS RA T -
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLEE
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AR®EF T
Timing of revenue recognition WA B R B i
— Point in time — BFfE B 3,325,118 3,000,292
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 oHER @
(c) Contract liabilities (c) BHEaE

As at 31 December
M®12A31H

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETTT

Contract liabilities EHaE 7,803
The following table shows how much of the TRETRN AN HE HRERY
revenue recognised in the current reporting period WA EEENENEEER
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities. K&K °

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HLFE
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREFTT

Revenue recognised that was REDTFAERNERE
included in the balance of EREE R A
contract liabilities at the

beginning of the year 9,758
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

5 DIER @

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(d) Unsatisfied performance obligations

(e)

(f)

The following table shows the unsatisfied
performance obligations resulting from contracts
with customers:

d) RETHBENRK

Expected to be recognised within 78 B2 — & &R

one year

The unsatisfied performance obligations
represent those orders have been made by
customers on e-commerce platform as at 31
December 2024 or 2023 but the products have
not been delivered then.

Information about major customers

No individual customer’s revenue exceeds 10% of
the Group’s total revenue during the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers
is recognised when control of products is
transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those
products.

The following is a description of the accounting
policy for the principal revenue stream of the
Group.

(e)

(f)

TREBIEAFEPEKNELNR
BITHEAIRT -

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBTTT
27,983

REITTHRAZEEIEE E2024
F52023F12A31BEF D

EEFATEE  BEM
B AR -

FRETEEFNEHR

H £2024F K2023F12 A31
BIEFE - WEERZEFUIA
FBiBAEB B AH10% °

A TR

BEF A QMBI E fn 4% 5 1
BRREPRER  H2BR
BRAKE AR NZEEM
A RE UL ER B 4B -

AT AR EEE B R ATORE
& L -

2024 EfhE FAEBEEHABRDA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(f)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Sales of products

The Group sells its products to customers over
third-party e-commerce platforms and self-
operated online stores. Revenue from contracts
with customers is recognised when control of the
products is transferred to customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those
products and delivery to the customers.

Revenue from the sale of products is recognised
at the point in time when control of the asset
is transferred to the customer, generally on the
receipt of products by customers.

For products that are expected to be returned,
instead of revenue, a refund liability is recognised.
A right-of-return asset (and the corresponding
adjustment to cost of sales) is also recognised for
the right to recover products from a customer.

A contract liability represents the Group’s
obligation to transfer products to a customer
for which the Group has received consideration
(or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

6 OTHER INCOME

6 HMmUWA

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

Interest income PSRN
Government grants (a) BT B (a)
Others HAt

(@) Government grants provided to the Group mainly
related to financial subsidies received from the
local governments in the PRC. There are no
unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies
relating to these grants.

7 OTHER GAINS, NET

2024 2023

2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
5,276

2,555

321

8,152

@ AEEERHENBGMDEE
4 K e rp B3 75 U U B B B
B RA o 5% 551l B) 30 S R A K
MR B FIR -

7 EfUam T

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2024

20245
RMB’000
AR¥ T

2023
20234
RMB’000
ARBF T

Net foreign exchange gains PE 3 W a5 )5 58
Net gains on disposal of right-of-use & {# Fi 12 & EH)
assets e #58

Net losses on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Others

H B 1R RR
Hity

HEWE - BB MERE

11,175

130

(565)
(994)

9,746
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

8 EXPENSES BY NATURE

8 BMHEIITHMAX

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AR®FIT
Freight and insurance cost BiE KRR A 916,459 830,492
Cost of inventories sold (Note 19) BEEFEKA
(M$5E19) 649,030 576,379
Commission to e-commerce BERTaHEe
platforms 506,416 513,353
Marketing and advertising expenses 4 4 & [& & B sz 494,823 418,098
Employee benefits (Note 11) EERNE
(BtEE11) 223,535 215,534
Other platform charges HEmFa®E 160,569 181,176
Provision for inventories FEEE 124,414 387,814
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  ff AL EHE
(Note 15) (Bt5E15) 18,827 25,000
Labour outsourcing expenses LN 14,119 23,174
Office expenses N 8,281 8,855
Legal and professional fees FEREEEA 6,843 0,488
Information technology (“IT”) server {5 8347 ([IT])
charges Ak & A 5,544 5,600
Depreciation of property, plantand ¥ % - & MREIT
equipment (Note 14) & (f15z14) 5,002 6,143
Auditor’s remuneration % HE B & 3,023 3,684
Amortisation of intangible assets m A EHE
(Note 16) (BtzE16) 1,387 1,968
Lease expenses (Note 15) MER > (M13E15) 614 461
Legal settlement ERETEEE 128 252
Other expenses H 52 50,968 47,544
Total cost of sales, selling expenses $H&EM AN « HEFL
and distribution costs and general K 7§55k K &2 — /%
and administrative expenses MITH A 8%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

EXPENSES BY NATURE (continued) 8

The Group incurred expenses amounted to a total of
approximately RMB38,319,000 and RMB33,314,000
related to research and development of new IT
systems for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, respectively. Such expenses mainly comprise
remuneration paid to certain staff, service fee and
rental paid to IT server, which have been included in
the above Employee benefits, IT server charges and
Amortisation of intangible assets, respectively.

FINANCE COSTS 9

Interest expenses on bank RITERAOHEFAX
borrowings

Interest expenses for lease liabilities & & EHF| B
(Note 15) (B &E15)

Net foreign exchange losses on RITERCEREE
bank borrowings FHR

Others HAh

Finance costs B 75 A 7R

EHEE 7T @

H £2024%F 2023%F12 83108 1+
FE -ASBEEAHAZEMTR
SEENHAZIRABEIRHOARE
38,319,0007T X A K #33,314,000
Lo ZERTTEBEENETE
ITHEM EFRTRRSENRSEE
k& EEohlstALiESR
A ITRARSRER MEREE# -

Bt 35 B AR

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETTT

6,567

2,816

28
74

9,485

2024 EfhE FAEBEEHABRDA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10 FREBIB <
The amount of income tax charged to the consolidated Reptzmlam kP HROTER
statement of comprehensive income represents: THA

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023

2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBTTT

Current income tax EVERPR 15 15 4,079
Deferred income tax (Note 27) EREFTIS T (P 7E27) 14,496
Income tax expense RSB 18,575
Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been o Ath 3t 75 & & R A A B B B TR T R
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the ERCEMENRDAERMIAITR
jurisdictions in which the entity operates. KEHHE
(@ Cayman Islands profits tax () FASEBSFEM
The Company was incorporated in the Cayman RRARRIREBEREFESARDE
Islands as an exempted company with limited (1961 F E35 LR - &K 4R E
liability under the Companies Law (Law 3 of 1961, R ERE RS ML
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman HMEREERAT @ AJEARH
Islands and is exempted from payment of the MASEHSEMN -
Cayman Islands income tax.
(b) British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) profits tax (b) REAWMEESHEH
The Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in the RABIERBHR RSN
BVI are exempted from BVI income tax, as they P 37 B FT 88 A B P B SR AN R
are incorporated under the International Business BHEBRESAEN - HHER
Companies Act of the BVI. HIRBABER RS R

FRBDEEMAL ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(c)

(d)

Hong Kong profits tax

The Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in
Hong Kong are subject to Hong Kong profits
tax at a rate of 8.25% on assessable profits
up to HK$2,000,000 and 16.5% on any part of
assessable profits over HK$2,000,000 for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
subject to PRC CIT which is calculated based on
the applicable tax rate of 25% on the assessable
profits of the subsidiaries in accordance with PRC
tax laws and regulations, except for disclosed
below.

Zhejiang Zibuyu E-commerce Co., Ltd. and
Hangzhou Xingzezhi Internet Technology Co.,
Ltd., subsidiaries of the Company, had been
recognised as the High New Tech Enterprises in
2024 and 2023, respectively. According to the tax
incentives of the Corporate Income Tax Law of
the People’s Republic of China (the”CIT Law”) for
High New Tech Enterprises, these companies are
subject to a reduced corporate income tax rate
of 15% for three years commencing from the first
year when these entities were recognised as the
High New Tech Enterprises.

(c)

(d)

2024F B EH

10 S HBEXX @

HERMNEH

# £20244F % 2023F12 A 31
BIEFE ARARERBZT
ft 5 37 79 B /8 & 7]2,000,000
BT R ERE R EZ
8.25% i KM B B S -
if72,000,0007% JT LA £ B9 {E 1A
JERT A EEB 5 1216.5% T K
BB BNEH -

HE RSN ([1h%¥
FriEH 1)

RREFER BH B~ R A
AR BB EAASN - THRIEH
BB UOE R BOR AR LK B 2 A
B FE AR B A B 1R 25 % 1 FA 1 K
AHE - T XA EERI -

KARMB AN FITREE
FRAKARARRMMNITAIZE
BB BB R AR 5 BIR 2024
F 2023 F R A= F T
- REPEAREMED
ERMBBE (TREAMERED
HamBmrE¥nSRES
ZENTBHERE R
TEEHFRIT=FRIZ15%
RGN EFBER -

FREREARRDA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(d) PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”)

(continued)

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, several subsidiaries in PRC were qualified
as small and micro enterprises under the PRC
CIT regime, which enjoyed a corporate income
tax rate of 20%. For the year ended 31 December
2024, annual taxable income shall be computed
at a reduced rate of 25% (2023: 25%) for these
subsidiaries.

PRC withholding income tax

According to the CIT Law, starting from 1 January
2008, a 10% withholding tax will be levied on the
immediate holding companies established outside
the PRC when their PRC subsidiaries declare
dividends out of their profits earned after 1
January 2008. A lower withholding tax rate of 5%
may be applied if there is a tax treaty arrangement
between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the
foreign immediate holding companies, including
those incorporated in Hong Kong.

During the years ended 31 December 2024,
dividend withholding tax amounted to
RMB2,116,000 for PRC companies was provided
(2023: Nil). Unremitted earnings on which deferred
income tax liabilities have not been recognised
totalled RMB334,054,000 as at 31 December
2024 (31 December 2023: RMB335,023,000)
as the directors have confirmed that the Group
does not expect those subsidiaries to distribute
the abovementioned retained earnings in the
foreseeable future.
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#H £2024%F [ 2023F 12 A31
AIEFE  REBEFBEDEMS
MEE EFBEERHNB
NEIRS RN R 7 AT = 0 R S
- ZHE20% K EFRERE
= o B F£2024F12A31H 1t
FE s\ HMEENFERE
NPT 1S 58 7B R 1% 25% (2023
&F 125%)TE -

B

BIECEMSHZE - 52008
F1RA1BE - BEERBIRINK
N E B B A B B
N al fE2008F1 18 2 1%
ESHNFETRERKRER -
HEBEER A BBI10% KT8
M o R o FH AN FH 4
BAR (BREEESTMKL
WAR) R EERER 2B
TR E B - R BEE A
5% EXTEMBIFLE o

H £2024F12 A31H IEF
£ BB R RHRAR S TEH
T AR #2,116,0007T (2023
&) - P2024F 12 A 31
H XERELEMSHAE
WARELRFBFTABARE
334,054,000t (2023412 A
31H : AR #¥335,023,000
) EAREECHERALAE
EEHZENBRAATEE
A8 R KRR 5 B £ R B
B o




10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(f)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

10 S HBEXX @
(f)

Numerical reconciliation of income tax
expense

The difference between the actual income tax
expense charged to the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income and the amounts which
would result from applying the enacted tax rates
to profit/loss before income tax can be reconciled
as follows:

Profit/(loss) before income tax BrRATSRIATFIE,
(B#8)

Tax calculated at tax rates REWNBARFIE
applicable to profit/(losses) of (BR)ERMTE
the respective subsidiaries SATEMIA

Preferential tax of certain ETHBRARNFK
subsidiaries B=

Withholding Tax AR

Expenses not deductible for tax AR X
purposes

Super deductions for research and  #7% & F &9 A5t
development expenditures (i) HIBR (i)

Income not subject to tax e Gl N

Temporary differences for which no K ERIELETHEE E
deferred tax asset was B E R ER
recognised

Utilisation of previously {5 A AT B R 73R
unrecognised temporary BIEFTETHEEN
differences AENEREERE

Tax losses for which no deferred ~ KHERIELEHESE E
tax asset was recognised BT IEE R

Utilisation of previously £ A AT EA AR TSR
unrecognised tax losses BB THEER

AEEE

Reversal of previously recognised  #[6] 7 Aij e 52 HY iR AT
deferred income tax asset PRSI & &

Others H A

Income tax expense FTiSFi R

FREH AN EEH R

ReftzEBERTHNRNE
PR TS 250 78 S2 B S BR BT S AL AT
A, e 18 e PR ER 17 3K 1
EENSRHE 2 FNEREE R
T

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥ET T

154,671 (247,211)

29,397 (38,797)
(4,034) (2,023)
2,116 -

28 49
(5,276)
(2,072)
7,923

(6,776) —
4,963 41,031

(14,059) -

14,496
3,244
18,575

2024 EfhE FAEBEEHABRDA

221




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 10 FTEHBEX @)

() FrEPimx WBFEH R

() Numerical reconciliation of income tax

222

expense (continued)

(i)  Super deductions for research and
development expenditures

According to the relevant laws and
regulations promulgated by the State Tax
Bureau of the People’s Republic of China
that was effective from 2008 onwards,
enterprises engaging in research and
development activities are entitled to
claim up to 200% of their research and
development expenses so incurred as tax
deductible expenses when determining
their assessable profits for that year
(“Super Deduction”). The Group has made
its best estimate for the Super Deduction
to be claimed for the Group’s entities in
ascertaining their assessable profits during
the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

(g) OECD Pillar Two model rules

The Group mainly operates internationally. It is
within the scope of the OECD Pillar Two model
rules. As of the reporting date, there is no public
announcement in the main operating countries.

Since the Pillar Two legislation was not effective
at the reporting date, the Group has no related
current tax exposure. The Group applies
the exception to recognising and disclosing
information about deferred tax assets and
liabilities related to Pillar Two income taxes, as
provided in the amendments to IAS 12 issued in
May 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 10 FREBIEE X
(g) OECD Pillar Two model rules (continued) () REABMIHEEER
(#&)

In addition, since the Pillar Two legislation in SN BREERERE - K
the jurisdictions that the Group operates in was SEREMERNRDAERBE
not enacted or substantively enacted as at the EHIEBEEMEBRMIEE
reporting date, and due to the uncertainty of Bl - FEREERRERNTHEE
the announcement of the legislation and the AR FE ARRE R RETE 23R
complexities in applying the legislation and REBEEFMFIEHERENE - K
calculating GloBE income, the Group is in the SEIEE AT A AR
process of assessing its exposure to the Pillar IRy B LB o

Two legislation for when it comes into effect.
11 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 11 EERHNE

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET ARBFTT

Wages, salaries and bonuses T& - #FHae el 192,825 190,223
Contributions to pension plan, BREEE - BE

medical insurance and other R REMLE

social insurance (a) RE 5K (a) 24,668 19,970
Housing fund FEAES 6,042 5,341

223,535 215,534

2024F EHE FTREEAEGRAT 223




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

11 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued) 11 EEGHNE @

(@) BRAETHRAE — RERRF

(@) Pension costs — defined contribution

plans

The employees of the Group in the PRC are
members of a state-managed pension obligations
operated by the PRC government. The Group is
required to contribute a specified percentage of
payroll costs as determined by respective local
government authority to the pension obligations
to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefits
scheme is to make the specified contributions
under the scheme.

There are no forfeited contributions that may be
used by the Group as the employer to reduce the
existing level of contributions.

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group included 2 and 1 director
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, respectively. The emoluments of directors
are reflected in the analysis presented in Note
34. Details of the emoluments of the remaining
highest paid non-director individuals during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as
follows:

=t 8l

AEENTEEE RETEK
FeEnBEREREAREE
HIAK B o R BIZBIRE M )7 K
FFEBPIEE N TER AR E R
D RRKRES ST EIHFIAE D)
@A o NEEERABFETE
HERME BB RIEZAE
1E R E #E5K -

MEDZWIE - JHAEE
YE R & E A LUBEIR B fR0K

B £2024F [ 2023F 12 A31
HIEFEE  AEERE&SH
MALTDRBEE2ERIBE
£ EEFHMRMI T4 DT
FEV B TEaEFMEES
A+ R E F20244F 20234
12A31B L FENE 1B
NN

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31BLEEE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET R ARETT

Wages, salaries and bonuses IE - FHa ki 3,087
Contributions to pension plan, RAREFE - EEA
housing fund, medical Be  BERRE
insurance and other social H it =@ fl R
benefits 316
3,403
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

(@) Pension costs — defined contribution

11

Ot R
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #; 22024412 31 H It F /&
EERAE @
(@) BHRERE — RERE
T8l )

plans (continued)

The emoluments of the five highest paid
individuals except for the director, whose
emoluments have been disclosed in Note 34, fell
within the following bands:

Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 7LIA T~
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,008 7T =
1,500,000/ 7T
12 DIVIDENDS 12

At the meeting held on 27 March 2025, the Board
proposed the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.12
per share for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
nil), representing total amount of HK$58,388,000
(equivalents to approximately RMB53,889,000) (2023:
nil). This dividend is not reflected as a dividend payable
in the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

BREZ(EM D HERME
34)5N AERAFMA L
M FATEE :

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

Hﬁ 1%\

R2025F3 F27TH BN EH L -
EEEFREEE2024F12 431
HIEFERNREARESR0.12E T
(20234 : #&) - #8 ¥ /358,388,000
AT (1B E R4 A K #53,889,000
J0) (20234 : &) - R EWIFEZE
202412 A31 B I FE & G5k
KPEHINOENRE -

2024 EfhE FAEBEEHABRDA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

13 EARNINGS/LOSS PER SHARE 13 BRERN EE
(a) Basic earnings/loss per share () BREXRER EHE
The basic earnings/loss per share is calculated BREARRBHEIBIZRAA A
by dividing the earnings/loss attributable to IR 3R FE (R B T, 518 BR DA% BR
shareholders of the Company by the weighted AR E /T SRR ME T
average number of ordinary shares in issue during FTE o

the respective periods.

The weighted average number of ordinary TR INE T E AEUR
shares have been adjusted to reflect the shares R A 22024 F K 2023F12 A
repurchased under the share award scheme 31 B L FERER M, R 2]
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and RS -

2023.

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2023
20234
Profit/(loss) attributable to the NN &
shareholders of the Company B (B8)
(RMB’000) (AR®FT) 150,776 (265,786)
Weighted average number of B EITERARE N
ordinary shares in issue ('000) FHE(FR) 492,654 499,748
Basic earnings/(loss) per share SR EAREF]
(express in RMB per share) (B1E) (A8
ARETZ275) (0.53)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

13 EARNINGS/LOSS PER SHARE (continued)

(b) Diluted earnings/loss per share

Diluted earnings/loss per share adjusts the figures
used in the determination of basic earnings/loss
per share to take into account the after income
tax effect of interest and other financing costs
associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares,
and the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been outstanding
assuming the conversion of all potentially dilutive
ordinary shares.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, diluted
earnings/loss per share presented is the same as
the basic earnings/loss per share as there was no
potentially dilutive ordinary share outstanding.

13 ERERN, BEw
(b) EREBBEERN A

FhEERN BEARTE
BREARTNEBEMANE
B R ARBIE AR
B O ) B N EL A B TS AR AN RO BR
FEBRTE  UREMRBE
ST RREERNERNT
e TTRRSNE BA A INHE 15
2 o

R20244F 2023412 A 31
H - AR EZITEINERE
BEL R W2y ER
BEAN SERAgRERR
F B8R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 Y% - BERRZRHE

Office
Electronic equipment Leasehold

equipment and others  improvements Total
EfRfAE BAREREME HEWEXE Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TTR ARBT ARBT R ARBT R

Year ended 31 December 2024 BZE2024512A31ALEE
Opening net book amount FONEMFE 3,272 4,766 2,721 10,759
Additions NE 1,567 1,275 1,091 3,933
Disposals HE (211) (848) = (1,059)
Depreciation (Note 8) & (k) (1,620) (1,280) (2,102) (5,002)
Net book amount REFE 3,008 3,913 1,710 8,631
As at 31 December 2024 2024512318
Cost AR 6,781 6,769 (RE 19,686
Accumulated depreciation BEHiTE (3,773) (2,856) (4,426) (11,055)
Net book amount REFE 3,008 3,913 1,710 8,631
Office
Electronic equipment Leasehold
equipment and others improvements Total
EFHE WORBREM HEMEERE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT ARBTT ARETT
Year ended 31 December 2023 BZ2023F12B31AILFE
Opening net book amount FOREFE 2,802 7,184 3,609 13,595
Additions NE 2,271 871 1,872 5,014
Disposals HE (286) (1,421) = (1,707)
Depreciation (Note 8) & (k) (1,515) (1,868) (2,760) (6,143)
Net book amount REFE 3,272 4,766 2,721 10,759
As at 31 December 2023 R2023F12H31H
Cost AR 7,016 7,776 5,440 20,232
Accumulated depreciation ZEtE (3,744) (3,010) @,719) (9,473)

Net book amount REFE 3,272 4,766 2,721 10,759
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 V¥ - BERRERE @

(continued)
Depreciation of the Group’s property, plant and REBNYE  BELRETER
equipment has been recognised as follows: R -

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETTT

Selling expenses and distribution SHE R R SR AR

costs 1,843

General and administrative —RITHAE X
expenses 4,300
6,143
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

15 LEASES 15 &
(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (@) REPBBMRRRERN
statement of financial position MIE
The consolidated statement of financial position EHMBERARINTATER
shows the following amounts relating to leases: ME RIS

As at 31 December
M®12A31H

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETTT

Right-of-use assets EHEEE

Warehouse BE 25,364

Office TR/ 7,678

Dormitory B 8
33,050

Lease liabilities HEASE

Current Vi) 21,010

Non-current IERH 10,376
31,386
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

15 LEASES (continued) 15 HE @
(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (a) RESHBRREREEN
statement of financial position (continued) RIE (1)
Additions to the right-of-use assets during B £2024 % 2202312 A 31
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 ALFERENERAEEES
were RMB25,196,000 and RMB8,638,000, B A AR #25,196,0007T & A
respectively. R #8,638,0007T °

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETTT

Depreciation charge of right- FHREESERNEER
of-use assets

Warehouse BE 17,325
Office WAE 7,581
Dormitory S 94
25,000

Interest expenses (included in MEFx (FF A

finance costs) FA) 2,816
Expenses relating to short-term  E2%2 #4570 & A BF A9 5

leases (included in X (FFATTHAEX)

administrative expenses) 461
The total cash outflow for leases during the Bl £2024F 2023412 A 31
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 HItFE  HE5ReRtERE
were RMB18,627,000 and RMB28,851,000 2R A AR #18,627,0007T &
respectively. AR #28,851,0007T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

16

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16 BLEE

As at 1 January 2024
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2024
Opening net book amount
Additions

Amortisation charge (Note 8)

Net book amount

As at 31 December 2024
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net book amount
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720241 81H
[N
RETH#

EEDE S

BZE2024F12A31ALFE
FHIRRE R

NE

#HER (Mx8)

R FEE
20245128 31H
[N

RETEH

FR I F R

Software
B4
RMB’000
AR¥ T

6,694
(4,411)

2,283

2,283
239

(1,387)

1,135

6,919

(5,784)

1,135




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 16 BILEE @)
Software
Eg LS
RMB’000
ARET T
As at 1 January 2023 M2023F1H1H
Cost DN 5,232
Accumulated amortisation BT (2,443)
Net book amount BREF5E 2,789
Year ended 31 December 2023 EE2023F12H31BILFE
Opening net book amount FYREFER 2,789
Additions NE 1,462
Amortisation charge (Note 8) #isE R (M5x8) (1,968)
Net book amount BREFRE 2,283
As at 31 December 2023 2023 12H31H
Cost PR AR 6,694
Accumulated amortisation REt#is (4,411)
Net book amount BRHEF R 2,283
Amortisation of the intangible assets has been B EESEEROT

recognised as follows:

Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETTT

General and administrative — M RITHAX

expenses 1,968
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

17 NON-CURRENT PREPAYMENTS AND 17 FRBFEARER HEMELW

OTHER RECEIVABLES FRIE
As at 31 December
M12H31H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARET T
Deposits b A 3,195
Prepayment for purchase of BEYE BER
property, plant and equipment B TR FIE 91
3,286
18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 18 REFESTHWEMTE
CATEGORY
As at 31 December
MW12H31H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Bt & AR TR ARETT

Financial assets at fair value &2 1 EEF ABZEH

through profit or loss TREE 3.3 4,958
Financial assets at amortised & sAK AT ERN S
cost: BhEEE -
Trade receivables 2 5 W RIE 20 182,072 139,159
Other receivables H b & W kI8
(excluding value-added (M EIEE
tax recoverables, HEIEH - KD
deposits for share ERike - Al
repurchase, income tax [l P45 755t )
recoverable) 24,053 14,843
Restricted cash R HIER 2 22 1,332 2,416
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEZEEY 22 446,831 277,475
654,288 433,893

659,319 438,851
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 18 REHESWEHMTE @)
CATEGORY (continued)

As at 31 December
MW12H31H

2024 2023

2024 F 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5T AR¥ T ARBFT

Financial liabilities at RESRKATENS
amortised cost: BAafE:
Trade and other payables B 5 & H e
excluding non-financial FIE(TBIE
liabilities FEREE) 189,249 117,426
Borrowings B 29 130,000 161,990
Lease liabilities HEBRR 15 24,041 KT
343,290 310,802
19 INVENTORIES 19 F&
As at 31 December
M12H31H
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Finished goods BUAK M 446,578 512,427
Less: provision o B (72,089) (112,979)
374,489 399,448
The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and B £2024F £2023F12 H 31
included in cost of sales amounted to RMB649,030,000 HIEFE #RIA/HAXLA
and RMB576,379,000 for the years ended 31 HEXEANTFEXRED B A A
December 2024 and 2023, respectively. K #%649,030,000t X A R %

576,379,0007T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

19 INVENTORIES (continued) 19 EEw

236

Provision of inventories to net realisable value
recognised as expenses and included in cost of sales
amounted to RMB124,414,000 and RMB387,814,000
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
respectively.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of purchased inventories
are determined on the weighted average basis. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
purchase and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

20 TRADE RECEIVABLES

H £20244F 2023%F12831H 1t
FE HRBAI WL AHEEK
AOTFEREBEEAERFED 5
A AR #124,414,0007T & A R
387,814,000 °

Tr &R A 7R B ] 3R R E MR & H) &
BEIIRR - FEBE R AR T
BEEBT - JBHFERNAEE
EBBEPNGEER MG RE
XA R (st B B ERR AT E -

20 BEZEWFIR

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETT
Trade receivables 2 5 WA 182,987 139,858
Less: provision for impairment B ORE R (915) (699)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

20 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The majority of the Group’s receivables are with credit
term approximately from 10 days to 180 days. As at
31 December 2024 and 2023, the aging analysis of the
trade receivables, based on the recognition date, was

20 EZEWRIE @)

REENAHLDERRIENEE
Hi4) B10K 2180k ° 12024 F K
2023F 12 A31H ' & ZRWGIBE
R AHNERROTHT

As at 31 December
M12A31H

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETTT

as follows:

Less than 3 months DIA3E A

3 months to 6 months 3@ A=61EA
6 months to 12 months 618 A =121 A
More than 1 year 1F LA E

The movements in provision for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

165,975 121,676
12,754 11,075
4,146 6,963
112 144

182,987 139,858

B 5 K SRR E R R BB R
mF -

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREFTT

At the beginning of the year REA]
Provisions for trade receivables B 5 MW I8 B
Written off as uncollectible 25X W ] 1 4% §5
At the end of the year RER

699 884
2,288 901
(2,072) (1,086)

915 699
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BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

20 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

For the trade receivables, the Group has assessed the
expected credit losses by considering historical default
rates, existing market conditions and forward-looking
information. Based on the assessment, the creation and
reversal for impaired receivables have been included in
the net impairment losses on financial assets. Amounts
charged to allowance account are written off when
there is no expectation of receiving the receivables.

The carrying amounts excluding provision of the
Group’s trade receivables were denominated in the
following currencies:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20 E S EWRIE @)

HRNEZREFR  AEEBEBE
BESLEAR BRI KATEE
ERAHERBEEEE - RIEFT
il BENEUGRIENELE R EE
E&EF A S REE /R ER B F
# o AT g W B RUCGRIRR - 5
AR RO S BEBAZEE o

AEBEHE ZEUGENRE £
(T EERE) AT EEE

As at 31 December
MW12H31H

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBTTT

Us$ e

RMB AR
Canadian Dollar (“CAD”) i

Great Britain Pound (“GBP”) HEE
European Dollar (“EUR”) BT
Brazilian Real (“BRL”) EAEER
Others HAh
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155,486 123,573
26,275 12,247
756 745

134 1,060

56 1,741

21 —

259 492

182,987 139,858




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

21 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 21 ANFREREMERIIE
RECEIVABLES

As at 31 December
MW12H31H

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBFT

Receivables from payment FEMW T & RIB

platforms 5,336
Prepayments to suppliers and MR ke TR

platforms A RIE 4,619
Deposits for share repurchase R g R E S 2,323
Other deposits Hibize 1,403
Value-added tax recoverable AN HETE R 679
Export tax refundable JE U O AR A K 91
Income tax recoverable AU B AT A5 AR 1,377
Others H A 4,744

20,572

The carrying amounts of other receivables approximate Hth U RIBNREEREE AR A
their fair values. BE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 22 BERBEEBYRZRE
RESTRICTED CASH BE

As at 31 December
MW12H31H

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBTTT

Cash at bank RITER 448,163 279,891
Less: restricted cash (a) B XREIRE (@) (1,332 (2,416)
Cash and cash equivalents HehIAREEEY 446,831 277,475
(@) Restricted cash (a ZRFHRE
The breakdown of restricted cash by nature as at R2024 4 202312 A31H
31 December 2024 and 2023 is as follows: RME B H) X R HI2R £ B 4
UM

As at 31 December
M12H31H

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR ARBTIT

Restricted usage for salary ERARZFH:
payment only 2,003
Guarantee for online store credit FLA/E{ZFH RS
card facilities R ER 413
Others HAh —
2,416
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 22 HERBEEBYRZRE
RESTRICTED CASH (continued) BE @

(b) Cash at bank are denominated in (b) AR EETHERNRITE

=h
TA

As at 31 December
M12A31H

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETTT

us$ E7T 302,180 158,192
RMB ARK 123,649 81,166
HK$ 7 TT 16,569 35,464
EUR BT 3,435 3,972
CAD T 2,100 707
GBP HEE 173 390

AUD BT 57 —

448,163 279,891

23 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 23 RZAK R 7i=E

Number of Number of

ordinary preferred

Authorised: shares shares

EE EERHE BERHE
As at 1 January and 72024 FF [ 2023F

31 December 2024 and 2023 1H1H K&12AH31H 2,000,000,000 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

23 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 23 BRAK K7 %E @

(continued)
Amount
&8
Equivalent
Number of nominal value
ordinary of ordinary Share
Issued: shares issued share premium Total
BRTEER EERER
BT #E HE R 175 E Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARET R ARET R
As at 1 January and R2024F1 A1 K
31 December 2024 12A31H 500,000,000 1,581,592 1,581,766
Amount
Equivalent
Number of  nominal value
ordinary of ordinary Share
Issued: shares issued share premium Total
BEITERK ERRER
28T #H HfE BR1n i (B st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT
As at 1 January 2023 202351 H1H 500,000,000 174 1,603,477 1,603,651
Dividends distribution to BlEVRL S,
shareholders - - (21,885) (21,885)
As at 31 December 2023 12023512 A31H 500,000,000 174 1,581,592 1,581,766
The total number of issued share capital of the R20244F 2023 12H318 -
Company comprised 500,000,000 ordinary shares with ARAREBTRABELRE
a par value of US$0.00005 each as at 31 December 500,000,000 % & % 1 {£0.000053%
2024 and 2023. TR E A -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

SCHEME

The Group has adopted share award scheme (the
“Scheme”), effective from 15 September 2023 (the
“Adoption Date”). The Scheme is established to
recognise the contributions of the eligible persons and
motivate them to strive for the future development
and expansion of the Group. The Scheme will initially
be valid and effective for the period commencing
on the Adoption Date and ending on the business
day immediately prior to the 10th anniversary of the
Adoption Date. Pursuant to the Scheme, the award
shares will be satisfied by existing shares to be
acquired by a trustee (the “Trustee”) on the market. The
total number of the award shares underlying all grants
made pursuant to the Scheme shall not exceed 10% of
the issued share capital of the Group as at the Adoption
Date.

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the Company, through the Trustee, repurchased
8,568,500 and 3,446,000 shares at a consideration
of approximately HK$37,508,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB34,243,000) and HK$17,449,000
(equivalents to approximately RMB15,912,000),
respectively. The repurchased shares were recognised
as treasury shares.

24 SHARES HELD FOR EMPLOYEE SHARE 24 EER#GiTEEENKR G

RNEE B RA D B8 ([ %5
2l]) - BR2023F9A15H ([#R 49
HERD AW - ZitBEERATEE
BATHER R BB K SEHAEE
HiEERRIEREL S - %8
125 45 A ER 40 B HARA 16 = B A% B 3
FHEF A — A& X8 1FHH
BERRER - RIBZTE - XA
(IZFEAD BRTHRBEERERND
AR AR 1 o BIRFZET 81
BIFT A SR EDAR A 0y SR ED AR 10 B BT
SEBAREENRNE BHE TR
ANHEI10% ©

#H £20244%F &2023%12831H 1t
FE ARREBAITAZRRE
#937,508,0007 T (K HHE N AR
#34,243,0007T) & 17,449,000/%
7T (898 E M A R #15,912,0007T)
f [218,568,500 % 1% 3,446,000 % A%
7 - BERMDERBEFR -

2024F e FAERARRAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

25 OTHER RESERVES 25 Hh{#E
Statutory Capital
reserve reserve Total
EERME EXRfEE et

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETET ARBTT ARETRT

As at 1 January 2024 7K2024F1 A1H 38,435 (1,306,250) (1,267,815)
Appropriation to statutory ¥ &= A F &
reserves 305 305
As at 31 December 2024 7202412 A31H 38,740 (1,306,250) (1,267,510)
As at 1 January 2023 #2023%1 18 38238  (1,306,250)  (1,268,012)
Appropriation to statutory & &= A F &
reserves 197 — 197
As at 31 December 2023 7 2023F12 A31H 38,435 (1,306,250) (1,267,815)
(a) Statutory surplus reserves () EZEBERFHE
Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in RIEFEEBERER - A
the PRC, the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC REIEFRENHEARZEBR
shall make appropriations from after-tax profit to B EERBAEATEME A
non-distributable reserve funds as determined AESEETMN TR DK
by the boards of directors of the relevant PRC e
subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

25 HifRE @

25 OTHER RESERVES (continued)

(a)

Statutory surplus reserves (continued)

In accordance with the relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC and Articles of Association
of the companies incorporated in the PRC now
comprising the Group (the “PRC Subsidiaries”),
it is required to appropriate 10% of the annual
statutory net profits of the PRC Subsidiaries, after
offsetting any prior years’ losses as determined
under the PRC accounting standards, to the
statutory reserves fund before distributing the net
profit. When the balance of the statutory reserves
fund reaches 50% of the registered capital of the
PRC Subsidiaries, any further appropriation is
at the discretion of shareholders. The statutory
reserves fund can be used to offset prior years’
losses, if any, and may be converted into share
capital by issuing new shares to shareholders in
proportion to their existing shareholding, provided
that the remaining balance of the statutory
reserves fund after such issue is not less than
25% of registered capital.

Capital reserve

Capital reserve mainly represents (i) the aggregate
paid-in capital of the subsidiaries acquired,
offset by investment costs in subsidiaries of the
Company during the reorganisation completed
in the year ended 31 December 2018; and (ii)
RMB6,250,000 consideration paid by the Group
to the shareholders for acquiring the entire net
assets of Wuzaixing (BVI) Limited (“Wuzaixing
BVI”, formerly known as Xingzezhi (BVI) Limited)
and its subsidiaries as such Wuzaixing BVI has
been consolidated into the Group on the basis of
business combination under common control.

(a)

2024F B EH

EERSRGEE @)

RIEFBREBERERARK
£ B IR E T B K
VHE AR (TRRAMBAR])
WEERAA - PRAWBA
AR 5k ) B B8 AT 88 B
&5 B F 5 (K E BRI
Bl e R EENERBES
EEER%) Z10% 2R ERHE
T BAERBSEBERR
Bl b B~ m) sE i & A #950% -
BERAEITRERT EES R
ERFRIE - EEREES T AE
REBAFENESE (InE) -
I Al B M IR R R B IR A B AR
LE B BT IR D8 L BN
BEBETERNEE#ESE
BB LOREFMERMN25% °

EXf#tE

BEARRHEEEZIEGND WEK
BRARMNEBERERNGEE K
B =2018F12A31B Lt &EE
TROEEBEARRRNEA
AR IR B R AN BT R 8H 5 R (i)
N £ [ 7t Y B Wuzaixing (BVI)
Limited [EETRBHER R
B 5] - B1HXingzezhi (BVI)
Limited) X B A A2 E
EFERARREINNEHEAR
#6,250,0007T ' RAABEE
THEBHER RS EIRARE
FITHEESHEEFARSE
@ o

FREREARRDA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

26 RETAINED EARNINGS 26 ;REBEEF

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETTT

At the beginning of the year REA] 185,699 451,682
Net profit/(loss) for the year FEFE(E8) F58
— Attributable to shareholders — AR AR EL
of the Company 150,776 (265,786)
Appropriation to statutory reserves B Z= A F (305) (197)
At the end of the year REXR 336,170 185,699
27 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 27 EEFREMH
The analysis of net deferred income tax assets and BEFMBHEERBELEFRGHAE
deferred income tax liabilities is as follows: RO :
As at 31 December
MW12831H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥E T ARET T
Deferred income tax liabilities: BIEFTSTRARE :
To be settled within 12 months R12{@ A R&EE -
To be settled after more than RiEBE1218 A %
12 months we —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

27 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

The movement of the deferred income tax account is as

27 EEFBH @

EEFASHREREBIFTRAOT -

follows:
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET T ARBFT
At the beginning of the year R F ) — 14,496
Charged to profit or loss =Rk (2,116) (14,496)
At the end of the year RFER (2,116) —

The movement in deferred income tax assets
and liabilities during the year, without taking into
consideration the offsetting of balances within the same
tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

Allowance for
impairment of

trade

receivables

Accrued and inventory
payroll provision
g5 WA
BERER

EitTE& FEREE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTRL

EEMESHEERAENFRE
(T R AR BRI RIS e AR A
BRI -

Lease Accrued
liabilities  Tax losses expenses Total
HESR HEBR ARER @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTE ARETE ARET:R

13,277 2,219 - 27,107
(13,277) 2,219) - (27,107)

As at 1 January 2023 #2023F1 818 1,417 10,194
Charged to profit or loss NE B (1,417) (10,194)
As at 31 December Fh20235 [20245F

2023 and 2024 12A31H = =

2024 EfhE FAEBEEHABRDA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

27 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued) 27 EERBH @
Right-of-use
assets Other Total
EHREE H At @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTIT AREBTE ARBTET

Deferred income tax BIEFTISHAE -

liabilities:
As at 1 January 2024 20241 H1H - -
Charged to profit or loss ~ f1H 3838 (2,116) (2,116)
As at 31 December 2024 72024412 A31H (2,116) (2,116)
As at 1 January 2023 R2023%1818 (12,611) — (12,611)
Credited to profit or loss FFABE 12,611 - 12,611

As at 31 December 2023 2023412 A31H — — —

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the expiration of R20244F }%2023F12A31H * K
tax losses carried forward for which deferred income BRELEMSHEENSEETIEE
tax assets is not recognised is as follows: BRI EBERET

As at 31 December
M12A31H

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
NGB A ARET T

Tax losses expiring within 1 year P1FEREE 2 TIEEE 1,008

Tax losses expiring between 1-2 years #1229 RN E|H 2 #i 18
B8 -

Tax losses expiring between 2-3 years 72 Z3F N E|H 2 #i 18
B 69

Tax losses expiring between 3-4 years 1 3E 44 N2 H 2 Fi 18
BB 6,189 3,227

Tax losses expiring between 4-5 years 4 Z=5F N E|H 2 #i 18
&8 — 18,559
Tax losses without expiration EmIEA 2 MIEEE 193,731 241,667
202,694 264,530
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

27 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued) 27 EEREH @
As at 31 December 2024, unrecognised temporary R2024F12A31H @ ARG B
differences are as follows: XL (N

As at 31 December
MW12H31H

2024 2023

2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBFT

Temporary difference for whichno  KIERIELF B E E sk

deferred tax asset or liability was BEMNERERE !
recognised:
— Allowance for impairment of trade — & 5 & & X8 (&
receivables and inventory BELGERE
provision 113,678
— Accrued payroll — BEIE 12,795
— Lease liabilities and right-of-use ~ — & & & & {F F#&
assets BE (1,664)
124,809
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

28 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 28 ESRHMENSKE

As at 31 December
M®12A31H

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETTT

Trade payables B 5 RIE 116,638 85,957
Refund liabilities BEr AR’ 71,167 49,147
Accrued payables to third-party ENE=FEFFEE
e-commerce platforms A 63,806 21,325
Payroll and social security ENTERTERES 56,188 38,406
Other tax payables H{th TR 18 1,518 1,360
Interest payables JE 1~ A1) 2, 94 69
Other payables H b BT FRIB 8,711 10,075
318,122 206,339
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the aging analysis 2024 F 20236 12A318 * &
of the trade payables based on transaction date was as SREMRIBRR 5 B B RE DT
follows: T
As at 31 December
M12H31H
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETTT
Within 3 months 3EARA 114,140 56,011
Between 3 months and 1 year 3EAE1F 2,495 28,891
Between 1 year and 2 years 1 E2F s 1,088
116,638 85,957
The carrying amounts of trade and other payables fé’%&,ﬁﬁﬂﬁéﬁ K IE A AR [ (B BE H
approximate their fair values. ANRERE

250 ZIBUYU GROUP LIMITED  Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

29 BORROWINGS 29 B

As at 31 December

M12831H

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARBTTT

Current &

Bank borrowings — Unsecured IRITHER — B|ER 130,000 161,990

(@ The weighted average effective interest rates (@) #ZE2024% [£2023F12 A31

(b)

during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 were as follows:

B IEFE R I B A R
mr

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEFE

2023

20234

Bank borrowings RITIEN 4.32%
The fair values of the borrowings of the Group AEEEBRNAABERLERR
are approximate to their carrying amounts, since BEEE  BZSERFEE
either the interest rates of those borrowings are RIS RS EREREN

close to current market rates or the borrowings
are of a short-term nature.

The analysis of the carrying amounts of the
Group’s borrowings by currency was as follows:

(b)

AEEBEFIZESE DR
BEoHwE

As at 31 December

RMB AR

MW12H31H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
130,000 161,990
2024 EHRE FRABERAERAD

251



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

30 CASH FLOW INFORMATION 30 BERER

252

(@) Cash generated from operation

(a)

REmBRE

Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLEE

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AR®ET T
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETIS B AT A,
(BHE) 154,671 (247,211)
Adjustments for: FLUATRNIE B A% :
Depreciation of right-of-use EREEERE
assets 18,827 25,000
Depreciation of property, plant,  #1% - = & & E&
and equipment e 5,002 6,143
Amortisation of intangible asset /24 FE # 4 1,387 1,968
Losses on disposal of property, HEME  WEK&
plant and equipment RIEHEE 651 565
Gains on disposal of right-of-use & & A& ER
assets W e (953) (130)
Interest expenses B 7,515 9,457
Interest income FEWA (11,544) (5,276)
Net impairment losses on TREEREERE
financial assets HER 2,288 901
Write-down of inventories FERE 124,414 387,814
Net foreign exchange losses [ 5 BB 55 (3,906) (2,532)
Operating profit before changes &iE& £ & EA1H)
in working capital IRV 298,352 176,699
Changes in working capital: HEERE
Decrease in restricted cash PR 138 & R 1,084 5,957
Increase in inventories (excluding F& &N (‘R B
the write off of inventories) FEMHE) (99,455) (32,593)
(Increase)/decrease in trade 2 5 W FRIE
receivables (38 m),/m (45,201) 35,848
(Increase)/decrease in TR FRIE K e
prepayment and other WeskIE (380),
receivables Vo (11,009) 4,391
Increase/(decrease) in trade and & 5 [ H fth &~ FIE
other payables #hn CRd) 111,794 (88,162)
Decrease in contract liabilities BHEERD (3,043) (2,125)
Cash generated from operations £ & FT{SIR & 252,522 100,015
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

30 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Net debt reconciliation

Net debt as at
1 January 2024

Cash flows

New leases

Early termination of
lease

Amortisation of
borrowing costs

Effects of exchange rate
changes

Net debt as at
31 December 2024

Net debt as at
1 January 2023

Cash flows

New leases

Early termination of
lease

Amortisation of
borrowing costs

Effects of exchange rate
changes

Net debt as at
31 December 2023

K2024F1 /818
KBTS R
RERE
FHE
HERRIZLE

ERNDRS: i

EHEDYE

R2024 4
1283181
BI5FEE

®2023%F1/81H
O ER e
REME
FEE
HERATA L

5 BRRK A  3H

EREBy e

M20234

12A831HH
BI5F5

30 BERER @

(b) BEHFHEHR

Bank

borrowings

Lease and interest
liabilities payable
HEAE PE A+ F 2
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETET

31,386 162,059
(18,013) (38,154)
25,196 -

(15,866)

1,326

12

130,094

Total
et

RMB’000
ARBT T

193,445
(56,167)
25,196
(15,866)

7,515

12

154,135

71,798 168,036 239,834
(28,390) (12,646) (41,036)
8,638 - 8,638
(23,362) - (23,362)
2,816 6,641 9,457
(114) 28 (86)
31,386 162,059 193,445
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

31

32

COMMITMENTS
Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had no
significant capital commitment.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related parties are those parties that have the ability
to control, jointly control or exert significant influence
over the other party in holding power over the
investee; exposure or rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and the ability to use
its power over the investee to affect the amount of the
investor’s returns. Parties are also considered to be
related if they are subject to common control or joint
control. Related parties may be individuals or other
entities.

(a) The directors of the Company are of the view that
the following parties/companies were related
parties that had transaction or balances with the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2024:

Name of related parties

BTG &8

31

32

EEEE
BAREBEH

M20244F % 2023F12 A31H » &
EEWESRERNEKAEIE -

REL XS

BABE T IE A e IR - HRIFE SIS
EHREHRBAERNFGEHHT
BNEAZE  A2EREHR
B 5% 765 T A 42 m] & () S /) [ e o
A BBRNEAREARITER
BOAMEEREELRESENA
T o WRE—E I I RZES - T
WAR SRR TS - BE T ] SEASK
HMELE -

(@) ARREZRATIAL A
Al AN E £2024F12A31H
IEFEEAEEER Hk bt
W R T -

Relationship with the Company
EAA QR EHF

Hangzhou Shuzhi Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Hangzhou Shuzhi”)
FNB R R B R 2 &) ([H N B ])
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32 BEBARS @
(continued)
(b) Transactions with related parties (b) HEBIHNRS
Related party transactions of the Group are listed AEERMBABARZ 250
as follows: g
(i) Purchase of IT services () BEITRHZE

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETTT

Hangzhou Shuzhi AR

(c) Balances with related parties (c) EEEAEE T HVAERR

As at 31 December
MW12831H
2024 2023
2024 £ 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARET T

Trade and other payables ¥ 3 Kk H N FIE
Hangzhou Shuzhi U B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32 BEBARS @

(continued)

(d) Key management compensation d) FTEEEE H N
Key management includes directors (executive FEEEERRASEES
and non-executive) and the senior management of BITRIFNT) RS RER
the Group. The compensation paid or payable to c StEERBEE S ERE
key management for employee services is shown EEEENHMAT
below:

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBTTT

Wages, salaries and bonuses TE  #Fe ksl 6,498
Contributions to pension plan, RRe:tE - #EA
housing fund, medical Be - BERRBR
insurance and other social Hithtt ga 3R
benefits 684
7,182
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

33 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 33 %/&ﬁﬂ?ﬁ%ﬂkiﬂ%&ﬁﬁ%
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE

COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position of the (@) ARRMBEMRRE
Company
As at 31 December
MR12A31H
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'O@
AR® T AR®ETTT
ASSETS BE
Non-current asset FRBEE
Investment in subsidiaries RHTB R R E 1,300,000 1,300,000
Prepayments and other receivables TR FRIA K E A FE W R IE 201,179 235,753
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 28 49
Total non-current assets kRBEELE 1,501,207 1,535,802
Current asset REEE
Prepayments and other receivables TEAST BRIE & H b FE WK IE 21,801 15,379
Cash and cash equivalents ReMASEEY 11,636 19,402
Total current assets hEBEEHAE 33,437 34,781
Total assets WEE 1,534,644 1,570,583
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liabilities kRBERF
Lease liabilities HEEE 28
Total non-current liabilities I REBEEER 28
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables H Ath fE < 3018 2,638
Current income tax liabilities BVERFR S A& 2,143
Lease liabilities HEAE 24
Total current liabilities REBAEAE 4,805
Total liabilities e N=Ci 4,833
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to shareholders of 772 7] iR R FE/L 25
the Company
Share capital [N 174 174
Share premium PRID (B 1,581,592 1,581,592
Shares held for employee share scheme (& 8 & (3 5t 85 A )% 15 (50,155) (15,912)
Retained earnings/(accumulated losses) REZF],(Z5tEE) 693 (104)
Total equity S 1,532,304 1,565,750
Total equity and liabilities EEREaERE 1,534,644 1,570,583

2l

The statement of financial position of the RRBIHBARRKBLRRRE
Company was approved by the Board of Directors EER2025F3 27 B#LEL
of the Company on 27 March 2025 and was ATAIALTRAEERSE
signed on its behalf by:

Hua Bingru Chen Caixiong
ZRW BR 7 4
Director Director
EE EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

33 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 33 AQTBBRIREEES

AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE @)
COMPANY (continued)
(b) Reserve movements of the Company (b) AATHEEE
Retained
earnings/
Other (Accumulated
reserves losses) Total
REEF,
Hitof (R3HE8R) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBETT ARBETT ARBTT

Balance at 1 January 2024 1202451 A1H

0 &5 4

Profit for the year FEME
Balance at 1202412 A31H

31 December 2024 FIFEE

Balance at 1 January 2023 /202341 A1H

B 4 - 1,408 1,408

Loss for the year FEBHE — (1,512) (1,512)
Balance at 2023F12 A31H

31 December 2023 B 4 R = (104) (104)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

34 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 34 EEFEIRER
DIRECTORS
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a) EERFETHAEZH
emoluments [
For the year ended 31 December 2024: HE2024F12A31BIEFE

Social security
costs, housing

benefits and
Discretionary employee
Name Fees Salaries bonuses welfare Total
HREX
EEEFR
®E e e HERA EEER @it

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARETR ARETR AR®TR AR®T:R

Chairman: I

Hua Bingru () ER()

Executive directors: BOTEE:

Chen Caixiong (Chief B A 1 (7TBUBED) (i)

Executive Officer) (i)

Dong Zhenguo EiRE

Wang Weiping EET

Non-executive director: FHTEE:

Hua Hui it

Independent non-executive B FHTES :

directors:

Yu Kefei AR

Shen Tianfeng hHRE

Lau Kin Shing Charles 2Rk

()  Mr. Hua Bingru was re-designated from () FERWEENR2024F3
Chief Executive Officer of the Company H27B AR A RITTERAR
(“CEO”) to Co-CEO on 27 March 2024 and H(ITHREARET A
has resigned as Co-CEO from 29 August 5 1T IR 4B & e 52024
2024. F8H29HEHEMF1TIN

KmE -

(i) Mr. Chen Caixiong was appointed as a Co- (i) PR A Mk E 202443
CEO on 27 March 2024 and appointed as an R2TREZEREFT
executive director and re-designated from 5 48 £ I 72024 F 8 A
Co-CEO to CEO on 29 August 2024. WVHEZXABHITES

MABEITRAHET
RITIEBE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

34 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 34 EEEMNRER @
DIRECTORS (continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s () EBRFETHAEBZH
emoluments (continued) B 4
For the year ended 31 December 2023: HZE2023F12 A31HIEFE

Social security
costs, housing

benefits and
Discretionary employee
Name Fees Salaries bonuses welfare Total
HRFAY -
FREFR
o] e e (iR EERMN @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTL  ARBTT ARBTT AR%TRT AR%TR

Chairman: EE:

Hua Bingru (CEQ) ERM(TTREEH) — 791 66 88 945
Executive directors: HTEE:

Xu Shijian (Chief Financial HEX(ERUEE))

Officer) (i - 647 64 79 790
Dong Zhenguo EiRE = 482 37 82 601
Wang Weiping EET = 355 30 79 464
Wang Shijian (i F5al () = 202 = 65 267
Non-executive director: FHTES:

Hua Hui Eicd 3 54 = = = 54

Independent non-executive B FHTEE !

directors:
Yu Kefei GEEE 216 - - - 216
Shen Tianfeng hHE 216 = = = 216
Lau Kin Shing Charles B9 216 = = = 216
702 2,477 197 393 3,769
()  Mr. Wang Shijian and Mr. Xu Shijian () ETHFAEERBFBAR
tendered their resignation as executive EERFEFTARRDF
directors of the Company with effect from 3 MITEE - 52023F11
November 2023. HA3HRBER °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

34 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ retirement and termination
benefits

None of the directors of the Company received
any retirement benefits or termination benefits in
respect of their services to the Group for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Consideration provided to third parties
for making available directors’ services

No payment was made to the former employers
of the directors for making available the services
of them as a director of the Company during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Information about loans, quasi-loans
and other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate
by and connected entities with such
directors

There are no other loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings entered into between the Group and the
directors and in favour of the directors, or body
corporate controlled by or entities connected with
any of the directors during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts

There are no significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year/period or at any
time during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

34 EEEAMEER @

EERARERER

ARREEMEREERE
2024 K&2023F12H31H IE
FE RIS B A AR 75 Y X
AR R 8 R BB AR A -

MRAESRBM AT
E=RHHE

#2024 % 2023F12 A 31
HIEFE  BMERARAES
REESRBRESIEETX
REMER -

LEE s EEMEFEA
BEKBESESZEA
MEM BERREMR
Z N HEEER

& £2024F 20234 12 A 31
HIEFE  AEBHEEHE
RIMNEESHEMNESE
HEEAE B EERESS
BENERAITANEME
FEERREMRS -

EERRS - ZYHEY
MEXERS

RE/H KK H E2024F &
2023F12A31H I FEM T
B R - AR RIBE AT SRR
HAEBEXEBEEMARNARE
SEENEEFREE A EEN
BEARG BRHEREH

2024 EfhE FAEBEEHABRDA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

35 SUBSIDIARIES 35 HiE L F
As at 31 December 2024, the Company had direct and H E2024F12831H ' AR A&
indirect interest in the following subsidiaries: INTHEBRART SR EE KEERE

Percentage of attributable

Type of legal  Country/Place and equity interestto the  Principal activities and place
Company name entity date of incorporation  Paid-in capital Company of operation
EMRLER 5
AAERE EARBRER RAS Eags FLARGRRAAY  regypemny
2023
20236
Zibuyu BVI Limited Limited liability ~ British Virgin Islands US$1 100% Investment holding, in the British
company 21 August 2018 Virgin Islands
Zibuyu BVI Limited BRAR KBEBRES E 100% REZR AEEHBRES
201858 A21A
Zibuyu International Limited Limited liability Hong Kong HK$100,000 100% Operation of online stores on

company 19 September 2016 third-party e-commerce
platforms, procurement and

sales of products, in

Hongkong
FAERRAERARF BRAR BB 100,000/ 7 100% Z=FEHTABEEE HE
201659198 RERHE REB
Hong Kong Zijin Limited Limited liability Hong Kong - 100% Investment holding, in Hongkong
company 26 November 2018
BETHERAR ARRAA &R = 100% REER  REE
2018411261
Wuzaixing (BVI) Limited Limited liability ~ British Virgin Islands US$1 100% Investment holding, in the British
company 16 October 2018 Virgin Islands
Wuzaixing (BVI) Limited BR AR KEEARES e 100% HALER NEBERRES
20184104164
Zhgjiang Zibuyu E-commerce Co., Limited liability The PRC RMB30,000,000 100% Technical support and operation
Ltd. (“Zhejiang Zibuyu”) company 20 April 2011 of website, in the PRC
HIFAEEFEBERAA BRAA el AR 100% Hfii i RABUEES - R B
(T FAED 201154208 30,000,0007C
Hangzhou Shangzhi Network Limited liability The PRC - 100% Investment holding, in the PRC
Technology Co., Ltd. company 20 November 2018
il E BB ERAF ARRA HE = 100% REER  RHE
2018411 A20H
Hangzhou Zibuyu Supply Chain Limited liability The PRC RMB10,000,000 100% Warehousing, freight forwarding,
Management Co., Ltd. company 29 August 2017 supply chain management
services, design and R&D, in
the PRC
MM F T EREEERERAA ARRA HE AEE 100% 2f# 5E - HEEERRYE

201748A29R 10,000,0007c RETRAE - R E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SO BRI

35 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

35 MEAE @

Type of legal  Country/Place and
Company name entity date of incorporation  Paid-in capital
EMRLER b
AEER EARRRE RAH BHEX
Guangzhou Zibuyu Supply Chain Limited liability The PRC RMB3,000,000
Service Co., Ltd. company 16 October 2017
BMNFAEGEEREERAR BRRA HE ARE
20174104167 3,000,0007C
Huzhou Zibuyu Supply Chain Limited liability The PRC RMB10,000,000
Management Co., Ltd. company 10 December 2020
HNF AR EEERERAR BRAR e AR
2020412 A10R 10,000,0007C
Hangzhou Chengyusi Network Limited liability The PRC RMB500,000
Technology Co., Ltd. company 23 May 2018
MR BBER AR A BRAF el ARE
201855234 500,0007C
Hangzhou Junbugi Network Limited liability The PRC RMB1,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd. company 25 August 2017
MMET SRR RERAT BRRF HE ARE
201758 A25H 1,000,000
Xingzezhi HK Limited Limited liability Hong Kong HK$100,000
company 1 November 2018
TAEEEBRAA BRAR & 100,000/ T
2018411417
Hangzhou Xingzezhi Internet Limited liability The PRC RMB1,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd. company 20 November 2018
MMTAIZRERRER AR BRAR e AR
2018411 A20H 1,000,0007C
Dongguan Zibuyu Supply Chain Limited liability The PRC RMB3,000,000
Management Co., Ltd. company 27 April 2021
RETAEMEREERERAR BRAR e AR
202164 H27R 3,000,0007C
Shenzhen Zibuyu E-commerce Limited liability The PRC RMB1,000,000
Co., Ltd. company 22 December 2021
RINFAEEFEBERAR BRAF HE AE®
2021512 228 1,000,0007C

Percentage of attributable
equity interest to the
Company

FRRAEGREEDL

2023
20235

2024
20245

Principal activities and place
of operation

TERBREENH

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Warehousing, freight forwarding,
supply chain management
services, design and R&D, in
the PRC

B HE HERERRE-
Ret R - R B

Warehousing, freight forwarding,
supply chain management
services, design and R&D, in
the PRC

B HE HERERRE-
ReT R - R B

Technical support and operation
of website, in the PRC

Bt kBunEs  nhE

Technical support and operation
of website, in the PRC
Btz R BkES - RhE

Operation of online stores on
self-operated online stores,
procurement and sales of
products, in Hongkong

BEBUNEEES RERE
mHE  REE

Technical support and operation
of website, in the PRC

Ry BREMEL  NHE

Warehousing, freight forwarding,
supply chain management
services, design and R&D, in
the PRC

B HE HERERRE-
ReT R - R B

Technical support and operation
of website, in the PRC

Rtk BnEs  nHE

2024 EfhE FAEBEEHABRDA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

35 SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 35 KB R @)

Percentage of attributable

264

Type of legal  Country/Place and equity interest to the  Principal activities and place
Company name entity date of incorporation  Paid-in capital Company of operation
EMRLER 5
AAERE EARBRER RAS Eggs ALABERRESY  repppemsy
2023
20236
Guangzhou Xingzezhi Internet Limited liability The PRC RMB1,000,000 100% Technical support and operation
Technology Co., Ltd. company 28 July 2021 of website, in the PRC
BMTBZBERBRERAA BRAA e AR® 100% RiTHRBUEES - RhE
202167 H28H 1,000,0007C
Hangzhou Xingzezhi E-commerce Limited liability The PRC = 100% Technical support and operation
Co., Ltd. (b) company 16 March 2022 of website, in the PRC
MMTRIZEFEBERRAA(D) BRRA e = 100% RATH RABIEEE - R B
202253 A16H
Xiamen Zibuyu E-commerce Limited liability The PRC RMB600,000 100% Technical support and operation
Co., Ltd. (b) company 17 May 2022 of website, in the PRC
EMFIEEFEBERAAD) BRAA el AR 100% i RABEES - R E
2022465R17H 600,0007C
GAGOO INC Limited liability - The United States of US$150,000 100% Procurement and sales of
company America products, in the United
08 June 2023 States of America
GAGOO INC BRAR e 150,0005% 100% HREREMMEE RER
202356 A8H
Wuzaixing GmbH Limited liability - The Federal Republic of Euro25,000 100% Operation of online stores on
company Germany third-party e-commerce
4 December 2023 platforms, procurement and
sales of products, in
Germany
Wuzaixing GmbH BB AT EETHALNA 25,000817¢ 100% F=HFEFTRALEE 7B
2023512 4R RERFE - NEH
Zibuyu Vietnam Company Limited () ~ Limited liability Vietnam - — Purchase products, in Vietnam
company 23 December 2024
Zibuyu Vietnam Company Limited (¢)  &E A il = - PRER NEE
2024512 4230

(@@ As at 31 December 2024, there are 393
companies, with no assets and liabilities, paid-up
capital and business operation, established solely
for the purpose of registration of seller stores
on e-commerce platforms. These companies
are indirectly wholly-owned subsidiaries of the

Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b) In order to optimise the Group’s business and
shareholding structure, the Group deregistered
Xiamen Zibuyu E-commerce Co., Ltd. and
Hangzhou Xingzezhi E-commerce Co., Ltd. during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

(¢) In order to the improve supply chain efficiency,
the Group registered Zibuyu Vietnam Company
Limited during the year ended 31 December
2024.

* The English names of certain subsidiaries referred to
above represent the best effort made by management
of the Company to directly translate the Chinese
names as they have not registered any official English

names.
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

There were no significant contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2024 (31 December 2023: nil).

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 27 February 2025, Zhejiang Zibuyu entered into
the Intelligent Advertising System Construction and
Development Contract with Hangzhou Shuzhi, pursuant
to which Zhejiang Zibuyu engaged Hangzhou Shuzhi
to provide intelligent advertising system construction
and development services for a term commencing from
27 February 2025 and ending on 31 December 2025,
with an aggregate system development fee of RMB2.70
million.

35

36

37

Fft B A Tl ()

b) ABECAEEMNEREKRESR
B AEERE E20245F12
AS1 Bt FEFHEF1E
ETREARA R RIMNITE
EEFEBAERRAR -

c AESHERERDLX K&
B A E E2024512A318
1F % Z 5 fit Zibuyu Vietnam
Company Limited °

* EXFRETHEB AR KA
BOARBEREERABIE
BIEZE QRN P X EREETH
#}E EAAREFARBEEMR
XA -

HAREE

M2024F12 5318 @ &= K8
SRE1E (2023F12 A31H : &)

HREE

202542 5278 /LT T8 &
MINBERET & B S R R A
BER - B AT FREBEREM
MEBIRH BB ERFERFAE
AR %% - AR 7% HABR 5202542 H27H
REE2025F12H31H IE - RFFH
BELSHARK270BE T -

2024F B EH

FREREARRDA

265




266

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

37

38

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (continued)

On 27 February 2025, Zhejiang Zibuyu entered
into the Intelligent Advertising Subscription Service
Contract with Hangzhou Shuzhi, pursuant to which
Zhejiang Zibuyu engaged Hangzhou Shuzhi to provide
intelligent advertising subscription services for a term
commencing from 27 February 2025 and ending on 31
December 2025.

Other than disclosed above and elsewhere in this
report, there was no significant subsequent event after
31 December 2024.

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

38.1 Subsidiaries
Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity
where the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date that control ceases.
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R E2025%2 827 HEE2025% 12
A318 1k °

Br E X RATREEMEMETHEE
Gh - A20245F12A31 B 1% - i &
T EXHEEE -

Htt e EZ NS5 BUERM
=

38.1 ftE A &
B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 HmgeE BT BRE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES = @)

(continued)

38.1 Subsidiaries (continued) 38.1 B2 & (#)

Consolidation (continued)

Inter-company transactions, balances and
unrealised gains/losses on transactions between
group companies are eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.

38.2 Business combination

Merger accounting for business combination
involving businesses under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements items of the combining
business in which the common control
combination occurs as if it had been combined
from the date when the combining business first
came under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining business are
consolidated using the existing book values from
the controlling party’s perspective. No amount
is recognised in respect of goodwill or bargain
purchase gain at the time of common control
combination.

The consolidated statement of comprehensive
income includes the results of the combining
business from the earliest date presented or since
the date when the combining business first came
under the common control, where this is a shorter
period.

B OfASR ()

RAEIAR S - R EE QT
RS RER KR EEY
WA - FRIFAR R
BEEARETR - WELQF
VBT BREFL B EEN
PAEGR AR SR B IR AR R —
B o

382 hE¥EEH

B REEZHFHLIEFEE G
HY & GFE a1 %

EHMBRRBEEEARE
Bl &G E R P ERE
B BMZFEBE BAHD
EERXERSEHERER
BHFARK -

RERTME  AHEENE
EFEDRAREGEEESH
AR o BEE BN KRR HIE
TH e

B zERERBRAHEE
BERE2JBEHEXREAHFE
FERERERZEST 2 A
AR (ABRE & ) 2 5648 -

2024F e FAERARRAA
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BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 HnlgtEEM T BUERH
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES E (@)

(continued)

38.2 Business combination (continued) 382 ¥SH @

268

Merger accounting for business combination
involving businesses under common control
(continued)

The comparative amounts in the consolidated
financial statements are presented as if the
business had been combined at the beginning of
the previous reporting period or when it first came
under common control, whichever is shorter.
These activities were combined with all intra-
group balances and transactions eliminated within
the Group.

38.3 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of the
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in the
subsidiaries is required upon receiving dividends
from these investments if the dividend exceeds
the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary
in the year the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount
in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 HmgeE BT BRE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES E @)

(continued)

38.4 Foreign currencies 38.4 Jh &
Functional and presentation currency WEER 25 B #

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). Since all of the purchase of inventories
and the management operation activities of the
Group are located in the PRC, the consolidated
financial statements are presented in RMB, which
is the Company’s functional and the Group’s
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at year-end exchange rates
are generally recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on a net
basis within “Other gains, net”.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings are presented in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, within
“Finance costs”. All other foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on a net
basis within “Other gains, net”.

2024F B EH

AEBESBEBNYBHHREMT
HEANZERLEMENE
ERERENEE (R
KDEE - ARAKERERE
ERBMEEEELDHUR
FEIRA - AR IRER A
AREBZ25 ARBTASAR
AN EERAKREZIE
M o

X5 R

INER BB 5 E H K IE KR
BERMEEER - BEEBERS
RASNESHENEBKEERA
EIR F A5 [E R IR E P8 A [E
Rl e REBE—RIRFREELE
REHEZEKERPHIEM
W FEE R -

ERE SR R INE W as e B 1B
EEHEEREEZN [ BK
K]FH|TR o BT A EH A HNE U 2=
kEBEEHEZEKERTH
[ E b e F 58 ] USRI ©

TERHARRLQA
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 HnlgtEEM T BUERH

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined. Translation differences on assets
and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as
part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in profit
or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets
such as equities classified as fair value through
other comprehensive income are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

38.5 Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less depreciation and impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with
the asset will flow to the Group and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of any component accounted for as a
separate asset is derecognised when replaced.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to
the profit or loss during the year in which they are
incurred.
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(continued)

38.4 Foreign currencies (continued) 38.4 SN ()
Transactions and balances (continued) XBREZE (F)

BRAREFELAINEHES
FEBUERBRA A ERE
EEMERBRE - RRAET
RNEENBENREZRT
ERAREREBEN— D5
Heo Pl EEWUEBEERE
BRI EFABRRFA
) W E B ERE T
ERB AR EREN—&D
MIFEEHEE (WD ERRK
NREFAEMEEKSEAE
Ss)MBREZRANEEMEE
Yo g AP FERR ©

B5YE - BERRE

FTBEME - BB MR &G AE
2R AR AT & MR B B 1R
iR o ELRABERERER
BERELNMAX

BERANEEERZEES BN
R EN A I RERMAARE
= H %R B R AN RE /] SE At
ER - Zest ABENKREE
SRS BB LEE (WNE
) - AERBILEEARNIE
fa] B 20 B B T EL A B EIR B A%
IEFERR - PR A E e Rk E
RARELEFERNEESER
1t -




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
38.5 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost to their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Electronic equipment 3 years
Office equipment and  3-10 years

others
Leasehold 3 years, or over lease
improvements term, whichever is

the shorter

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised within “Other gains, net” in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.
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Acquired software is initially capitalised on the
basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to
use the specific software. Costs associated with
maintaining computer software programmes are
recognised as an expense as incurred. Software
is stated at historical cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses, if any.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost over their estimated
useful lives of 2 to 5 years.

The amortisation period and amortisation method
of intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting
period. The effects of any revision are recognised
as profit or loss when the changes arise.

38.7 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation or
depreciation are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
for the amount by which the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs to sell and value in use.

For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash inflows which are
largely independent of the cash inflows from other
assets or groups of assets. Non-financial assets
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at the end of
each reporting period.
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(continued)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & %

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

38.8 Financial assets

38.8.1

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in
the following categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at
fair value through profit or loss, and

° those to be measured at amortised
cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains
and losses will either be recorded in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income. For
investments in debt instruments, this will
depend on the business model in which the
investment is held. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading,
this will depend on whether the Group has
made an irrevocable election at the time of
initial recognition to account for the equity
investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments
when and only when its business model for
managing those assets changes.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2@

(continued)

38.8 Financial assets (continued) 3BLLRMEE &)
38.8.2 Recognition and derecognition 3882 BRBRAKILBZ
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Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date,
the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the investments have
expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all risks
and rewards of ownership.

38.8.3 Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures
a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition
of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at fair value through
profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives
are considered in their entirety when
determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.

ZIBUYU GROUP LIMITED  Annual Report 2024

FRBEMLEN SR
EEAERHBEER(R
ZHEAKEAZEE
SHEZREECZH) &
ERBWBR S REN
BANE B M EE M
AEBCDKBRAEENS
AR &R 2 [ B A0 e A 8 o
o 2B EERR LR

e

3883itE

N HERE  NEER
EREENAAE (RS
W IFRRAEFAERE
MEREE) NEZFB
RzeMEEBENR
ZUAFTE -RRAE
AABRENEREEN
RHRARERTE R
e =

ERTHERSRELE
RXNEAE RHEE
TERAATETAD
THEERERER -
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 HmgeE BT BRE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES N6 )
(continued)
38.8 Financial assets (continued) B8 TREE @)
38.8.3 Measurement (continued) 38831 & (&)
Debt instruments EEITA

Subsequent measurement of debt
instruments depends on the Group’s
business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
There are two measurement categories
into which the Group classifies its debt
instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and
interest are measured at amortised
cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest
rate method. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition is recognised
directly in profit or loss and presented
in “Other gains, net” together with
foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

38.8 Financial assets (continued)

38.8.3

38.8.4

Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

o FVPL: Assets that do not meet the
criteria for amortised cost or financial
assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income are measured
at fair value through profit or loss. A
gain or loss on a debt investment that
is subsequently measured at fair value
through profit or loss and is not part of
a hedging relationship is recognised
in profit or loss and presented net
in “Other gains, net” in the period in
which it arises.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking
basis the expected credit losses associated
with its assets carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends
on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk. Note 3 details how the
Group determines whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to
be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables.
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 HmgeE BT BRE
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(continued)

38O HEHETRMTA

38.9 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the
net amount reported in the consolidated balance
sheets when there is a legally enforceable right
to offset the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The
legally enforceable right must not be contingent
on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of
default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or
the counterparty.

38.10 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from
platforms or customers for merchandise sold
or services rendered in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or
in the normal operating cycle of the business if
longer), they are classified as current assets. If
not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised
initially at fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less allowance for impairment. The
Group holds the trade receivables with the
objective of collecting the contractual cash flows
and therefore measures them subsequently
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. See Note 20 for further information about
the Group’s accounting for trade receivables
and Note 3.1 for a description of the Group’s
impairment policies.
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(continued)

38.11 Cash and cash equivalents BNBEERESEZEY

278

For the purpose of presentation in the
consolidated cash flow statements, cash and
cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand
deposits held at banks, and other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value.

38.12 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction,
net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where the Company issued shares at a premium,
whether for cash or otherwise, a sum equal to the
aggregate amount of the value of the premiums
over share capital shall be classified as share
premium.

38.13 Borrowings

Borrowings are presented as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right to
defer settlement for at least 12 months after the
end of the reporting period, in which case they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value
(net of transaction costs) and subsequently
carried at amortised cost. Any difference between
the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognised in profit or loss
over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.
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(continued)

38.13 Borrowings (continued) 38.13 f& ™K (#)

Borrowings are derecognised when the
obligation is discharged, cancelled or expired.
The difference between carrying amount and the
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in
profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the borrowings denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income on a net basis within
“Finance costs”.

38.14 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of a qualifying asset
are capitalised during the period of time that is
required to complete and prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred.
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(continued)

38.15 Trade and other payables B85 EHRHMESRE

280

Trade and other payables are obligations to pay
for goods or services that have been acquired in
the ordinary course of business from suppliers.
Trade and other payables are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if
longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised
initially at fair value and subsequently measured

shares

Redeemable convertible preferred shares issued
by the Company are redeemable upon occurrence
of certain future events. These instruments can
also be converted into ordinary shares of the
Company automatically upon occurrence of an
IPO of the Company as detailed in Note 23.
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(continued)

38.16 Redeemable convertible preferred 38.16 A &R [ 7] 5 #4B S R (@)

shares (continued)

The Group designated the preferred shares as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss. They are initially recognised at fair value.
Any directly attributable transaction costs are
recognised as finance costs in profit or loss. All
fair value changes except for those relating to
the Company’s own credit risk are recognised
in profit or loss. The component of fair value
changes relating to the Company’s own credit
risk is recognised in other comprehensive income
(“OCI”). Amounts recorded in OCI related to credit
risk are not subject to recycling in profit or loss,
but are transferred to retained earnings when
realised. Fair value changes relating to market risk
are recognised in profit or loss.

The preferred shares were classified as current
liability. The preferred shares holders can demand
the Company to redeem the preferred shares
within 12 months upon occurrence of certain
future events.

38.17 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax
assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.
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(continued)

38.17 Current and deferred income tax BT ENHA RIRIEFR BB (@)

(continued)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet dates in the
countries where the Company’s subsidiaries
operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations
in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to
be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income
tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the
time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income tax asset
is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.
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(continued)

38.17 Current and deferred income tax 3817 ENHA KB FT B8 ()

(continued)

Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences
and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between the
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in
foreign operations where the Company is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred
tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset
where the entity has a legally enforceable right
to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 HnlgtEEM T BUERH
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Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave
that are expected to be settled wholly within
12 months after the end of the period in which
the employees render the related service are
recognised in respect of employees’ services
up to the end of the reporting period and are
measured at the amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are
presented as current employee benefit obligations
in the balance sheet.

Pension obligations

Full-time employees in the PRC are covered
by various government-sponsored defined
contribution pension plans under which the
employees are entitled to a monthly pension
based on certain formulas. The relevant
government agencies are responsible for the
pension liability to these retired employees. The
Group contributes on a monthly basis to these
pension plans. Under these plans, the Group
has no further payment obligation for post-
retirement benefits beyond the contributions
made. Contributions to these plans are expensed
as incurred and contributions paid to the defined-
contribution pension plans for an employee
are not available to reduce the Group’s future
obligations to such defined contribution pension
plans even if the employee leaves.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 HmgeE BT BRE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES =2 @)

(continued)

38.18 Employee benefits (continued) 3818 EE R (&)
Housing funds, medical insurances and other BEAESL  BERREFEM
social insurances HERE

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled
to participate in various government-supervised
housing funds, medical insurances and other
social insurance plan. The Group contributes on
a monthly basis to these funds based on certain
percentages of the salaries of the employees,
subject to certain ceiling. The Group’s liability
in respect of these funds is limited to the
contributions payable in each year. Contributions
to the housing funds, medical insurances and
other social insurances are expensed as incurred.

38.19 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount can be reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required
in settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with
respect to any one item included in the same class
of obligations may be small.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 HnlgtEEM T BUERH
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES E (@)

(continued)

38.19 Provisions (continued) 38.19 B & (@)

Provisions are measured at the present value of
the expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The
increase in the provision due to passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.

38.20 Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL
is included in the net fair value gains/(losses)
on these assets. Any other interest income is
included in other income.

Interest income is recognised on a time-
proportion basis using the effective interest
method.

38.21 Earnings per share

(a) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by
dividing:

o the profit attributable to shareholders
of the Company, excluding any costs
of servicing equity other than ordinary
shares

° by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during
the financial year, adjusted for bonus
elements in ordinary shares issued
during the year and excluding treasury
shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 HmgeE BT BRE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES = @)

(continued)

38.21 Earnings per share (continued) 3821 BREBF (&)

(b) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the
figures used in the determination of basic
earnings per share to take into account:

o the after-income tax effect of interest
and other financing costs associated
with dilutive potential ordinary shares,
and

° the weighted average number of
additional ordinary shares that would
have been outstanding assuming the
conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares.

38.22 Leases

The Group mainly leases office, warehouse and
dormitory as lessee. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and
a corresponding liability at the date at which the
leased asset is available for use by the Group.
Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and finance cost. The finance cost is
charged to profit or loss over the lease period so
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over
the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease
term on a straight-line basis.
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BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
38.22 Leases (continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are
initially measured on a present value basis. Lease
liabilities include the net present value of the
following lease payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable

o variable lease payment that are based on an
index or a rate

o amounts expected to be payable by the
lessee under residual value guarantees

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that
option, and

° payments of penalties for terminating the

lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee
exercising that option.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost
comprising the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of
lease liability

o any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease
incentives received

o any initial direct costs, and

° restoration costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 HmgeE BT BRE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES = @)

(continued)

38.22 Leases (continued) BRHEE @

The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term
on a straight-line basis.

The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be
determined, or the Group’s incremental borrowing
rate.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

o uses recent third-party financing received
by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third-party financing was
received

o uses a build-up approach that starts with a
risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk
for leases held by the Group, which does not
have recent third-party financing, and

° makes adjustments specific to the lease,
e.g., term, country, currency and security.

Payments associated with short-term leases and
all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term
of 12 months or less without a purchase option.
Low-value assets comprise small items of IT
equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOt B W AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # %2024 12 A31HIEFE

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 HnlgtEEM T BUERH
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES E (@)

(continued)

38.23 BT 46 BY

38.23 Government grants

290

Grants from the government are recognised
at their fair value where there is a reasonable
assurance that the grant will be received and
all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is
recognised as income on a systematic basis over
the periods that the costs, which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value
is credited to other non-current liabilities account
and is released to profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the expected useful life of the relevant
assets.

The recognition period of government grants is
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end
of each reporting period.

38.24 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s
shareholders is recognised as a liability in the
Group’s and the Company’s financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved
by the Company’s directors or shareholders,
where applicable.
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DEFINITIONS
B

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, AARNFHA - B FESEHIEI - T
the following expressions shall have the following meanings. ZEAB U K :

“2025 Annual General the annual general meeting for the year ended 31 December 2024
Meeting” of the Company to be convened on Tuesday, 6 May 2025
[2025F R RIBF AR | B AARER2025F5A68 (2 =) R1THE2024F12 A31BIESF
EHRFRBFAE
“Alitti” Alitti Limited, a BVI business company incorporated under the laws

of the BVI on 31 August 2018 and wholly owned by Mr. Dong
Zhenguo (Z X ), our executive Director

[ Alitti | 8 Alitti Limited - —fH74201848 A31 HiRIBEBAER m B S /A2 =M
RYNABERREESREAARARMANRTESERE L AR
BHE

“Also Jun” Also Jun Limited, a BVI business company incorporated under the

laws of the BVI on 31 August 2018 and wholly owned by Mr. Wang
Weiping (7E ), our executive Director

[Also Jun] ¥ Also Jun Limited © —f720185F8 A31 HIRIFEBAR R ¥ S5
AN ABER R ESRAE AR AR MNRITESTETL
2 EHER
“Articles” or “Articles of the articles of association of our Company (as amended from time
Association” to time)
(AR s TAB =240 7 ARRABSERAL (B ARERT)
“Al” artificial intelligence
[Al] B AILER
“associate(s)” has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
[EEE A 2 AR LmARAETZANRE
“Audit Committee” the audit committee of the Board
[BE%EZEg] B EFEETHEREZES
“Board” or “Board of our board of Directors
Directors”
[EEg] B BfMEEe
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DEFINITIONS
Bx

“Business Day” or
“business day”

[&%A]

“BVI”
[REBHEBRES]
"CEO"

[CEOJ sk [1TE 483
“China” or “PRC”
[

“close associate(s)”
[EZEEEA

“Companies Ordinance”

IPNGIESN

“Company” or “our
Company”

NG ANCTE

“connected person(s)”

[BEAL

“connected transaction(s)”

[FER S )

a day on which banks in Hong Kong are generally open for normal
banking business to the public and which is not a Saturday,
Sunday, or public holiday in Hong Kong
FERITRAPFIAABIEEFRITIEBNEF (TEEEH
EFRXFTBLRRB)

the British Virgin Islands
RBHARES

chief executive officer of the Company

RRRITHRABE

the People’s Republic of China, but for the purpose of this Annual
Report and for geographical reference only, do not apply to Hong
Kong, Macau and Taiwan

REARKME gt FHMmE RERBERLEMNE  TE2REE
% RPIR A

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
BB EWRAIE T ZFERE

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
as amended, supplemented, or otherwise modified from time to
time

FEEDF622F R AGHINE AR ARSI EM G E
20

Zibuyu Group Limited (F R E&HE [RA &), an exempted
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
on 6 August 2018
FTTBERAERAA - —HR2018F8 A6HRNFAE B ST L
M ERE B R AR

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

B LR R T % e &

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
BB LKA T ZFERE
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“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[ R AR

“Corporate Governance
Code”
[ ERSTA

“Director(s)”

==

“Dongguan Zibuyu”

[REFTE

“Gfxtmyun”

[ Gfxtmyun |

“Global Offering”
[EBREE]

“Group”, “our Group”,
“We”, Or IKUS”

[ sk Hff]

DEFINITIONS
s

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules and,
unless the context otherwise requires, refers to Mr. Hua, Hone Ru,
Gfxtmyun and TMY ONE

BEREFMRAETFTZANERE RIEXESBHRE  TAEEL
4  Hone Ru * Gfxtmyun X [A &p & =

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules

FHRBIMERCI SN S EE a8l

director(s) of our Company

ARAEZTHEPEMA—RES

Dongguan Zibuyu Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd. (5T T~:&
L JiE 8 %5 12 AR A 7)), a limited liability company established in the
PRC on 27 April 2021 and a subsidiary of our Company
REFAEHERERBRAF - —HR2021F4 527 BEH B
VHBRRRRARRRIHME QT

Gfxtmyun Limited, a BVI business company incorporated under the
laws of the BVI on 31 August 2018 and wholly owned by Mr. Hua,
one of our Controlling Shareholders

Gfxtmyun Limited - —F7X2018F8 A1 AR B EBER RAF &
BEMRZNABERAREESAEA R AR MNERRR s — 5
TETERER

the Hong Kong Public Offering and the International Offering
BEEAHAERENRBREE

our Company and our subsidiaries from time to time or, where the
context so requires, in respect of the period before our Company
became the holding company of our present subsidiaries, the
business operated by such subsidiaries or their predecessors (as
the case may be)

RRABRFEMTELMBERR - 30 (BXEIE) AR AL REM
BB ARAIZER AR 2 HE - BZENB AR ERT S AR
(BFBERME) KL ER
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DEFINITIONS
Bx

“Guangzhou Xingzezhi

[EMITRIZE ]

“Guangzhou Zibuyu”

[BEIMNF &

“Hangzhou Chengyusi”

[T AR E

“Hangzhou Junbuqi”

ETA E=R

“Hangzhou Shangzhi”

[0 4 %A

“Hangzhou Shuzhi”

[H0 N s

Guangzhou Xingzezhi Network Technology Co., Ltd. (BM{TEI =48
&R AR A R)), a limited liability company established in the PRC
on 28 July 2021 and a subsidiary of our Company
BEMTRIZREBRER AR - —HR2021F7 A28 A EF BT
WERABRARRBINMERE

Guangzhou Zibuyu Supply Chain Service Co., Ltd. (/M F B4 &
AR 7% A R A 7)), a limited liability company established in the PRC
on 16 October 2017 and a subsidiary of our Company
BMFIBHEERBARIR - —MKR2017F10816 B EH
PR B R AR RARR T &M B A A

Hangzhou Chengyusi Network Technology Co., Ltd. (01 A5 B 48
4& ®L 3 B R A 7)), formerly known as Hangzhou Yueyu Network
Technology Co., Ltd. (fi/N i &4 EHE B R 2 7)), a limited liability
company established in the PRC on 23 May 2018 and a subsidiary
of our Company

MMBCR BB R B R AR (RIBMMNIE EEE R AR AR -

—E7 201845 A23 A EHR B LW BER AR R AR A RIHMEA
Gl

Hangzhou Junbugi Network Technology Co., Ltd. (i)l & T~ 22 #84%
£l 5 & BR A Al), formerly known as Hangzhou Damaimiao
Consulting Co., Ltd. (7 /1 B B5 15 5% 59 /& R 2 7]) and Hangzhou
Damaimiao Network Technology Co., Ltd. ()N % B0 48 45 Rl = B
R 2 |]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 25
August 2017 and a subsidiary of our Company

MINE PR @A RHE AR AR (RIABIUN BB A A R A 5 kA
MEEBEIE EAARIRBRAR) - —ER20175F8 5258 £ 4 B AL
WERARRAARARIHME A A

Hangzhou Shangzhi Network Technology Co., Ltd. (fiL/1 = Z1484%
B AR A 7)), a limited liability company established in the PRC
on 20 November 2018 and a subsidiary of our Company

N ERABEER AR AR - —H20185F11 H20 B £ H Bl 2
WERARRAARARIHME A A

Hangzhou Shuzhi Technology Co., Ltd.* (I &4 R AR A R)), a
limited liability company established in the PRC
MMBERERBERLAGF  —KEPEKXZHEREERA
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“Hangzhou Xingzezhi”

[TRMTTRIZE

“Hangzhou Xingzezhi
E-Commerce”

[FRINITRIZE FRT5)

“Hangzhou Zibuyu”

[F N+ 55

“HK$” or “HKD” or
“Hong Kong Dollars”
[&7T]

“Hone Ru”

[Hone Ru

“Hong Kong” or “HK”
(&%)

“Hong Kong Share Registrar”
[HFERDBFELER ]

“Huzhou Zibuyu”

[T R 5E

DEFINITIONS
Bx

Hangzhou Xingzezhi Network Technology Co., Ltd. ({1117 BIZ= 48
(&R AR A A)), a limited liability company established in the PRC
on 20 November 2018 and a subsidiary of our Company
MMNITRIZWEERRER QR - —HER20185F11 H20H EH B
NHBRARRARATINKE QT

Hangzhou Xingzezhi E-Commerce Co., Ltd. (f1/N{TRIZE T %A
R /2 &]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 16
March 2022 and a subsidiary of our Company
MMITRIZEFEBER AR - —[ER2022F3 16 B EF BIAK L
WERAFRARARHMERF]

Hangzhou Zibuyu Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd. (/I 7135
L fE 8 E 12 AR A 7)), a limited liability company established in the
PRC on 29 August 2017 and a subsidiary of our Company

MM FAEHREREEFRAR - —ER2017F8 A29 B EF B
VHERARRARAGIHME AR

Hong Kong dollars and cents respectively, the lawful currency of
Hong Kong
BREEEEE T B

Hone Ru Enterprise Limited, a BVI business company incorporated
under the laws of the BVI on 7 January 2020, the holding vehicle
set up by Cantrust (Far East) Limited for the administration of Hone
Ru Trust, one of our Controlling Shareholders

Hone Ru Enterprise Limited * —f/A2020F 1 A7 B iRIE R BHER R
HELETMERIMRBER RS HE AR - Cantrust (Far East)
Limited 73 ‘& ¥2Hone Ru Trusti 2 32 B91ZE IR A 7] B B3PI AR AR
RZ—

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
B F B R 1T R

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
BEAPRBHELERAA

Huzhou Zibuyu Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd. (/1T 5E
JiE& §8 % 32 /5 [R A 7)), a limited liability company established in the
PRC on 10 December 2020 and a subsidiary of our Company

MM FAEHEEEEREARAAF - —HR2020F12 5108 £ H
BB R AR R BAR BRI E A A
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DEFINITIONS
Bx

“Hyufeng”

[Hyufeng |

“Independent Third
Party(ies)”

[(BE=7]

“Informatization Construction
and Development
Contract”

[ERtERAEER ]
“Listing”

[ £
“Listing Date”
[ BT EE]
“Listing Rules”
[ EmAR A

“Main Board”

W

Hyufeng Limited, a BVI business company incorporated under the
laws of the BVI on 31 August 2018 and wholly owned by Ms. Yu
Hyufeng Limited * —fE/X2018F 8 A31 ARIERBHR Rt S5 2
AMRZHRBEBARESEHERRRARKLIEERESR

an individual or a company which, to the best of our Director’s
knowledge, information, and belief, having made all reasonable
enquiries, is not a connected person of our Company within the
meaning of the Listing Rules

BEFEE—VEBEEREMRM  FERERE @ WHEARRIBE
AL (BB EmHRRETHRE) WERALHAA

the informatization construction and development contract dated 8
January 2024 entered into between Zhejiang Zibuyu and Hangzhou
Shuzhi

AL F B BN B 202451 A8B R U HE BL ERHAES
A&

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board
RO ER £

11 November 2022, the date on which the Shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange and from which dealings in the Shares are
permitted to commence on the Stock Exchange

PR ABE P T MR EE R B R TR B EE B H - /320224
11 A118

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time
(BEBMAERIABRRARES EMRADEETRERT - fFsliA
H 75 308 2

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the
Stock Exchange which is independent from and operates in parallel
with the GEM of the Stock Exchange

BRFTEENRS X Z (T EERENS) - BN R GEM
HEZWiT&EE
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“Model Code”

[fE%sr Al ]

“Ningbo Ruyu”

[ 2R AR ]

“Nomination Committee”

[fRRLEe

“OEM”

[ OEM |

“Prospectus”

[ ER ]

“Remuneration Committee”

[FNZE e

“Reporting Period”
Eig-ill

“RMB” or “Renminbi”
AR

“Sanctioned Person”

[ZHIFAL]

DEFINITIONS
BE

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

EHARRIMEXCIFAE LM BTAZESETIEFRXZHNIELETE]

Ningbo Ruyu Investment Co., Ltd. (22 ) N2 E B R A 7l), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on 20 April 2017
which is held by Mr. Hua and Ms. Yu Xiuyun as to 80% and 20%,
respectively

ERIMRIREBRAR - —HR2017F4 8208 R EK LKA R
AR AERERREFEL LD AIFFAE80% K%20%

the nomination committee of the Board

EXgRA%EE

original equipment manufacturer, a company that manufactures a

product in accordance with its customer’s designs which ultimately

will be branded by its customer for sale

RIGRERER  BETFPRABEEMNLRR > MEMKKRBHE
FEFAL MR HE

the prospectus of the Company dated 31 October 2022
RATIHHA2022610 A31 B BRER

the remuneration committee of the Board

EXeVvMEEe

the year ended 31 December 2024
B ZE2024F12A31AEFE

the lawful currency of the PRC
TEEEEEARE

certain person(s) and identity(ies) listed on OFAC’s Specially
Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons List or other restricted
parties lists maintained by the U.S., EU, UN or Australia
FIASNE B EEGIHAEHNRFRIEEERMEHEHA B BTENIHD
ATRESR  skhEE - BE - BEBSORME R EMZREIA
58
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DEFINITIONS
Bx

“SFO” or “Securities and
Futures Ordinance”

(78 7 M HAE 15151 ]

“Share Award Scheme
(Existing Shares)”
[z fn 22T 2 GRAKRM)

“Share Award Scheme
(New Shares)”

[ B fn 2Bt &) (RA A7) |

“Share(s)”

Nicgvll

“Shareholder(s)”
A% 3R |

“Shenzhen Zibuyu”
RINF T8
“Stock Exchange”
[ B¢ 22 Ffr |
“subsidiary(ies)”

NiEl=PNGIN

“substantial shareholder”

[E2RR]

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), as amended, supplemented, or otherwise modified
from time to time

BEBEDEST BB/ 5 MR RN (B TREET » Mk AR AN
E)

the share award scheme adopted by the Company on
15 September 2023, funded by existing Shares only
AR RIR2023F9 B 15 B IRMBI AR ) BB =&l - BB B R X

the share award scheme of the Company approved by the
shareholders and adopted on 1 December 2023, which is funded
by the issuance of new Shares only

AR RS AR B 720234512 A1 B IR B AR (5 SREN =T &) - {214
BATHR (0 B9 75 == At

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of our Company with nominal
value of US$0.01 each before share subdivision and with nominal
value of US$0.00005 each after share subdivision
AARBRAFREER RGO IFER - SRERGEEROIE
7T IR 4% - & ARAR {7 {8 /0.000053 7T

holder(s) of the Shares
BIAFEA

Shenzhen Zibuyu Electronic Commerce Co., Ltd. (X T TEE T
E A BR A 7)), a limited liability company established in the PRC
on 22 December 2021 and a subsidiary of our Company
RAINFABEFEABARLDF - —ER2021F12 522 EH K
NHWERATR  RARRIEME QR

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBMARIMERAT

has the meaning ascribed thereto under section 15 of the
Companies Ordinance

EB R AMEDIFE SR T 52w 6 R &

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
BB LTWRAIE T ZFERE
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“TMY ONE”
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“TMY THREE”
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“United Kingdom”
=

“U.S.” or “United States”

B30

“US$”, “USD” or “U.S.
dollars”

E

“Virtual Particle”

[Virtual Particle |

“Wuzaixing BVI”

[BETRBERRES]

DEFINITIONS
s

TONGMINGYUN ONE LIMITED, a BVI business company
incorporated under the laws of the BVI on 10 September 2018 and
wholly owned by Mr. Hua, one of our Controlling Shareholders
TONGMINGYUN ONE LIMITED @ —fE /420189 A10H iR ik & /&
HARBESAEEMRUNEBERAREESREAR - ARMARIE
BRIRRz —ERETERR

TONGMINGYUN THREE LIMITED, a BVI business company
incorporated under the laws of the BVI on 31 August 2018 and
owned by certain employees and consultant of our Group
TONGMINGYUN THREE LIMITED + —[# /201848 A31 H iR & &
BEBAESAETMKUNABERREESEMELR  HAEE
AETEEN —RERES

the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland
ARATIEE ML B BEES EE

the United States of America, its territories, possessions, and all
areas subject to its jurisdiction
EZFRERE EEL BHESERNEEENMAHE

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
EEMEERR,ET

Virtual Particle Limited, a BVI business company incorporated
under the laws of the BVI on 31 August 2018 and wholly owned by
Ms. Hua Hui (22 £), the sister of Mr. Hua

Virtual Particle Limited * —F 7201848 531 A IR R K B 4 /R = B
SEREMK YN RBERRESHELAIRHELRENRKES
R+2EHER

Wouzaixing (BVI) Limited (formerly known as Xingzezhi (BVI) Limited
and Chellysun (BVI) Limited), a BVI business company incorporated
under the laws of the BVI on 16 October 2018 and a subsidiary of
our Company

Wuzaixing (BVI) Limited (5] ##Xingzezhi (BVI) Limited }z Chellysun
(BVI) Limited) * —E/A2018F10 A 16 AR E R BHEB RS A2
AMKZBRBERRESHELRRRERANME LR

2024F e FAERARRAA
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DEFINITIONS
Bx

“Xringirl”

[ Xringir! |

“Zhejiang Zibuyu”

5L F R 28

“Zibuyu HK”

[FAEES)

“%”
[%]

Xringirl Limited, a BVI business company incorporated under the
laws of the BVI on 31 August 2018 and owned by Mr. Wang and
Ms. Rao Xingxing (£ £), the spouse of Mr. Wang, as to 74.36%
and 25.64%, respectively

Xringirl Limited * —fE/A 201858 A31 AR B EBHM R B A2
MK EEERREESEERAIRBERERGERE LS (F5X
H£MBE) DRI HEH 74.36% % 25.64% K e

Zhejiang Zibuyu Electronic Commerce Co., Ltd. (1)L F 2% T
% A BR A A1), formerly known as Hangzhou Zibuyu Network
Technology Co., Ltd. (fi/M-F T sE#4848 %A R 2 7)) and Hangzhou
Zibuyu Trading Co., Ltd. (f1N F T E & 5 B R 2 7)), a limited
liability company established in the PRC on 20 April 2011 and a
subsidiary of our Company

E I T BETEFBRAA (BN FAEREHRERAR]

RN FAREBESERAR) » —ER2011F4 8208 EFR B 2
AR =1 NG Y= N/NET = 0] =N

ZIBUYU INTERNATIONAL LIMITED (F T~ BB B R A7), a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on 19
September 2016 and a subsidiary of our Company
FABEABARAT - —HR2016F9 A 198 EFBEMK LA
PR AR R ABARR R E A A

per cent
Aot
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SHARE INFORMATION

Listing date: 11 November 2022

Stock code: 2420.hk

Board lot: 500 shares each

Number of shares issued: 500,000,000 shares (as at 31 December 2023)
IMPORTANT DATES

27 March 2025 Annual results announcement

31 December 2024 Financial year end date of 2024

INVESTORS’ RELATIONS
Zibuyu Group — Investors’ Relations Department
Address: No. 108, Xincheng Road, Linping District, Hangzhou

R R R TR RSN T R T T Y T R T T L R P L T S T T T I TN S T TN O VG T WO T L T Tl T L P AR W Y

Telephone number: 0571-8616 6396

Email: ir@zbycorp.com

Company website: www.zbycorp.com

Investors’ Relations website: ir.zbycorp.com

R 202211 8111

BRAD 5% 2420.hk

BFEERH 500%

EETRHEA - 500,000,000% (742023412 531H)

EEZHH

202553 A27H FEXERM

2024F12A31H 2024 FEHEER

REEBRBA

FAREEHRA — REEZEBES

A 0N T % < [ BT 93K 2% 10855k

B 0571-8616 6396 =
BH - ir@zbycorp.com <
yNSIEEDEE www.zbycorp.com -
REEBEML - ir.zbycorp.com : ‘ ;

Y NS LR T
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ir.zbycorp.com
ir.zbycorp.com

ZIBUYU

Zibuyu Group Limited
FAREEHARBRAF




	封面
	內封面
	目錄
	公司資料
	財務摘要
	主席報告
	管理層討論及分析
	董事及高級管理層
	董事會報告
	企業管治報告
	環境、社會及管治報告
	獨立核數師報告
	合併全面收益表
	合併財務狀況表
	合併權益變動表
	合併現金流量表
	合併財務報表附註
	釋義
	內封底
	封底

